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  PREFACE

  This edition of Edward Markham's 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' was commissioned by the Department of Internal Affairs in October 1959. The manuscript is not lengthy, and it was originally thought that the editing might be completed in about six months. The work, however, has proved more complex and prolonged than was expected, partly owing to the necessity for checking Markham's numerous statements - and innumerable mis-statements - and partly through the obstacles met with in clearing away the obscurity that surrounded his life and the several manuscripts bearing his name. One or two problems remain unsolved, and it seems likely that further search among English and Australian sources would disclose additional facts. But continued investigation is not practicable within New Zealand; nor, in all probability, would it add substantially to our knowledge of the Regency Buck who was a temporary resident of this country in the prenatal period of its history as a British possession.

  The elucidation of Markham's manuscript and its background has led me into unfamiliar territory, and I must here acknowledge the help of a number of authorities. My indebtedness to Ruth M. Ross is imperfectly expressed by the initials 'R. M. R.' which appear so often among the sources. Mrs Ross has drawn without reserve on her wide knowledge of early Northland history and has contributed hitherto unpublished facts concerning the notorious Captain John Stewart of the brig Elizabeth (pp. 104-5 below). Thanks are also due to Dr Robert Cooper and Mr V. F. Fisher, Botanist and Ethnologist respectively of the Auckland Institute and Museum; to Dr E. A. Sheppard of the University of Auckland for advice on textual matters; and to Dr B. G. Biggs and Mr P. W. Hohepa, of the same institution, for help in interpreting Markham's eccentric versions of Maori words and place names. Other consultants and informants are mentioned in the sources, but special acknowledgments are due to the following: the staff of the Mitchell Library, Sydney, for information about Markham, and the Trustees for permission to quote from original manuscripts; Miss D. E. Lyon and her assistants in the Reference Department of the Auckland Public Library; Miss E. A. Evans, Librarian of the Auckland Institute and Museum; Mrs G. M. Strathern and Miss L. A. Dovey of the Hocken Library, Dunedin; Mr R. A. Skelton of the British Museum; the Reverend Canon G. W. Markham of Grimsby; the Chief Librarian and staff of the Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, in particular Mr J. R. Cole for innumerable services, and Mr M. G. Hitchings for help in compiling the bibliography and revising citations; and the Government Printer and his staff, especially Mr F. A. Davey, who designed the volume and supervised its production.

  AUCKLAND, E. H. M. 

 March 1962
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  INTRODUCTION

  Markham and His Manuscript

  In the early years of the present century the London bookseller Francis Edwards acquired an illustrated manuscript entitled 'New Zealand or Recollections of it by Edward Markham'. Having employed a copyist to make a number of transcripts, 1 he advertised the work in his current catalogue. The entry, pasted into the original manuscript, gives a summary of the contents which includes this tantalising sentence: 'He [Markham] also met with Maning, Kelly, Oakes, Marmont, and many other "Pakeha" Maories, whose histories and circumstances he describes in terms which could not well be put in print. ' The catalogue evidently came to the notice of that passionate bibliophile, Alexander H. Turnbull, who bought the manuscript on 18 August 1904. 2 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' thus formed part of the collection bequeathed to the Crown on Turnbull's death in 1918.

  Several of the transcripts also found their way into local or Australian collections. One was bought by Turnbull's friendly rival, Dr T. M. Hocken of Dunedin, another by the General Assembly Library, Wellington; a third has been traced to the National Library of Australia, Canberra, while a fourth is in the possession of the Mitchell Library, Sydney, which also owns a manuscript account of Markham's voyage to Van Diemen's Land and experiences in that country. Bound into the Hocken and Mitchell transcripts is a typewritten prefatory note probably (as the language suggests) compiled by the person who drew up the catalogue entry. Here again is a summary of the contents and a further tantalising, indeed intimidating, sentence: 'His [Markham's] description of the Maories, men and women and his transactions with them are detailed most minutely, and some of their customs described in a manner which can neither be repeated nor abridged nor put into print; in fact, the author has himself noted many passages which would have to be omitted if the work should ever find an editor.'

  Though it has taken more than half a century for the work to find an editor (who, indeed, was commissioned by its owners rather than 'found' by the manuscript), Markham's observations on precolonial New Zealand have been used for a variety of purposes by a succession of writers. The narrative has contributed its quota of fact and error to such weighty compilations as Hocken's Bibliography and G. H. Scholefield's Dictionary of New Zealand Biography, it has supplied material for specialised linguistic research; 3 some of its illustrations appeared in the centennial history, Making New Zealand; and throughout the years it has been a favourite source for journalists and youthful authors eager to inject colour and life into the pallid and somewhat prudish tradition of New Zealand historical writing. 4 Once, it seems worth recording, Markham almost found not perhaps the ideal editor but a highly gifted interpreter. During a visit to Dunedin in 1936 the late Robin Hyde read the Hocken transcript and conceived the idea of adapting it for publication in semi-fictional form. Unfortunately the proposal foundered on the rock of scholarly principle: Markham, it was thought by the custodians of the transcript, should be presented to the world without imaginative embellishments and only through the mediation of a qualified editor. So New Zealand literature lost what might have been a companion piece to Robin Hyde's brilliant portrait of the Baron de Thierry. 5 Markham's latest and most ardent admirer is the American historian-anthropologist Harrison M. Wright who thus characterises the narrative and its author: 'Markham... spent nine months in New Zealand and wrote a short journal of his stay. As he strolled about the countryside gossiping on this and that with droll humor, he gathered an invaluable
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  collection of facts and opinions - much of it evidently unprintable in New Zealand, because his fascinating manuscript has not yet been published.' 6 In defence of the national honour it must be emphasised that Wright's book reached the country after this work had been commissioned.

  Its fragmentary and piecemeal publication, the existence of transcripts in addition to the original, its reputation as a chronique scandaleuse have in the course of time all combined with the occupational gossip of historians and librarians to envelop the manuscript in an atmosphere of mingled mystery and notoriety. Even its varied citation as 'diary', 7 'journal', 8 or 'narrative' 9 reflects uncertainty about its nature and the manner of its composition. A similar aura of ambiguity has surrounded the author who is indifferently termed 'trader', 10 'young English naval officer', 11 or, more cautiously, 'visitor from Van Diemen's Land'. 12 'Unfortunately, ' laments a Tasmanian editor, 'no one seems to know, these days, who Edward Markham was.... '13 The most original-and disconcerting-theory of his identity was put to the present writer at a time when he was already deeply involved in his editorial labours. A former colleague with a wide knowledge of historical sources gave it as his opinion that the manuscript was a fabrication and Edward Markham merely a figment in the mind of some fraudulent compiler. 14

  The Markhams and Edward Markham

  Whether or not the manuscript is authentic - a question that will presently be examined - there can be no doubt that a young man called Edward Markham lived in the early nineteenth century. His birth, education, and career can be traced in official records; he is mentioned in private journals and in at least one contemporary newspaper; his name appears, if inconspicuously, in the annals and genealogies of the family chronicler, the Reverend David Frederick Markham; and his existence is again vouched for in the writings and correspondence of the latter's son, Sir Clements Markham. Edward's role, in short, though minor, is amply substantiated; and he takes his place on the historical scene surrounded by a formidable array of relatives and forbears.

  From 'time immemorial', according to the family historian (Edward's cousin), Markhams had been 'seated' in the contiguous parishes of West and East Markham in the county of Nottingham. Leaving their rural abodes in search of advancement, they displayed throughout the centuries a remarkable capacity for survival. They successfully adapted themselves to the Conquest and, under the name of de Marcham, held high office under Plantagenet kings. One of their number, the versatile William de Marcham, after serving as Lord Treasurer to Edward I, was appointed to the see of Wells, won renown for his 'piety and power of working miracles', and in the time of Pope Boniface VII narrowly missed canonisation. Another Markham, Lord Chief Justice of the Common Pleas during the reign of Henry IV, was claimed by his descendants (in despite of contrary opinion) to have been that sturdy democrat who committed the future Henry V to the Fleet. A Markham fought beside Henry VII at the Battle of Stoke, a Markham was Lieutenant of the Tower under Edward VI, Isabella Markham was a maid of honour to the Princess Elizabeth, Sir Griffin Markham - most lamentably - turned Papist, and in the time of James I was arraigned for treason. Besides a multitude of soldiers, jurists, ecclesiastics, and parliamentarians, the family produced several writers, of whom the most distinguished was Shakespeare's contemporary, Gervase (or Jervis) Markham. A soldier-scholar in the true Renaissance tradition, he was versed in the classics, a 'perfect master' of the French, Spanish, and Italian languages, fought under Essex, and barely escaped death in a duel which involved him in proceedings with the Star Chamber. Poet, dramatist, pamphleteer, authority on husbandry, military science, hunting, hawking, heraldry, his publications ranged from A Discourse on Horsemanshippe (1593) to a metrical rendering from the Italian, The Famous Whore, or Noble Courtezan, containing the lamentable Complaint of Paulina the famous Roman Courtezan, sometime Mistresse unto the Cardinal Hippolito of Este (1609). 15
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  Sir Robert Markham, eldest brother of Gervase, has been termed '"a fatal unthrift and destroyer of this eminent family"'. He squandered an enormous patrimony, sold his ancestral estates, and reduced the Markhams to a condition of penurious obscurity in which they languished for some generations. 16 The instrument of their recovery was another William Markham, a prelate even more illustrious than his mediaeval namesake. The future Archbishop was born in Ireland in the year 1719, eldest son of a half-pay captain, a man 'of jovial disposition, a writer of drinking-songs with rousing choruses, a lover of daring adventures'. On the death of his wife, Captain Markham took his family to London, where he supplemented his meagre resources by copying documents and painting fan mounts (the first glimmer of artistic talent to appear in the Markham annals). In 1733 William entered Westminster School, the initial step in his steady ascent to social and ecclesiastical eminence. He rose to be captain of the school, went on to Christ Church, Oxford, graduated M. A. and later D. C. L., entered Holy Orders, and in 1753 returned to Westminster as headmaster. '"Our great glory was Dr. Markham,"' wrote his pupil, Jeremy Bentham. '"He was a tall, portly man, and high he held his head. He had a large amount of classical knowledge. His business was rather in courting the great than in attending to the school."' The courtship was supremely successful. Dr Markham became chaplain to George III, acted as preceptor to the two elder princes, was intimate with aristocrats and statesmen. After leaving Westminster he was successively Dean of Rochester and Dean of Christ Church, was promoted to the see of Chester and finally, in 1777, translated to York. No less felicitous in his private life, he married an heiress, Sarah Goddard, and fathered 13 children. 17

  When the Archbishop died in 1807 (to be interred with suitable pomp in Westminster Abbey), he left the family restored to its former station in English society. Markhams, in the train of their father's friend, Warren Hastings, had fought and enriched themselves in India; there were Markhams in Parliament and the administration; Markhams were to be found in the higher ranks of the two services; the tide of preferment had carried Markhams into cathedral precincts and comfortable livings; Markhams, as the result of brilliant marriages, had allied themselves with the landed gentry and the aristocracy. Of the ecclesiastical Markhams, the most eminent in his generation was George, the Archbishop's third son. Born in 1763, he attended Westminster School, went on to Christ Church, and in 1791 became Rector of Stokesley in the North Riding of Yorkshire. He retained this well-endowed living until his death but was also appointed Archdeacon of Cleveland and subsequently Dean of York. He married the daughter of Sir Richard Sutton, Bart, and had 10 children, eight daughters and two sons, the younger of whom was the author - or putative author - of 'New Zealand or Recollections of it'. 18

  Edward Markham, scion of this ancient line, was born at Stokesley on 5 June 1801, and a month later was baptised in the parish church. 19 Misfortune overtook the boy in early infancy, for in 1802 Mrs Markham, abandoning reputation and family, eloped with her lover, a Mr Fawcett. Since her husband removed to York in the same year, the presumption is that Edward passed a motherless childhood in the deanery, then situated in the minster yard. 20 After attending Mr Affleck's school at Doncaster, 21 he followed family tradition and in January 1813 entered Westminster. Less than two years' later his formal education ended and he joined the Maritime Service of the East India Company. 22 Here, as elsewhere in Markham's life, reasons and exact circumstances can only be guessed at. Perhaps it does the boy small injustice to assume that he revealed no signs of a spiritual vocation and no great aptitude for the classical tongues. A few years earlier, at about the same age, his brother George had left Westminster to enter the Navy. 23 As an alternative opening for the younger son, the Dean may have been attracted by the Maritime Service; this was a corps d'elite, officered by gentlemen, and through its system of 'indulgences' (or rights of private trading) supplied a field for lucrative investment. 24 Markhams had already acquired wealth and honour in the East - why should Edward not do likewise? One further amd more positive fact may have influenced the choice of career: on 30 August 1815 the Dean's eldest daughter, Elizabeth, married General Rufane Donkin, who soon afterwards left for India to take up the appointment of Quartermaster-General.
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  He and his wife embarked on the Elphinstone (Captain Haviside) on which Edward also sailed as midshipman and sixth mate. 25

  The record of Markham's years with the East India Company is, for the most part, merely a list of dates and ships; but his first voyage figures in an episode of the family's history which had some influence on his life and left its imprint on his final testament. Travelling on the Elphinstone with Bessie Donkin was a young woman of French origin, Josephine Chapuis, who long before had been adopted by Edward's grandmother. One day in the year 1798, so the story goes, Mrs Markham discovered the child in a milliner's shop chanting to herself. 'Je vais a Paris demain. Je vais a Paris demain.' On making inquiries, she learned that during the Terror a refugee had found Josephine in the streets of Paris and brought her to England; her rescuer could no longer support her, and she was about to return to France. Touched by the child's plight, Mrs Markham took her home and, with the Archbishop's consent, made her one of the family. In the course of time a close friendship grew up between Josephine and Bessie who, after marrying General Donkin, insisted that she should accompany them to India. Her presence, however, so displeased the General, an elderly man of 'crusty' and jealous disposition, that he treated the young woman with discourtesy, even brutality. Again Josephine was rescued, this time by an army officer named Chadwick. He proposed marriage, and before the voyage ended the ceremony was performed by Captain Haviside. The two brides both came to a similar and untimely end. The Chadwicks went to Hyderabad, where Josephine gave birth to a boy and died in August 1817. 'Poor Bessie' also bore a son and died at Meerut a year after her friend. 26

  While his sister's affairs moved towards their sad conclusion, Edward Markham was acquiring the craft of seamanship and experiencing its perils. In February 1817 his service on the Elphinstone abruptly terminated when the ship was burnt at Whampoa, the deep-water port of Canton. The young midshipman survived the disaster and gained temporary promotion, returning home as third mate on the Aurora. After two further seasons in eastern waters - on the Perseverance (Captain Templer) and the Warren Hastings (Captain Larkins) - he again joined Captain Haviside as third mate of the Thames bound for Bengal. This voyage was briefer and even more calamitous than the first. The Thames had been only four days at sea when she struck a storm of hurricane strength and on 3 February 1822 was wrecked off Eastbourne with a loss of 11 men. 27 Edward, according to family tradition, got ashore and made his way to 'Ades' in Sussex, the home of his uncle, Admiral Markham. There he 'was hospitably received... until he began to make love to his cousin Maria, when he was sent away to York.' 28 He appears to have re-embarked for Bengal in the same season and to have returned home as third mate of the Marchioness of Ely. His last two voyages were made on the Asia (Captain Balderston) and the Thomas Coutts (Captain Chrystie), in both of which he sailed as second mate. He left the service of the East India Company when the Thomas Coutts returned to England in March 1827. 29

  Why Markham should have retired from the sea - and apparently from any active occupation -before reaching the age of 26 must remain a matter for surmise. Perhaps he found the life not to his taste; perhaps he had profited from trade and judicious speculation; or it may be that he now benefited from his mother's bounty. In the years since her sensational elopement, Mrs Markham had borne several more children, inherited a fortune from Lady Bath, and taken the name of Pulteney. 'Edward... was well off,' wrote Clements Markham in an unpublished memoir, 'His mother, the Pulteney heiress, caring for the interests of her Markham as well as her Pulteney children.' 30 As for the Dean of York, he had died in 1822 at Scone Palace, the seat of his brother-in-law, Lord Mansfield, and his unmarried daughters, leaving the cathedral precincts, had finally established themselves at Bessels Green in Kent. This, we may assume, was Edward's home - or at least a pied a terre - during his early manhood, and here, we can be certain, the Miss Markhams entertained certain of his East India associates. One of their number was Josephine's widower, Major Chadwick, who married Anne, the fifth daughter, in 1825; another was Captain Haviside, who later married the next sister, Frederica. In the end only two Miss Markhams remained at

 Page 15
  Bessels Green - the second daughter, Harriet, and the youngest, Sarah, Edward's junior by a year and, like him, known in the family for her artistic accomplishments. 31

  Markham's activities in the years immediately after quitting the East India Company have left few traces. Clements Markham confines himself to the general statement that Edward travelled a good deal in France, Germany, and Italy and, without reporting any misconduct, mentions one occasion when he stayed at Florence with his uncle and aunt, Archdeacon and Mrs Robert Markham, and their daughters. 32 Whatever his movements and occupations during this interlude, at the end of five years he was contemplating a fresh career in Britain's remotest possessions and, to further his interests, had solicited the help of an influential patron. 'Allow me to introduce to your notice and protection Mr. Edward Markham who has been for some years in the mercantile service of the East India Company and is now of sufficient standing to be a candidate for the command of one of their ships, but is deterred, as I understand, from aspiring to that situation by the heavy expence of outfit, and the reduced profits of an ordinary voyage.' Thus, on 30 August 1832, Lord Amherst, retired Governor-General of India, wrote to Governor Bourke of New South Wales. Mr Markham, the letter explained, was 'a son of the late Dean of York and grandson of the Archbishop'. 'I have become acquainted with him,' his lordship continued, 'when he has been on a visit to his Sisters, who are my near neighbours in this County. Mr. Markham's object in going to New South Wales and Van Diemen's land is to satisfy himself, by his own observations, whether it be advisable to embark his property in either of those Countries; and while I take the liberty of recommending him to your notice I trust that I shall have introduced an agreeable addition to your society in a young man so respectably & highly connected.' 33

  So it was in the somewhat prosaic role of would-be investor that Markham temporarily forsook England in 1833. In March of that year he sailed from London in the Warrior and on 26 June, as the Hobart Town Courier states, reached Van Diemen's Land. 34 According to a legend still current in the family 70 years later, he travelled even farther to New Zealand, where, it was believed, 'he got into some trouble with the natives'. 35 Of the 'trouble' there is no independent testimony; but thanks to those industrious diarists, the Anglican missionaries, ample proof survives of his presence in this distant no-man's-land. On 4 August 1834 George Clarke, of the Church Missionary Society's station at Waimate, noted in his journal the arrival of 'Mr Markham Grandson to the Late Archbishop of York - he had a letter of introduction from Mr Busby'. In later entries Clarke mentions that the visitor inspected the mission pupils, attended the sick, and performed similar acts of benevolence; then on 12 August he writes, 'after dinner Mr Markham left us for the Kerikeri'. Clarke's colleague, James Hamlin, also refers to Markham (whom he calls 'Mr Marcum') and describes a joint expedition to Kaikohe on 10 August. 36 The next stage in the journey is again attested, this time by James Kemp of Kerikeri, who records on the 12th the appearance of a 'gentleman from the Waimate by the name of Markham... having a letter of introduction from Mr Busbey'; 'he remained all night with us,' continues the missionary (a native of Norfolk) and comments, 'he appears a gentleman who have traviled a great deel & have seen a great deel of the world.' After one further entry - 'Wednesday 13th. Accompined Mr Markham to see the K. K. waterfall' - Kemp's journal abruptly ends. 37

  His visit to the falls at Kerikeri is the last incident in Markham's travels that can be independently established (independently, that is, of the two manuscripts bearing his name). He appears to have returned to England in 1835 and settled into a quiet existence which has been described in two memoirs by his kinsman Clements. He was a member and frequenter of clubs - the Union in Trafalgar Square and the Old Raleigh Club - and in 1836 was elected a Fellow of the Royal Geographical Society (in recognition, it may be, of his penetration of relatively unexplored territories). On 30 June 1840, runs the unpublished memoir, he married 'Charlotte, daughter of John Longden, Esq. of Bramcote', but the union was brief, for Charlotte died 'in premature childbirth' on 4 December 1840. From that date (or a year later, as the published memoir has it) Edward lived for two decades in sorrowing widowerhood at his residence, 45 Welbeck Street, Cavendish Square. 'In the
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  drawing room,' to quote Clements, 'there was a marble bust of his wife, covered with gauze. The room was full of water colour pictures, chiefly French, but some by Pinelli. He was fond of art and a good judge of pictures. Edward was very kind hearted, and devoted to his sisters.... He was constantly with his unmarried sisters, Harriette and Sarah, at Bessels Green. 45 Welbeck Street was a centre of hospitality, relations and friends always staying or dining there. He was very kind to his younger cousins, especially to Edwin... when he was at the military academy at Woolwich. He also had his cousins David and Clements, and later Frank Markham up from Winchester for Saturdays and Sundays.' In his later years Markham became 'excessively stout', and at the age of 60 married for the second time. His wife, briefly characterised as 'not much younger' than Edward himself, was 'Harriet, daughter of the Rev. John Rumsey of Killick Court in Monmouthshire'. 'The second venture,' writes Clements, 'lasted for four years, during which time he was more or less an invalid, though he was still occasionally to be seen at Bessels Green and at the Union Club.' He died at 45 Welbeck Street on 20 July 1865 and, if his widow carried out his testamentary wishes, he was buried in Kensal Green Cemetery. Mrs Markham survived her husband for almost 22 years, also dying at Welbeck Street in February 1887. 38

  Markham's will, though not a particularly revealing document, adds a few details to the picture of a well-circumstanced member of the upper middle class. The settlement made in contemplation of the marriage with 'my present wife Harriet Markham' was confirmed; the said wife was to have the use during her life of his plate and pictures; she was likewise to enjoy a life interest in the residue of his estate after the payment of bequests amounting to considerably more than £12,000. Among the legatees were his domestic servants (the recipients, under certain conditions, of two years' wages), a godson, Edward's maiden sisters, Henrietta and Sarah, and other relatives whose names recall the romantic incidents of his first voyage - the two sisters, Anne Isabella Chadwick and Frederica Haviside (here spelt 'Heaviside'), Mrs Chadwick's second daughter, Josephine (named after the French refugee), and 'George Rufane Donkin eldest son of my late nephew George David Donkin' (poor Bessie's only child). Markham's relationship to two further legatees is undefined, and their names appear nowhere else in the family records. They are, firstly, 'Melanie Josephine de Claremont otherwise Delphine de Claremont Widow now residing in the house of Madame Rosignol at number 24 (or 25) Rue Faubourg Montmartre in Paris', who received an annuity of £100; and, second, 'Edouardine Marie Helene Trouguiou Wife of Monsieur Maxime Trouguiou of Tours in France' to whom Markham bequeathed the income from Consolidated Bank annuities to the value of £2,000. 39 In the absence of facts the identity of the two ladies, together with the services for which they were remembered, must remain a subject for sentimental conjecture.

  Members of the Markham family have continued to distinguish themselves in English public life. In the generation after Edward's perhaps the most eminent was Sir Clements Markham, son of the Reverend David Frederick Markham, Canon of St. George's Chapel, Windsor, and one of Edward's innumerable cousins. Sir Clements was the leading British geographer of his day, the patron and friend of Robert Falcon Scott, and, as an author, even more prolific than his Renaissance kinsman, Gervase. His writings have contributed largely to this chronicle and are remembered in literary history as among the sources of Joseph Conrad's Nostromo. 40 In the later nineteenth century the family's nautical tradition was maintained in the person of Admiral Sir Albert Hastings Markham, son of another cousin of Edward's. His place in history is secure, for he commanded the Camperdown, which, during the course of manoeuvres in 1893, rammed and sank the flagship Victoria. Exonerated by a court martial, the Admiral continued his naval career and, turning author in his later years, compiled a life of his cousin, Clements. 41 Two members of the family, it should be added, later followed Edward's path to the antipodes. They were: Georgina, sister of Clements, who married the Canterbury politician and poet, Sir Charles Christopher Bowen; and Peter Markham, a descendant of the Archbishop's eldest son, who also made his home in Canterbury. 42 In tracing Markham associations with New Zealand the historian is forced to consider one further
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  possibility - that the ancient line was perpetuated in the north through some Polynesian Edouardine or Edward; in default of evidence, however, that subject too must be consigned to the realms of speculation.

  The Question of Authenticity

  Up to this point the sketch of Edward Markham, his forbears, relatives, and hypothetical descendants, has been outlined without reference - or with only oblique reference - to the narratives that bear his name. The two manuscripts - the Mitchell Library's 'Voyage to Van Diemen's Land' 43 and the Turnbull's 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' -are discussed more fully below, but here it can be said that on examination they reveal many striking similarities. Both are composed in the same colloquial, ungrammatical, often inconsequential manner; both use the same highly eccentric systems of punctuation, spelling, and capitalisation; both are written in the same neat nineteenth-century hand. Clearly they are the work of one author and have been written by one person who need not, of course, have been the author, since the possibility of an amanuensis or copyist cannot be wholly neglected.

  As for the 'author' - whether Edward Markham himself or, as suggested earlier, a literary forger - he discloses a very accurate knowledge of the established facts in Markham's life. For example, most details of the voyage to Van Diemen's Land supplied in the narrative agree with those published in the Hobart Town Courier; and the only discrepancy - a difference of one day in the date of departure - is slight and open to simple explanation. 44 Again, in the New Zealand narrative the account of Markham's stay at Waimate and Kerikeri corresponds in every important particular with the information found in the journals and diaries of three missionaries. 45 More striking still are the allusions, casually scattered through both manuscripts, to Markham's early life and to members of his family. The description of a drinking party in Van Diemen's Land contains this reference to the Archbishop: 'He commenced by soaping me down I may say. "You are decended [sic] from the Primite [sic] of the Church.... "' 46 After reaching Hobart Town, the narrator twice mentions writing letters to England: first, 'to Anne [Mrs Chadwick], and to Bessels Green [the family home]'; 47 second, to 'Mrs Stansfeild', one of Edward's cousins, Mrs Stansfield. 48While dining out later in his stay he meets a Captain England 'who knew poor Robert M also Fred M'; these figures can be identified as two other cousins, Captain Robert Markham of the 58th Regiment, who died in 1832 (hence the epithet), and Major Frederick Markham of the 32nd Regiment. 49 In describing his New Zealand experiences he alludes to 'Miss Sarah Markham' or 'Sarah' (the youngest sister), 50 to 'George Donkin' (a nephew), 51 and to 'Jack Markham', known to Henry Williams and therefore in all probability Edward's cousin, Lieutenant John Markham, R. N. 52 Throughout the two narratives the author reveals his knowledge of seamanship and his familiarity with the East. Even more significantly, he makes specific and dated references to voyages in two Indiamen -the Warren Hastings in 1820, the Marchioness of Ely in 1823 53 - which tally with the official record of Markham's service.

  In the face of such evidence, the theory of forgery becomes untenable. Nor does it seem in the least likely that the two manuscripts were the work of a copyist or amanuensis. Neither has the appearance of a fair copy, and 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' in particular, with its many corrections and interpolations, shows all the characteristics of an author's working manuscript. Furthermore, due allowance being made for changes in the long intervening period, the handwriting of the two manuscripts is quite consistent with the one authenticated specimen of Markham's calligraphy, the signature on his will. 54 There is, in sum, no good reason for doubting that Edward Markham himself compiled and wrote both 'Voyage to Van Diemen's Land' and 'New Zealand or Recollections of it'. Fortified by this conclusion, we may now consider more fully the two episodes which have conferred on the author some slight measure of immortality and the belated fulfilment of publication.
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  Visit to Van Diemen's Land

  On 17 March 1833, by his own account, Edward Markham left Gravesend on the Warrior (Captain Stone) bound for Van Diemen's Land and New South Wales. Omitting all preliminary explanations, indulging in none of the emotional flourishes of the departing exile, this rentier Childe Harold opens his narrative with the casual statement, 'I went on board... from the opera, having just seen the 2d or 3d representation of Faust, then into a post chaise for Gravesend, and went on board and found it no easy matter to get to Bed as the cot had not been slept in for some Years and had to be unlashed: I began my wandering on the deep. ' His wandering nearly ended when it had barely begun. With a wealth of nautical terminology and much repetition, he tells how, as the Warrior ran through the Downs, 'from a bad lookout on the part of the Mate we all but dashed her brains out.' She struck a rock, 'seemed to hang for some moments', but 'hauled off from the Land, and resumed her course' without loss or damage. In this, as in a later crisis, Markham acted a cool and manly part: 'the row and confusion was beyond any thing I had been accustomed to, but I made myself useful on the Poop and shewed the other Passengers what to be about. Was thanked by the Captain and most of them after the Row had subsided.' They sailed on without further incident until on the tenth day, passing close to Madeira, they 'could see the white houses on shore and could with glasses see the men at work in the Vineyards', a sight that prompted Markham to exclaim reminiscently, 'How old Marine Captain Borrowcliff would have admired it, as he used when drinking the produce of the Sunny side of the Island.' 55

  The next diversion was a dramatic episode which Markham describes in his inimitable manner: 'the Cook had got drunk one morning instead of night and the steward went forward as usual before 8 o'clock as we had breakfast at 8 and found nothing ready no hot Rolls no Fish or Grill &c and he kicked the Cook who was a chinaman, who took it in high dudgeon & ran on the Forecastle and jumped overboard, the Ship was going about 4 Knots and every person on Deck. The cry of a Man overboard makes men shew all their energies, The Ship was hove to and the boat lowered and China Jack was picked up - He had been 7 years with the Captain and of course the Steward was reprimanded for taking the Law into his own hands, Jacks Grog was stopped for some time, and he was very penitent and got his grog again.' 56

  It is in connection with the affair of China Jack, thus happily concluded, that Markham introduces the two fellow passengers most frequently mentioned in his voyage narrative. Both clerics, the first was the Rural Dean of Hobart Town, Palmer by name, 'a man of no Talent', while 'the other was a Rev'd Mr Stiles [or Stile or Styles] a clever but ultra religious man'. With their respective wives they were Markham's table companions, and each responded to the incident in characteristic fashion: 'the Rural Dean on hearing of the cook being overboard exclaimed oh! what shall we do for a cook, he was such a good cook, oh I am so sorry, Ten to one if there is any one can cook on board, half so well, Mr Stile said May God have compassion on the Mans soul, and asked numerous questions as to the state he was in, and hearing he was a Heathen admitted He would be damned. But the chinaman was saved, and the Rural Dean recovered from his anxiety'. 57

  Nothing further relieved the monotony of shipboard life until, after rounding the Cape of Good Hope, the Warrior again narrowly escaped disaster. 'The Cape being doubled,' Markham relates, 'as in duty bound, there was to be a song and a double glass of Grog drunk that night and a full muster of all the passengers and every song put in requisition. We were going on very merrily when an end to our songs took place a Mr Barton was singing chevalier Newcombs song The Sea the Sea! &c Two or 3 verses were sung when a cry from below of Fire, Fire! no more grog, no more song, that night as the smoke and smell rolled up from below... every person jumped up, some run on deck, but all the Seamen the Captain Mate & your humble servant went below to put out the fire - Mr Nicholson's cabin was on fire & next the storeroom Spirits Turpentine &c &c in it, the Bulkhead or division was nearly burned through... one watch hove the ship to and handed down water and the others went below, I kept the women back they always are in the way when
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  there are any anxious moments and cling to you oh! shall we be saved, not if you stop us from handing down water I said and gave them to the other Passengers who were all asking questions instead of exerting themselves by passing along Buckets of water I remember once before in the Mosambique channel the Warren Hastings [in] 1820 took Fire, and... the women all clung around us instead of allowing us to do our utmost to save the ship.' In the end the fire was extinguished, and summoned aft by the two clergymen, 'all returned thanks to God' for a 'providential escape'. 58

  On the following Sunday, inspired by the incident, Mr Styles delivered 'a beautiful sermon' which was the occasion for a critical stocktaking on Markham's part: 'he was clever & impressive as a preacher, and gentlemanlike, but never mind what the subject of conversation was, He would eventually turn it to a Religious one, I always cut them as I have no idea of a man treating you as a boy, begin upon a religious subject and end it so, But not eternally harping on the same string as he did, so I always had to leave him short or start at dinner some opposition subject to keep him from dosing me with religion at every meal.... ' Towards the end of the voyage the excessive and intrusive piety of Mr Styles provoked a distressing incident. A 5s. lottery was organised for the charitable purpose, Markham explains, of making 'a Purse that should send one of the party, with a few Pounds to go on shore with'. When Mr Styles was approached, he 'could not refuse his name quietly, but he chose to try and dissuade others from it Quoting Scripture - and they cast losts [sic] for his Raiment and trying To make us believe that were we guilty of the crime that we believe was booked to the account of the Roman Soldiers, he went further and said it was damnable then denied it, and I then told him he was a mad Fanatic, going on as he did'. Nor was this all, for Markham ruefully concludes, 'it cost me 5 shillings as I took a second ticket in consequence.' 59

  Surveying his fellow passengers on the eve of disembarkation, Markham records his approval of singularly few: 'Mr Clerk an Architect I liked, and Mrs Clerk also Barton I disliked Mrs B so so Nicholson I liked the Parsons so so'. As for Mrs Palmer, wife of the Rural Dean, and her sister: '[they] told me taking praise to themselves that they had never been at a Ball or Concert or play, had never played at cards, in fact I said you mean you have lived a wishy washy kind of life and have seen little of the world, and glory in your ignorance. Now why did you not go into a convent as you seem so proud of your good works, and you are prepared to open a Debit and Credit account with your maker, and these silly things as your offsets, where are your acts of charity; where have you been the Peacemakers, where have you helped Youth of either sexes, these I call things to be proud of and not your self denial from the enjoyments of society the which by your own account you can not enjoy, and by your own admitting are no ornament to.' If the cloistered virtue of Mrs Palmer failed to accord with his own principles, even more abhorrent were the greed and hypocrisy of her husband. The Rural Dean, wrote Markham, 'put me in mind of the Yorkshire Ploughboy that likened a sign post to a parson He said they pointed the way to Heaven but never went it.' 60

  With this tribute to his father's sacred calling and a circumstantial account of the Reverend Mr Palmer's 'Gluttony', Markham brings the voyage narrative to an end and goes on to recount his experiences in Van Diemen's Land. Shortly after he reached Hobart Town (on 26 June 1833), the Chief Constable, Mr Capon, found him 'very comfortable Lodgings' with 'a first fleeter' who 'could remember when only 11 tents were to be seen, where there are now Brick and stone houses for 16 thousand Inhabitants'. Markham noted 'a great want of churches &c and Public buildings', but there were pleasure gardens and, on the evidence of his own narrative, no want of taverns. He promptly submitted letters of introduction and was soon on convivial terms with a large acquaintance of Government officials, leading merchants, garrison officers, and such lesser figures as 'an ugly Diva' of Neapolitan birth, 'pleased to find a person who understood something of her language'. 61

  Within a week of his arrival he had settled into a routine whose nature can be suggested by a short sequence of the diary entries with which he fills out this portion of the narrative: '4 July Rode a horse on trial a bad one called on the Capons, and went there in the evening & had a specimen of Mr Deans concert price one shilling. 5 July a wet day did not move out all day, commenced
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  Monsieur Botte wrote to Mrs Stansfeild, went to John Murdocks to dinner met 2 Murdocks Major Briggs - Beauvais Hewett, had 3 sheeps heads Haggis & whisky Toddy. 6th July went to try a horse before purchase, and rode to Austins Ferry 9 miles and back again, kept the horse out 3 hours, He stumbled 3 or 4 times No go, he was weak, returned him, and saw the owner of it & was told that I put him to great inconvenience in having kept him out so long. I said I was sorry the more I appologized the more the Man Bullied at last I turned on my heel and told him to be Damned I had 8 of them to dinner that day, and in the evening a bill came in for horse hire I sent word he should have my Horse whip gratis if he dared send any such thing again.... Sunday went to Church heard Mr Palmer read the lessons, and Mr Bedford preach Mr B was formerly a stay maker and was patronized by Mrs Fry, made ordinary in Newgate, then made senior Colonial Chaplain. He speaks as if he had hot pudding in his mouth, and is a pompous ass, and was at one time very drunken. But the Governor gave him a hint, that he would be dismissed if he continued so he joined the Temperance Society Went on board the Warrior and dined with Capt Stone, stayed till 6 oclock went home read Botte and went to bed.' 62

  In the course of the social round, he sampled a local delicacy, 'Kangaroo steamed' ('worth the Voyage to taste it' was Markham's verdict) and the less delectable pleasures of the Vice-Regal board: 'July 10th... dined with the Governor oh! what a dull dinner, oh! what a dull evening sat down 22 or 24 to dinner Roast Goose, Turkey Two ducks, boiled Pork & fowls a Round of Beef Mutton and Pork chops, and Cape wine sat next the Governor, I asked him to help me to some Turkey people stared as if I had asked him for a Guinea all the company drank Cape wine but I boldly drank out of the Governors bottle of Good Madeira it being private. But I knew what to expect before I went out to dinner, I dined twice with the Governor, [he] sat after coming in to the Ladies &c like a Tailor perched up on a music stool, with both hands in his pockets. I approached Mrs Arthur [the Governor's wife] she was talking about wheening a child poor dear Motherly soul Bah! the insipid slop, then a Knot [?] of men wishing so for 10 to strike standing in the middle of the room like Gabies, what a merry party we had at supper, when most of the officers adjourned to the Macquarrie Hotel, leaving the ladies sitting round the room like Wall Flowers, & the Miss Arthurs were flirting at the end of the room with officers &c and most of the men were Toading the Governor. The stile of dinner might have done at a Tavern when 20 Convicts meet to celebrate their freedom'. 63

  Soon after the function at Government House, Markham paid a short visit to Henry Oakes, brother of a Colonel Oakes he had known in Florence. His host was then leasing a property called 'Red lands' in the district of New Norfolk, 22 miles (by Markham's reckoning) from Hobart Town. The time passed pleasantly in 'one of the prettiest places' in Van Dieman's Land while Markham inspected Oakes's farm ('fine land but slovenly kept'), rode about the countryside, and tried his hand at the novel sport of cockatoo shooting. They called one day on a neighbouring landowner, Mr Lamb, and spent a hilarious evening at the expense of another visitor, the senior colonial chaplain. Having first tried to 'soap down' the Archbishop's grandson, Mr Bedford so far forgot himself as to break his vows of temperance and (according to his chief antagonist) was thoroughly worsted in successive duels of wit. During the visit Markham continued his search for a suitable mount and before returning to Hobart Town committed himself to an unfortunate choice: 'Bought a horse of a man Oakes knew, and he gave the Horse a good character, I paid 32£ for him, too much by half I have every reason to suppose some small debts of Oaks was wiped off by this transaction & as I was told of it afterwards.' 64 Thus, it seems, originated the feud with Oakes which was to reach its unhappy climax in New Zealand.

  Back in Hobart Town, Markham again took up the variegated - and occasionally tangled -threads of his social life and did some further entertaining on his own account. His cosmopolitan background enabled him to confer an air of elegance on his functions - 'Gave 5 gents a dejeuner a la Fourchette', runs one entry - while their success was doubtless enhanced by the '2 gallons of good Brandy' which he requisitioned from Captain Stone before the Warrior left for Sydney.
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  With a horse at his command he could widen the range of his excursions and extend the scope of his sporting activities. He shot quail and opossums and experienced the hazards of kangaroo hunting: 'went out shooting Kangaroos, had the worst riding I ever saw, over Fallen trees Rivulets and through brush wood up to your eyes, when mounted, up & down such hills so steep we brought home 3 Kangaroos'. Proving unequal to these demands, the horse acquired at New Norfolk was soon replaced: 'Friday bought Capt Jacobs 44th Regt black Horse, a real Trump, and I sold him at the end of 5 months.' In disposing of his first mount Markham was not so lucky: 'determined to sell the other Horse forthwith, as my height would always gall the Horse I did for 25£ never got the Money, a Bill at 3 months date, and the Beggar became a Bankrupt before it became due.' 65

  In August Markham again left Hobart Town, this time on a longer and more elaborate expedition to Launceston in the north. He entertained his six fellow travellers at a breakfast of 'Kangaroo steamer', and the party then rode by easy stages across the island, frequently stopping for refreshments with hospitable landowners or at the inns which dotted the route. Markham observed the 'Convicts working in chains', found the 'cyder' 'as good... as in the Normandy', thought the scenery of the interior 'Magnificent', and recorded nocturnal horseplay involving 'chamber articles' and situations of a kind familiar to readers of Smollett. At Launceston they put up at the hostelry of the former highwayman Dick White, 'a bandy or broken leged mulatoe', who played the violin, doubled the parts of innkeeper and auctioneer, and was in Markham's opinion 'a decided character and wit'. The neighbourhood of Launceston abounded in original characters. There was Mr Walkinshaw who, anticipating the Peggoty family, had manoeuvred an abandoned hulk ashore and converted her into a dwelling: 'he lives under the Poop makes a warehouse of her hold & between decks... and he has shored up the decks forward and aft and built up brick chimnies on board, & has altered her Cabins, and she is a very comfortable lodging.' Markham dined with Mr Walkinshaw and also - rather indifferently - with Major Macloud and his family who lived in squalor but displayed 'an all consuming pride of birth, she being daughter to a Highland laird old Coll of Coll & Mull'. 'Under the floor of the room they live in,' reported their guest, 'the native cats had burrowed and bred and the smell and effluvia arrising is terrible it is like living over a wild beast show, we had a badly dressed dinner, chump ends, and bits next the loins &c rode with the Major, who is next to imbecile now, as Mrs Macloud wears the Breeches'. A more jovial host was Captain Barclay, an 'old East India Captain of 80 swearing like one of the troopers of the Army that Uncle Toby used to speak of. In return Markham 'swore as much as he did', sampled his well-stocked cellar, and met his youthful heiress, offspring of the aged but honourable Captain's union with 'a convict woman whom he married to Legitimise the daughter'. With 'a dinner to all the people that had been civil to our party', the visit to Launceston reached its end and a bibulous climax: 'sat down 22 to Table and my share cost me 11 pounds, every person was more drunk than sober, when they left us they had a skinful to carry off.... ' 66

  A wild scamper along the homeward stretch brought the party back to Hobart Town, where for a while Markham 'passed the time agreeably' in the customary routine. The small circle of his familiars was occasionally diversified by a welcome recruit. The Alligator arrived from the Swan River with 'the Baron Hugel', an Austrian naturalist who had travelled 'all over the East' and penetrated to the Himalayas; and one day at a review of the 63rd Regiment Markham recognised one, Fletcher, 'a chum at Rome' from whom he had 'parted at Venice' and now, so small was the world, met again in Van Diemen's Land. Soon afterwards he left with a party of friends to visit the whaling establishments in D'Entrecasteaux Channel - a more sober excursion than the jaunt to Launceston. The local whalers, he noted, had enjoyed a 'very successful' season, 'having taken some 2,000 tons [i. e. tuns] of Southern Oil'. He stayed six days in the neighbourhood, and, though not a single whale was 'struck' in that time, he witnessed the process of 'trying out' and recorded various features of the temporary settlements: the beach with '200 whales in every state of decomposition', emitting a 'terrible' stench; the special huts where the helmsmen lived apart from their crews; the nail-studded trees used as improvised lookouts; the covering of the 'stringy barked
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  Gum', 'something like the outer husk of the Cocoa Nut', which the whalers called 'Bulls Wool' and used for cleaning their boats and their persons. And, ever the gourmet, he tasted with approval two further specialites du pays - fish cooked in boiling whale oil and 'damper' or 'bread baked in the Woodashes without Yeast'. 67

  Markham now began to suffer from boredom. On concluding his account of the bay whalers, he writes, 'For some time after this I lead a Monotonous life, riding & sometimes dining out but I used to ask two or 3 of them to dine with me to vary it'. He adds mysteriously and not too comprehensibly, 'I was waiting all this time to make good the Titles that I had or was going to have Mortgages on but this is entre nous - well when all was compleat I went [?] to make up my mind for New Zealand. Hewett often laughed at me for it, but I never expected to have been so long there.' The narrative then tails off into emigrants' handbook information, pronouncements on the colony's future, and scandalous references to Governor Arthur (characterised as 'a great jobber' and, somewhat illogically, as both 'little Jesuit' and 'canting Puritan'). It ends, 'Time went by in the usual Monotonous way Till February when I decided on going down to New Zealand. I sold my horse, having ridden him for 5 Months, and sold him to Captain Forth of the 21st regiment for 5 pounds more than I gave for him. I gave all my chums a dinner... and on the 7th of February I embarked on board the Brig - Brazil packet Captain Crow, no relation to "Jim Crow"!' 68

  Markham in the Hokianga

  So Edward Markham reached New Zealand, intending, as he casually remarks, to stay for three weeks. Why did he come? On this point he has no more to say than he has on his reasons for migrating from England. Perhaps the spirit of adventure induced him to cross the Tasman, or merely perhaps his acknowledged boredom. His motives, on the other hand, may have been pecuniary and quite practical. It will be remembered that in describing his visit to D'Entrecasteaux Channel he noted the success which the local whalers had enjoyed that season in southern waters. On 7 October 1833, probably soon after the visit (which is undated), the Marianne returned to Hobart Town with 'no less than 260 tuns of oil... and about 15 tons of whalebone'. This 'splendid cargo' had been obtained at Cloudy Bay in a period of less than six months and brought to the owners, Hewitt, Gore, and Company, a profit of some £4,500. One outcome of the bonanza was a proposal to establish at Cloudy Bay a colony where commercial enterprise would unite with the ideals of self-help, the strict principles of Sabbath observance, and certain political theories of a quasi-socialistic nature. Half the population of Hobart Town, reported a local newspaper, were 'crazy to leave for the new Colony'. 69 The scheme - one in the long line of projected Utopias with which our history is littered - came to nothing, and in any case would scarcely have appealed to a man of Markham's tastes and convictions. The whole episode might, nevertheless, have drawn his attention to New Zealand as a possible field for the kind of investments he had evidently made in Van Diemen's Land. Further colour is lent to this view by the fact that one owner of the Marianne was Hewitt (or 'Hewett'), his business adviser and, more conspicuously, his boon companion in the excursion to Launceston and other escapades. Like Oakes and Maning, Markham may thus have been borne to New Zealand on the tide of economic expansion then flowing strongly from the Australian colonies.

  Whatever the motives impelling him, he came to the fabled anchorage of Kupe, the navigator's last resting place before he returned to Hawaiki and for that reason (so asserts a local annalist) called 'Hokianga' or 'going back'. 70 Harbour, river, estuary, as it is variously termed, the Hokianga lies on the west coast of the North Island, penetrating deeply into the northern peninsula. For half a century after Cook's rediscovery of New Zealand it remained untouched, shut off from European contact by the treacherous bar at its mouth and the bush-clad hills beyond its upper reaches. At the time of Markham's arrival these barriers had long been breached. In June 1819 the missionaries Thomas Kendall and John King made their way overland from the Bay of Islands to ascertain whether 'Jukiangah' 'would be a suitable place for a settlement'. 71 Their stay was short, their
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  verdict apparently inconclusive, and the following September a larger party, now led by Samuel Marsden, set out along the same route, made a more thorough examination of the river, and succeeded in reaching the Heads. In his journal Marsden mentions repeated requests from the Hokianga chiefs for the services of a missionary, and reports in general terms, 'The river is very beautiful, and will be very convenient for the navigation of small vessels should this country ever become a commercial nation.' 72 He prophesied with needless caution. Only six months later - and partly at his own instigation - the seaward route was opened. At the end of March 1820 the store ship Dromedary (Captain Skinner) with the schooner Prince Regent (Captain Kent) visited the river for the purpose of collecting spars. This object was not achieved, for the Dromedary did not venture inside the Heads, but Captain Kent safely negotiated the bar and explored the river. 73 Other vessels followed in the wake of the Prince Regent, and within a decade the Hokianga had become an established centre of trade and shipping.

  In the early years of settlement the chief commodity was timber. 'The river,' wrote Richard A. Cruise of the Dromedary, '...forms many deep coves, and branches into several streams, the banks of which are beautifully wooded, and the lofty and luxuriant cowry grows in great profusion close to the water's edge.' 74 These two facts - the abundance of forest trees, especially the kauri, and the convenience of water transport - created the dominant industry and determined its methods. Once felled, the trees were either sawn into planks or manoeuvred to the water's edge. Thence the timber was floated in rafts to ships anchored in the main stream. The spars, according to one authority, went to England, the planks to New South Wales, 'the colony' as it was then called. 75 In the late twenties the export trade was supplemented by local shipbuilding, carried on mainly at Horeke or 'Deptford'. The Europeans thus lived not in compact communities but, of necessity, in isolated sawing stations or in a few larger 'establishments' dispersed throughout the river. And, with very few exceptions, they were employed in felling or preparing timber. Even the Wesleyan mission at Mangungu, established in 1828, became involved in this local industry. In the troubled years when it was under the direction of William White the station succeeded in combining its spiritual labours with a profitable commerce in planks and spars. 76

  At the time of Markham's visit there were, by his own estimate, about seventy Europeans on the river. 77 Living as they did in isolation and without support from established authority, they depended entirely on the good will - and often on the forbearance - of a native population numbering some three or four thousand. 78 Actually they had little to fear from their Maori neighbours. Drowning and drunkenness killed more Europeans at this period than the patu or the musket. The Hokianga people indeed seem to have enjoyed a reputation for mildness and fair dealing. In 1820 Cruise compared them most favourably with other northern Maoris, praising their 'gentle manners' together with their 'honest' and 'generous' conduct in supplying provisions. 79 This opinion, it must be added, was based on limited knowledge and might have been modified had Cruise written in 1834. Contact with traders and seamen in the intervening years had doubtless tarnished the primitive virtues. Even in 1820, moreover, the reputed gentleness of the Hokianga Maoris would not have been apparent to their traditional enemies. Patuone, Nene, Moetara, and warriors of lesser degree joined with gusto in the southern raids of the eighteen twenties; and, as Markham himself witnesses, during the early thirties local feuds could still erupt in bloody conflict. The Fortitude affair, however, was something of a portent. Moetara's faction, implicitly rejecting their ancient usages, acted throughout in defence of the Pakeha; and the struggle ended not in the defeat or extermination of one side but with a lasting truce. After the destructive wars of the previous decade, Maori society was returning to a precarious equilibrium - at least in the north; while, for better or worse, European standards were prevailing.

  Such, briefly, was the setting for the first half of Markham's stay in New Zealand. His movements in the months before he established himself on the opposite coast may now be summarised. Having crossed the bar on 18 February 1834, the Brazil Packet anchored that afternoon off Pakanae, Moetara's village in the lower reaches. On the 21st Markham was transported farther up the river to

 Page 24
  Kohukohu where he shared a two-roomed cottage with Kelly, Maning, and, until they transferred to Pakanae, the Oakeses. A week or so later, during an excursion to the Mangamuka, one of the main tributaries of the Hokianga, he met 'Awattie' and witnessed the obsequies of a young Maori woman. On 5 March, soon after his return, the Kohukohu purchase was completed and, with the help of two carpenters, he began to build his own room. The work was interrupted while he attended Moetara's feast at Pakanae. There he dismissed Awattie for 'infidelity' and met 'Arungher', her successor. These events seem to have taken place between his first two visits to the Wesleyan missionaries at Mangungu, on 9 March and the following Sunday. He records a storm of hurricane strength on 26 March, and, early in April, an excursion to Omanaia where he too was guilty of infidelity.

  The completion of the additional room, shortly after his return from Omanaia, opened a new, more orderly phase in Markham's sojourn. He had ranged rather freely in the previous weeks but now settled with Arungher into a quiet domestic routine which continued until June. Excursions were briefer and usually undertaken for practical reasons. On one outing Markham - perhaps in company with Arungher - crossed the river to Horeke to buy iron pots and tin pannikins for the menage at Kohukohu. He mentions two further appearances at Mangungu, once at the funeral of a Mr Craigh, victim of intemperance, and again at a gathering (on 18 April) summoned to investigate a boundary dispute. These were sporting forays and, with the onset of wintry weather in May, an expedition for timber to build a 'New Zealand fashion' chimney. Some variety was introduced into these simple pursuits when, about the middle of June, the Amity arrived with friends from Hobart Town. Markham visited Pakanae to welcome the ship, often dined on board when she anchored in the upper river, and on 23 June entertained in his own modest quarters. A week later he left the Hokianga and made his way across country to the east coast. Following approximately the same route as the pioneer missionaries, he travelled, by fairly easy stages, with a retinue of five porters and an interpreter. On the evening of 2 July he reached the Bay of Islands, so named, he remarks, by Captain Cook.

  Markham at the Bay of Islands

  On this occasion, as so rarely in his historical asides, Markham was correct. An entry in Cook's journal for 27 November 1769 records the discovery of 'a large and pretty Deep Bay' on the west side of Cape Brett. 'I have named it the Bay of Islands,' he later wrote, 'on account of the great number which line its shores, and these help to form several safe and Commodious harbours wherein is room and depth of water sufficient for any number of Shipping....' The place, he went on, offered 'every kind of refreshments for Shipping'. 80 Thus from the very outset Cook recognised the advantages which by the eighteen thirties would attract many Europeans to the Bay and transform it into a busy port. Its growth, however, was slow and spasmodic. The fate of Cook's successor, Marion du Fresne, murdered in 1772 with more than a score of his men, probably deterred other mariners, and for a lengthy period no further visits were recorded. Only in the opening decade of the nineteenth century, with the development of Pacific whaling and the expansion of trade from New South Wales, did the Bay become widely known as a convenient depot and source of supplies. Such facilities as existed at this time were provided by the local Maoris, who sometimes joined the crews of visiting ships and made their way to New South Wales or, more rarely, to England.

  These enterprising travellers were indirectly responsible for the first influx of permanent settlers. It was through his encounter with Maoris at Port Jackson, Marsden relates, that he conceived the idea of founding a mission to free 'this very interesting people' from 'their cruel spiritual bondage and misery'. 81 Having overcome obstacles that would have defeated a less resolute man, in December 1814 he led his little band of catechists and mechanics to the Bay where they established themselves at Rangihoua on the northern headland. From this bridgehead they gradually spread to more central and fertile localities - Kerikeri, Paihia, and Waimate, the three stations visited by Markham.
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  They also made exploratory journeys to the Hokianga and other northern districts, but, in spite of appeals for their services, they were forced to confine their ministrations to the Bay and its immediate neighbourhood. Even in this limited area progress fell far short of Marsden's hopes. Occupied with the basic problems of subsistence in a new country, afflicted by domestic quarrels and scandals, the pioneer evangelists laboured for years without making a single convert.

  For this initial failure there was a further reason: the Maoris were disinclined to renounce their spiritual bondage and embrace Christianity. In fact, for a decade or so after the mission was established their pagan customs were more deplorably in evidence than ever before. 'The Inhabitants of this Bay,' Cook had observed, 'are far more numerous than at any other place we have yet been in and seem to live in friendship one with another altho it doth not att all appear that they are united under one head.' 82 With the advent of traders and whalers, their condition was inevitably transformed. Shrewdly exploiting their unique situation, the Bay tribes exchanged their commodities and their services - together with the services of their women - for European goods, especially the musket; and under the redoubtable Hongi they achieved a loose and precarious union. So armed and led, they began a series of raids and massacres that went on with unabated violence until Hongi's death in 1828. With the removal of his dominant presence and the growing strength of rival tribes the north gradually lapsed into an uneasy truce. As William Yate expressed it some years later, 'No one dared to refuse when Hongi called.... But now, the war-cry may go round the Bay, from house to house, and from village to village, and none answers to the call. It is with the utmost difficulty that a sufficient number can be raised to go out to war, beyond their own immediate district, lest they should be met by a party more powerful than themselves.' 83 Disunited and demoralised by incessant fighting, the Bay Maoris now turned in increasing numbers to the missionaries who, under the vigorous direction of Henry Williams, were quick to seize their chance. Progress was so rapid that by 1834 the mission was able to open its first southern station.

  The turmoil into which the north was plunged in the years of Hongi's ascendancy retarded but did not prevent further settlement. The Bay itself, at the centre of the storm, remained comparatively peaceful. Ships continued to call, and to meet their needs traders, shipwrights, artisans began to establish themselves during the late twenties and early thirties, so adding a 'respectable' element to the small secular nucleus of runaway sailors and similar vagrants. The village of Kororareka received most of the newcomers, but others built homes, stores, or workshops elsewhere on the Bay's vast circumference. This ill-assorted community became even more varied when James Busby arrived in 1833 and set up the British Residency at Waitangi. By the following year, at the time of Markham's visit, the permanent European population was still far from its peak and may not have exceeded 200. 84 For the Maoris no reliable estimates exist, but they probably outnumbered the settlers by at least 10 to one. 85

  Markham intended to remain at the Bay only three weeks, but owing to the lack of Sydney-bound shipping he was compelled to stay four months. Reaching Kerikeri on the evening of 2 July, he left the next morning for Kororareka where he found temporary accommodation at Alexander's grog shop. On the 5th he looked up Rogers, his fellow passenger on the Brazil Packet, who was now employed as tutor at Okiato, the trading establishment of Clendon and Stephenson. As a result of the visit he was offered the use of a 'skilling' slightly larger than his room at Kohukohu. He accepted the offer and shifted from Kororareka on Monday the 7th. In the meantime he met such notabilities as Gilbert Mair and, after a service at Paihia, the two Williams brothers. On the 18th, supplied with a note of introduction from Clendon, he called at the Residency. Apparently he made a favourable impression on the Busbys, for he returned to Waitangi for an overnight visit on 20 July and again early in August before setting out for Waimate. During this excursion he inspected the mission farm and schools, saw Hongi's old pa at Lake Omapere, and attended a service in the chapel at Kaikohe. Returning by way of Kerikeri and Waitangi, he reached Okiato on 14 August to resume his duties as part-time cook in the bachelor quarters. Following a domestic interlude of unspecified length, he undertook a second expedition, this time to the Hauraki Gulf
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  in a sealing boat manned by sawyers and Maoris. The voyage came to a premature end when they struck a rock some 40 or 50 miles south of Cape Brett. Markham ingeniously effected temporary repairs and, within six days of his departure, got back to Okiato. The 'dreadful' monotony of which he now complains was occasionally relieved by the society of whaling cronies or by visits to the missionaries and the Busbys. He was at Waitangi on 25 October when HMS Alligator sailed into the Bay after rescuing the Guard family in Taranaki. On obtaining a passage in the warship Markham settled his affairs at Okiato, stayed a few days at Waitangi, and left for Sydney on 30 October. Altogether he had been in New Zealand about eight and a half months.

  Edward Markham, Author

  The Alligator reached Sydney on 13 November 1834. From that date onwards the record of Markham's travels is blank save for casual references in his own narratives. He mentions leaving his dog Venus at Port Stephens for four months in charge of Mrs Dumaresq. 86 Hence he spent at least the early part of 1835 in New South Wales and travelled beyond the neighbourhood of Sydney; moreover, since Colonel Dumaresq was the brother-in-law of Governor Darling, presumably Lord Amherst's introduction gave Markham the entree to Viceregal circles. From New South Wales he may have gone to Mauritius, to which he refers on two occasions. 87 His knowledge of the island could, on the other hand, have been acquired during his service with the East India Company. A similar inference might be drawn from the many allusions to 'the Cape' and 'Southern Africa' scattered through both narratives. 88 But there is definite evidence that Markham spent some time in the Cape Colony on his way back to England. It was there, he says, that he saw Yate's book on New Zealand which was not published until 1835. 89 Apparently, then, he made a leisurely journey home by way of South Africa, reaching England, as already mentioned, some time in 1835. 90

  So ended Markham's expedition to the antipodes. Turning now to the two manuscripts, we are confronted first by the problem of when they were written. As the most casual inspection will show, they are retrospective accounts, both obviously based on records kept at the time of the writer's travels but in no exact sense to be termed diaries or journals themselves. And since both mention events in South Africa, they were in all probability compiled after Markham had left the colony. Indeed, it is quite possible (though by no means certain) that 'Voyage to Van Diemen's Land' was an outcome of the last stage in the homeward journey. The original manuscript of some 60 unnumbered pages is contained in a book of foolscap size (32 by 20 5 cm) resembling those used for rough logs and similar nautical records. Little care has been taken with the presentation. The narrative runs on virtually without paragraph breaks, no margins have been left, and the only illustration is a small ink sketch towards the end of the manuscript. There are few, if any, signs of revision. Such an expansion of diary jottings might well have been undertaken to relieve the boredom of a voyage. It was probably drawn up without thought of publication, merely as a personal record or perhaps for the benefit of relations and friends.

  Allusions in the New Zealand narrative make it possible to date the manuscript with greater precision. Markham has added to his version of the Guard affair marginal references to Two visits to New Zealand; these could not have been written before 1836 when Marshall's book first appeared. 91 Another terminal date is provided by a reference to Baron Huegel who, Markham remarks, is 'now acting as Ambassador... at Paris'; 'now' cannot have been later than 1837, for Huegel's appointment to the Austrian Embassy in Paris ended that year. 92 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' thus belongs to the period immediately after Markham's return, and in various ways seems to reflect the leisured and settled circumstances in which it was compiled. The narrative is neatly written in a quarto exercise book (22.5 by 18.5 cm) bound in stiff covers. Each of the 150 pages is numbered and a margin has been lightly ruled in pencil. Scattered through the manuscript is a series of illustrations in several media, ranging in size from a double-page watercolour
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  drawing to small vignettes. The margins seem to have been provided for the 'side notes' common in nineteenth-century books, but Markham has also used them for cross references and for his numerous comments and afterthoughts. These and other features of the work - the use of printed sources (not always acknowledged), the valiant attempt at paragraph arrangement, the didactic tone of certain passages - all suggest that it was meant as something more than a private record, that it was, in fact, intended for publication; and this inference is supported by the note on the final page where Markham lists the passages that 'might have been left out or modified so as to be presentable to strangers'. 93

  Few persons not actually illiterate could ever have been so poorly qualified for authorship. The formal deficiencies of Markham's manuscript must have been quite as apparent in his own day as they are at present; and if he did submit it to a publisher, the response would surely have been an emphatic rejection. Time, however, effects its transformations. What may have been no more than an unpublishable effusion in 1836 had within 70 years become an historic document which so discerning a collector as Alexander Turnbull gladly acquired for his library. The lapse of a further half century has, if anything, enhanced its interest while removing the supposed obstacles to publication. Markham remains an unreliable guide to facts and events, but he is a rare witness to aspects of precolonial New Zealand passed over by other more accomplished authors. He records forgotten customs and fragments of settler's lore; he is a unique repository of gossip, that indispensable element of social life and hence of social history; and, alone among our early annalists, he shows something of a Polynesian candour in his approach to sex. Not that Markham ever permits himself the freedom of a modern novelist or the unbuttoned licence of the classic self revealers. He is no Boswell and certainly no Pepys.

  The reputedly unprintable sections of the narrative are thus among the least of an editor's difficulties; they are given below without emendation of any kind. More serious are the problems arising from eccentricities of composition and arrangement. The general aim has been to reproduce Markham's manuscript exactly as he left it. Except by photographic means, however, that aim is not completely attainable, and some modifications have inevitably been made in transferring manuscript to print. In the first place it has been necessary to remove Markham's numerous comments and afterthoughts from the margins and render them as footnotes. The initials 'E. M.' have been added to distinguish such passages from the verbal and textual notes which also appear at the foot of the page. All other explanatory notes will be found in numerical sequence following the text. The margins themselves are now used solely for the original side notes and cross references (the latter being suitably modified). Markham's unorthodox spelling is reproduced, but the correct form of proper names and other words not immediately recognisable is given in square brackets, usually on their first appearance. Both forms are entered either in the index or, with Maori words and phrases, in the glossary. The extremely erratic capitalisation of the manuscript has been preserved, but in the interests of readability the even more eccentric punctuation has sometimes been amended. Markham's favourite punctuating device is a small dot which at different times performs the function of comma, semicolon, or full point and which, as sense demands, has been so interpreted. Full points have been added where unintentionally omitted (e. g., at the end of a line or page), while brackets, which Markham often uses instead of inverted commas, have occasionally been closed. When such changes and additions might alter Markham's presumed meaning or result in ambiguity, they have been avoided.

  Manuscripts and Transcripts

  Like so much else concerning Markham, the transcripts of 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' have been a subject of speculation. Historians have recorded their uncertainty as to which of the several versions is the 'original', and Harrison M. Wright has recently suggested that the Hocken copy was 'probably done by the author at one time or another'. 94 A cursory inspection soon
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  disposes of such problems. The Alexander Turnbull Library undoubtedly possesses Markham's original, while the General Assembly and Hocken Libraries - together with two Australian libraries - own transcripts by another much later hand. All these transcripts are the work of one copyist, each contains facsimiles of Markham's illustrations, all are of quarto size, and three are uniformly bound in green half morocco. Though made with some care, they differ from the original and from one another in punctuation, spelling, and pagination. Of the two copies available for close examination, that owned by the General Assembly Library is slightly superior to the Hocken copy (that is, nearer the original). 95

  What, then, is the source of the transcripts and how did they come into being? Only with the discovery in England and Australia of hitherto unknown material, at a time when the present work was on the point of completion, has it become possible to answer these queries. The new information also throws light on the history of Markham's two manuscripts and establishes their authenticity beyond question. 96

  First of all, it is now apparent that the existence of the manuscripts was known to one of Markham's younger relatives. 'Edward Markham,' writes Clements, 'kept interesting and entertaining illustrated journals from the day of leaving Gravesend to his leaving New Zealand. ' When Edward's widow died in 1887, the account continues, the manuscripts were, 'by a strange mistake, sold to some bookseller'. The original purchaser's identity is uncertain, though he may have been a dealer living in the West of England; nor is it clear what happened to the manuscripts in the following years. It is established, however, that in 1904 or thereabouts 'New Zealand or Recollections of it' came into the hands of Francis Edwards, 'the Marylebone bookseller', who then passed it on for perusal and description to E. A. Petherick, 'the catalogue maker'. (Petherick was almost certainly responsible for the censorious comments quoted in the first part of this introduction; in discussing the manuscript with Clements Markham, he wrote, 'There are passages in it which could not be printed as they stand.') Before the manuscript was sold, at the modest price of £6, to Alexander H. Turnbull, Petherick suggested that it should be copied. The suggestion was adopted, and Edwards ultimately disposed of the resulting transcripts which were also priced at £6 a copy. The several witnesses differ as to the number of transcripts made at this time; Clements Markham says 'two', Petherick 'two or three', while Turnbull gives the number as 'six'. 97 Turnbull's figure is most likely to be correct, since no less than four copies have now been traced: those in the Hocken, General Assembly, Mitchell, and Australian National Libraries. The unbound copy owned by the last institution was, it appears, originally bought from Edwards by Petherick and passed with his collection into the National Library. 98

  Some time after the appearance of 'New Zealand or Recollections of it', states Petherick, 'another MS turned up from another part of the country.' This was Edward Markham's 'Voyage to Van Diemen's Land' which was also acquired by Francis Edwards and sold, for an undisclosed sum, to 'a man in Sydney'. The man was in all likelihood David Scott Mitchell, founder of the Mitchell Library. (The library, unfortunately, has no record of the manuscript's provenance. 99) Before the work was sent to Sydney, Petherick obtained permission to make a copy for his personal collection, whence the transcript entered the National Library of Australia. 100

  All the Markham manuscripts traced in Australian and New Zealand libraries - two originals and five transcripts - are thus accounted for; but the tale is not yet complete. In 1907, while cataloguing Clements Markham's Naval Career during the Old War, Petherick entered into correspondence with the author, informing him that transcripts of Edward Markham's two manuscripts were in his collection. As a result, Clements commissioned further transcripts (which were, properly speaking, transcripts of transcripts) for his own collection. These are now in the possession of a representative of the family, the Reverend Canon G. W. Markham of Grimsby, Lincolnshire. 101 If Alexander Turnbull's information concerning the number of transcripts of the New Zealand narrative was correct, only one major problem remains unsolved: where are the two undiscovered copies of the six originally commissioned by Francis Edwards?
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  New Zealand or Recollections of it

  by Edward Markham

  New Zealand or the Northern Island, as there are three, is known to the Natives by the name of Eaheinomawe. 102

  Feby 18th 1834. Crossed Hokianga Bar, in the Brig Brazil Packet Captain Crow, 103 having left Hobart town in Van diemans [Diemen's] land on the 7th of Feby at Noon. 104 Fellow Passengers Mr Oakes and Son 105 (N B will be a sad scamp)* Mr. Rogers, and a Mr. Phillips. 106 At noon on the 18th. MacLean [McLean] 107 came on board and Piloted her across the Bar. There is a rise of 16 Feet at Spring Tides 108 but the Breakers extend for three quarters of a Mile up, when there is any wind to speak of, and renders it a dangerous Bar. Six Ships have been lost there, 109 but now they do not use you worse on the Northern end of New Zealand, than they would on the Coast of Cornwall. As they only plunder your Ship, and formerly they killed and eat the Crew. They have some odd Ideas on this subject, but I shall touch on that on some future occasion.

  The moment you pass the Bar, there is deep Water. MacLean went out some ten years ago as Carpenter when a New Zealand company was formed in England, and they bought land which is theirs at this moment. They sent out numbers of people, under Capt Hird [Herd] but with what object I can not tell. 110 Martin the regular Pilot 111 had gone up the River with a Vessel the day before. The Currency Lass. 112 At 3 p m came to an Anchor at Parkinneigh [Pakanae] a Village and had I suppose 150 Natives on board and a par [pa] or Fort about 12 miles from the Heads. 113 12 Fathoms water and pretty close to the Rocks. The Mouth of the River

    North Head, South Head
  is a good land mark as the Heads are high. The Southern side is high Bluff land 300 feet or so, and dark from being covered with Fern or Brackens. The Northern is not quite so high but is quite white from being covered with Sand. When the Bar was crossed Canoes or in the Native Mourie [Maori] 114 Tongue, Walker [waka] Mouries, or Native Boats, boarded us, and Moyterrra [Moetara] 115 as the Europeans called him came on board and rubbed Noses with Captain Crow and Oakes and greeted all the Men, as the Vessel had been there the Voyage before, or properly speaking she was there now for the second time. Numbers came on board in the course of the day. Mr Oakes (brother to the Coll Oakes who hired the Casa Felicaja [Filicaja] Piazza d'ogni Santi [Piazza

  * The bracketed passage has been lightly struck out.
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  Ognissanti] 116 after the Turtons gave it up) called Moyterra aft, and presented him, with a Sword, Cloak and Letter from Coll Arthur the Governor of Vandiemans land. 117 The substance of which was to thank him for his Bravery on a late Occasion, when he had gone in force to rescue property plundered from the Schooner Fortitude belonging to Clindon [Clendon] J. Stepenson * when an action had taken place and each party lost eleven Chiefs, 22 being killed in half an hour. The Chief Moyterra cried out "How you now" [Heoi ano!] or enough, but this will lead to further details on the same subject. 118

  A very Original set of Tattooed Gentlemen cam aft and there was a grand Corrirow [korero] or Talk on the occasion, great Joy was depicted on all their Countenances, and they seemed to be making up for lost time in their Corrirow or Talk, as I am credibly informed that they had no representatives at Babel at the confusion of Tongues. Moyterra was very dignified on the occasion, he sent back two large Pigs, and a Cacahow [kakahu], mat, ** in return to Col Arthur, and said he should report this to his People and Friends at the time he gave his Sharkatty or Harkatty [hakari], meaning a Feast, which he was making preparations for, and did not get drunk till Evening which showed rather an Aristocratic feeling. N B. he got very drunk, and laid with his bottom bare. The Dog hearing him snore thought he was growling at him, and caught him by the part that was thus exposed, the consequence was that he covered himself with his Cacarhow or Native Cloak, and next morning, called us all to him and gave us occular demonstration by exposing the part affected on the Breakfast Table. The Cabin boy counted 8 Teeth marks and the Hout [utu] or Compensation money was 8 Figs of Tobacco. Crow made all hands of the Natives (or Tangata Mouries) give us some of their Dances. I thought the Decks would have been stove in, and I never saw Fifty Men dance and move together better. No troops seemed so well drilled as these and the Yells and contortions of these people were quite terrific. In the Evening we had. a second edition with variations as about 20 Young Ladies joined the dance before the house *** of Maclean and Nimmou [Nimmo]. 119 There I found Mr Chand [Shand?] 120 a Scotch man, well educated and doing the most menial Offices about the Establishment, as he would do any thing for drink, and if Grog was to be had, he would have no scruples if he could but get it but a man who had been articled as a writer to the Cygnet [Signet] in Edinburgh. Oh this is a Wicked World and full of Drink!! Oakes had brought an old Mare and a Foal for the Chief Moyterra and when she was landed the number of people looking at, and touching her, made her Savage; she kicked one, bit an other and played the Devil; she has thrown some of them repeatedly, but they can now manage her. All the Village (Kanger [kainga] Mourie) turned out to see the Horse rode, they call it (Karradie [kararehe] nui nui) or Big dog as they have no words to express it in their Language, as the only Animal a native of the Island is a Lizard (Dueterra) [tuatara]. Cats are imported, Dogs they seem to have a Native breed of but I believe they are not indigenous to the Island but obtained from some Ships that

  * Thus, but probably 'Clindon & Stephenson' was intended; the two men were at that time in partnership. 

 **The word 'mat' is a marginal interpolation; below Markham gives the more accurate rendering, 'cloak'. 

 *** At Parkieneigh 12 miles above the Heads. E. M.
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  have touched there. * They must have come from the South Sea Islands. 121 All the Europeans in the River were glad that the Governor had rewarded Moyterra, as they said it was the first time that a Governor of a Colony had taken any notice of a New Zealand Chief and they thought it would have a very beneficial effect on the minds of the people shewing them that we can reward as well as punish. 122 Mr Butler was Interpreter on the occasion, he speaks the Language perfectly like a Native, being the Son of one of the first Missionaries in the Island, and can turn it any way. He is badly off, and no one knows how he exists, but that is his Affair. 123 We were anxious to get up the River as Oakes and Crow had quarrelled, ergo he was not in good odour on board. He went the first day and took most of his Household affairs, but he was only taken down on Condition that he did not land his Investment till one Month after their arrival in New Zealand, so as not to interfere with Crow and he was obliged to abide by It, as he had made Crow his Enemy from want of Commercial Knowledge, and of Consistancy of Character. Oakes, his Son, Rogers, and the dogs, went up with what they could carry in the Boat of the Brig, but she was too full.

  1834 Feby 21st

  I went up the day after with Crow & Maclean in Captain Youngs 124 boat taking Venus. 125 The River is a fine, wide, and considerable body of Water, and the place I wanted to be put on shore at was about 30 miles from Parkinniegh. Ships of 400 Tons have gone thirty seven miles up above the last mentioned place. 126 On the left about eleven miles up Maclean showed us the remains of his House and Saw pits and sheds, that had been burnt by the enraged Relatives of the Chiefs that were [Marginal note: Mouta Coudy] killed at that place. Every Goat, Dog, Fowl (and fence burned) ** was killed, and every Log of Timber burned and then Tabbooed or Tappooed (rendered Sacred) [i. e., tapu]. The place is called Mouta Coudy [Motukauri]. About half way up the River on the left, the River narrows and turns to the Left, found a Conical Hill and 17 fins Water there. 127 The Scenery begins from this place to be beautiful, before it was only open but then you get Woods on both sides of you and the River much broader, and although there are deep Water Channels all the way up, yet there are Sands dry at low water, and it requires to go up and down the River, several times before you become acquainted with the sands. We came to the House of a Trader and Sawyer, named Fishwick a Yorkshireman 128 and had a Lunch of Pork and Potatoes and a glass of Rum, and got up the Coko, or Coho [Kohu] meaning Fog in the Mouri language. 129 The place where Oakes told me he had a beautiful House there was such a Scene awaiting me. Eight men, Europeans *** drinking Oakes's Hollands, and only one sitting room and bedroom with bed places built up like a Packet, we called them Standing Bed Places, and I was hungry, but they had possession of the Table, and what was worse the Pork and Grog, and Potatoes; they turned out and fought and I tucked in at the Pork, Potatoes and grog, and when I had dined I found my Temper much better. As before, I wished the Sawyers to serve each other as the cats at

  * Capt Cook left Dogs, Pigs &c on this Island. E. M. 

 ** Markham seems to have written first, 'Every Goat, Dog, Fowl and fence was killed', etc.; then, perceiving the error, he attempted to retrieve it by inserting 'burned' and placing the whole phrase within brackets. 

 *** The word has been interpolated.
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  Kilkenny, who eat each other up and left nothing but the tips of their Tails. I got my things into the House and took possession of a bed place, as six of us were to sleep in the narrow slip, the whole not 10 feet long. *

   
  1 Pantry, 2 and 4 Windows, 3 Door into the House, 5 Door of the bed room, 6, 7, and 8 standing bed places one over another, 9 Table, 10 Fire place put up after.

  The Above is the plan of little boarded Cottage or House, no Glass, no Lining. I went out and did not care who was licked, but looked on with perfect indifference. They were all fighting at once. I told young Oakes to put up the Pork and Hollands as I wished to get rid of the Visitors, and in the Course of the Evening they all paddled off, and I was not sorry to find them gone. But soon after the Natives mustered in great numbers about the House and became very troublesome, ** as they blocked up the Passages and stunk abominably, spitting every where, and always smoking; for some time, Three weeks I was very uncomfortable. The Fellows thieve so. You can not trust your own Servants. I found them one day melting our Pewter spoons to make Musket balls of, and the first Volume of my Voltaires, "Louis 14. et 15." torn up and made Cartridges of them. It may be conceived how angry I was, and I made them so too, for I caught up a Stick from the Fire and threw it among the Cartridges. Up they jumped as if the Devil kicked them, and most of them went off with some noise. Oakes decided on building a Ware house as in hot weather the Pork did not smell at all pleasant, and I decided on building a room at the end of it for my self nine feet square, which in due time I completed.

  I forgot to say that the young Man left at Coko, in charge of Oakes House and property was a Mr Kelly a native of Limerick, 130 and he had entered into partnership with a Mr Manning [Maning] and they sold [Marginal note: entre nous] Oakes Investment he giving ten pr Cent for the same. Kelly I liked, but not Manning, who had come out when a Child and knew no other Country than Van diemansland and his Ideas were as confined as the *** Country he had seen; he turned out, a double faced sneaking Thief. Kelly always did what he could to please me. Manning would have done Honor to the back Woods in America. 131 The New Zealand Forest is beautiful so different to that of Van diemans land. 132 The Amazing variety of Trees, and not one the same as you find in Van diemans land or New South

  * The last part of this sentence presents some problems of interpretation: 'slip' apparently refers to the whole bedroom and may be used metaphorically in the nautical sense, 'a space for vessels to lie in', or possibly in the ecclesiastical sense, 'a narrow pew in churches'; in the manuscript the final phrase, 'the .. long', is separated from 'slip' by the key to the plan, but it could hardly apply to the whole building and seems to go more appropriately with 'slip'. 

 ** The Natives lik[e] to see what each Kipooky [kaipuke] or Vessel brings to a Store. E. M. 

 *** 'they' in the manuscript.
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  Dammari [Dammara]Australis or Pinus Kauri [Marginal note]

  Wales. 133 The Coudy or Courie [kauri], as it is called, the New Zealand Pine, growing 80 or 90 feet without a branch and then branching out into a pretty Tree, something like the Pines I pinoc[c]hi of Ravenna on the Adriatic. A great quantity of white Transparent Gum is found about the root of the Coudie. I have seen them nine feet in Diameter, and no ripping Saw large enough to cut it as they are but ten feet, so the trees were split with Wedges. 

  Tanekaha Podocarpus Asplenifolius or Phyllocladus Trichomanoides [Marginal note]

  The great Trade from the Hokiangar River is sawn Timber, Potatoes and Indian Corn and Pork. Tarnicar [tanekaha] resembles Coudie in size but is more perishable wood and more yellow, like the Southern African Yellow Wood, and is not so much prized either in Hobart Town or Sydney. 

  Puriri Vitex Littoralis [Marginal note]

  Pouriedee [puriri] is a fine hard wood like Lignum Vitae, grows into immense trees, but you can not get planks out of it as the Worms which are bred in it, make places like Nail holes the size of a Mans finger. They use it for wall plates or bottoms of Houses, Keels of Boats and it might be applied to many purposes. It is heavy and burns well. I met Mr Cunningham * the Botanist at Sydney, 134 but he did not care to find out Trees, only plants. He did not think he was repaid by Forest Trees, but Flowers alone; there is a Noble field in the Native Forests. Kicaitere [kahikatea] is another Wood but not anything wonderful and I have not seen it put to any use. 

  Kahikatoa Leptospermum Scoparium 

  Kicaitore [kahikatoa] is Shrub with a strong Aromatic smell, a small leaf with a hard berry. 135 The roots of the tree runs on the surface of the ground. It grows Twenty feet high, **but in general it is not breast high. The appearance is like what in Van diemans land is called Tea Tree Brush and it has a pretty Flower. New Zealand Vine is species of Vine and grows on a tree not unlike an Elder tree; they can make a thick Wine from the fruit, but to swallow a Seed is deadly Poison. The Fruit is between a Currant and an Elder but it is useless in general. 136

   
   
   
  Hattay *** or Ettay [he ti] is a Tea tree, quite different to the Tea tree bush, a sort of myrtle; as Parr a Fort and Hipparr [he pa] a Fort in Cooke,

  * Since lost when on the expedition into the interior of NSW with Major Mitchell. E. M. 

 ** In the Ravines, the fires seldom hurt them. E. M. 

 *** The word has been crossed out by Markham.
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  is put down The Hip or Hit, * is only the Article. ** Tay, *** it is useless, it only grows eight to twelve feet and the bark rough, and does not change. It seems very often Solitary. Away from every other Tree. It grows at Sydney in the Gardens and most exposed places on the Noren Island. 137 The Mangrove grows in the Swamps and there is good Duck shooting among them. The Embers of Mangrove make the best Charcoal for Gunpowder, at least so I have heard; There are Thousands of Trees. The great variety of Forest Trees as well as Shrubs strikes a Stranger. The Pigeons live on berries of different Trees, and the Natives know what trees to look for them in, some times Pourriedies and also the Toi [tui] bird or Parson. It is dark black with a spot of Green not unlike the Spruleles **** of Caffer [Kaffir] land, with two bands under the Chin of white Feathers, slightly twisted outwards, but more of them in their place, calld Parson birds. Creepers of Various sorts are to be found in the Woods. One is particularly useful. It is like Ivy growing up large Trees, called Hoccar [he aka] and can be easily found in the Woods. It makes the best Boats Timbers I know of. 138 When Green it may be cut like Cheese so easily, and is trimmed and fitted to the Boat, and in three days is as Tough as Iron, and lasts for ever. I was living at a place called Okiarto [Okiato], in the Bay of Islands, at Clindon & Stephensons and they had a Deal Boat builder. He said it was the best Wood for Timbers he knew of. He used Gum tree from Sydney for Keels, Coudy planks, Hoc-car Timber and Kicaitore Knees, sometimes Pouriedie Keels. When the Hoc-car is brought in, It is cut in 6 feet lengths. It has the hairy kind of Roots ***** which most parasitical plants have. It will keep any time in Water without getting [Marginal note: Toro Toro] hard. A Creeper is used for binding up fences, as we would use Rope Yarns. 139 It is soaked first, or used quite fresh, for what is called (atie up) [taiapa] a fence to keep Goats out ****** of a Garden or to answer as a railing.

   
  This Creeper is thin and makes as good a Binder as can be had. In Southern Africa they would employ Thongs of Raw Hide for the same purposes. The 

 * The word has been crossed out by Markham. 

 ** The meaning seems to be: As 'Hip' represents the article in Captain Cook's 'Hipparr' (a fort), so does 'Hat' in 'Hattay'. The form used by Cook was in fact 'hippa' or 'hippah'. 

 *** Markham seems to have in mind the South African 'sprew', defined by the OED as 'A bird... characterized by its iridescent plumage; a glossy starling'. 

 **** Like Ivy. E. M. 

 ***** Eccentricities of punctuation add to the obscurity of this passage; Markham probably meant, 'for what is called a "tie up" [taiapa], a fence, to keep Goats out', etc.
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  New Zealanders use it in making their Huts. In tying the Rafters to the Ridge Pole, and in making their Parrs, the same Creeper is used, but I [Marginal note: Toro Toro] forget its name * Toro Toro [torotoro]. An other smaller Creeper is used, several twisted together as thick as a Mans Arm, like a Rope to keep the thatch on Houses. And you see such beautiful Flowers on the Tops of Trees, as you look from a Height down into the Wooded Ravines, but all these kind are great nuisances as you Travel in the Woods, as you are eternally caught by them and if you diverge from the Beaten Track, either to the Right hand or the left You lose ground with those you are with As all Tracks seem to be Pig tracks in the first instance Then the Natives Follow. There is a Troublesome Creeper like a Rattan that some time runs

   
  upon the Ground then rises. In some places you see them riseing straight up to the Branches of Trees like Ropes And the Wonder is how they could get up there as they grow to Forty feet, or even to much greater Heights. 140 They were always in my way when shooting Pigeons, and seemed there on purpose to stop and annoy me, and I vented my Spleen on them in return. There are Numbers of other Creepers but of no particular use. There is a yellow wood tree called Hayroiicar [horoeka]. I have a walking stick of this wood, Twists like a Creeper. 141

  There is a kind of Palm Tree, that grows in wet dark shady places, and the leaves are plaited together before they lay on the Thatch one over the other; 142 the Thatch is the Toie Toie [toetoe] a kind of Flags that is used for the Huts, 143 and an other more like what our Coopers use for putting between the seams of a Cask, called Rappoo [raupo]. 144 If a hut takes fire

  * Markham originally left a blank space after 'name' and later, remembering the word, inserted 'Toro Toro' here and in the margin.

 Page 36
   
  it burns as if it had been steeped in Oil. I saw a Hut burnt in a few minutes and the light might be seen for miles. Ferns I believe there are Sixty different Species of Ferns in New Zealand, 145 and whole Tracts of Country are covered with Fern. It is burnt annually and the Missionaries Cattle browse on the Young Shoots. Where Cattle have constantly Trod Grass will Spring up, * but in no part of the Island, will you see Grass, till Cattle have been there. 146 It seems to be like rolling a Grass plot, and you will see on the edge of a footpath a little grass beginning to grow.

  The whole face of the Country where it is not Forest is Covered with this Kicaitore and Fern or the New Zealand Flax.

  One Species of Fern is Parasitical; the plant is about 6 inches long and grows on Trees particularly in damp shady Ravines. 147 I have seen a Tree feathered like a Bantams leg with these beautiful little Ferns, some have their Seeds on the under part of the leaf. I do not know if this be the case with those in England. Not recollecting to have observed it there. Formerly The Fern was and is to this day an Article of Food to the People and Pigs. 148 The Boys often showed what was best to eat. It ought to be young just coming up from the last years burning. Their Pork is Pigs almost entirely fed on the Fern Root. The Pigs turn up all the face of the Country, particularly where the soil is richest; and are in the most beautiful Order possible from it. I have seen Fern tied up in the Verandahs of the Missionaries huts, from eleven to fifteen Feet in height. I have seen it growing seven or 8 feet myself, but Those very long ones Came from some favored Spots in the Southern parts of the Island and were taken back with them for the sake of Curiosity. The Roots are Terrible; I

  * Where the Cattle have fed for some time the Grass springs up and kills the fern. E. M.
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  witnessed the breaking up of some land belonging to the Missionaries, or one of their Sons, a Mr Davis, a Dorsetshire Farmer in Former times; 149 the Horses [w]rung their Shoulders and there were 8 of them, each root as thick as my finger. 

  Rappoo [Marginal note]

  Rappoo is a Flag or Marsh Reed, used in England by Coopers to put between Staves of Casks; it grows in Marshes and wet places, and makes a very warm hut or House. The Europeans put up Frames of Houses and door ways and Windows. They sometimes line the Inside with Reeds and Rappoo tied against the frame, making a House warm but in case of Fire very dangerous, as you have no time to save a thing. The Reed gives a finished appearance to the Rooms, which they can never have from Rappoo. Some of the Native Chapels are done this way. 150

   
  Ferns vide Yates New Zealand [Marginal note]

  Mr Davis formerly a Dorsetshire farmer is now Head of the Agricultural Farm belonging to the Missionaries at Why-Mattie [Waimate], where they were breaking up land. The Fern roots were like Ropes inch and a half or two inch ropes, and the Plough was drawn by 8 or 6 Horses; some had their Shoulders wrung or hurt from the severe Work. The Climate is lovely and fine Volcanic Soil will grow any thing. The Fern as used by the Natives is the Root roasted, and then they take a Flat and a round Stone and beat it. You may see the Cookee [kuki] * or Slave

  Cookee or Slave [Marginal note]

  * Merely a Maori form of the English 'cook'. Polack gives this explanation: 'Slaves are also termed kuki from the English word cook, the occupation of the culinary art being confined principally to that class of people.' - New Zealand, II, 110-11.
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  doing that, and throwing it to the Chief or Rangitara [rangatira] or his Wife. *

  In former times when a Chief died two Cookees or Slaves were killed, that they might Cook for him and roast his Fern root for him on his Passage to the North Cape. Where they had an Idea of some Future State under ground: but I forget what they were to get there but there was a kind of Purgatory. 151

  From Feby 21st to 30th of June 1834 [Marginal note]

  Coko or Coho [Kohukohu] is now to become my place of Abode, for some time, four Months. The House or as the Natives call it (Wurrie puppar) [whare papa] or Wooden House, The House was built some time ago by a Captain Clarke [Clark] who it seems lived indiscriminately with the Three daughters of the Chief and had a Child by one of them, who, the Mother, ** died of a broken heart or Madness; she became a Cow warrie [kuware] (or Fool, Idiot). 152 The Chief her Father is known by the name of Wurrie puppar [Wharepapa] (or Wooden House); 153 he is Head of the most Thieving Tribe in the River, the Ki tootis [Kaitutae], or Dung eaters as they were reduced to eat their own Excrements when besieged in the Island of Moutetu [Motiti] about a mile and a half distant. 154 Moyterra canonaded them for three days, some years back. He has three 12 pounders, and got some Sawyers to mount them, and build plat forms in his War Canoes.

  The Koco [Marginal note]

  The Coco, is a beautiful spot well adapted for the River Trade. There was about three Acres cleared by Kelly, before we arrived, and Potatoes in it and other things, but when Oakes got there he made Confusion, Rows and fights. He had a lease of this place from Wurrie puppar, for 6 months but four were expired and he wanted to buy the place, and there was great jealousy in the River about his getting it and long and disagreeable talk took place, Oakes leaving it to Kelly and Manning to settle and when they Purchased it *** Oakes came blundering in, and put an end [to] the negotiations ] for it by some folly of his, got into a rage and made himself so detested, that the Natives told him to his Teeth, that if he got it, they would put (Corpora) [kapura] Fire to it. I have seen that man in presence of Fifty Natives, draw his knife and going to Stab a man for taking out of the frying pan two or three slices of fried Potatoes, as he had never seen them before so cooked. The Men though sitting still and not speaking but their blood getting up, had their Muskets in their hands, and if they had once taken Blood, ten to one all the Europeans on the Settlement would have been shot. That Mad Fool compromised us very often by the Passions he gave way to. For the first three weeks we were much annoyed by Numbers of Natives coming and lounging about and stealing. You can not turn them off and can hardly get rid of them. But no one in the place knew enough of the Language to keep up a Conversation so we had recourse to Jacky Mamont [Marmon],

  * I have seen the front teeth worn down to the Gums with eating the fern Root in old People. E. M. 

 ** The phrase 'the Mother' was interpolated later. J Earl[e] alludes to this Island. E. M. 

 *** NB. Oakes wanted to purchase the place but he had not the means. E. M. ** The phrase 'the negotiations' is inserted in the margin.
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  a noted character * who had been on the Island fourteen years, and speaks better than even the Missionaries do. Oakes soon made an enemy of the Man, instead of a Friend, as he is a lawless kind of an Animal; he is mentioned by Rutherford Memoirs published in the Entertaining Library. 155 We had then recourse to others, and some other Trading establishment (Show racky) [Horeke] belonging to Macdonald [McDonnell] and Russel[l] 156 who did all they could to prevent the purchase from takeing place. As they did not see the use of Rivals in the River.

  I have seen three Canoes or Walker Mouries comeing. You could hear them on the still water for Miles, and see them paddling a regular stroke, to two or three words. Give way, pull hard, hoy-yah, Toy-dah, hoy yah [hoea, toia, hoea], and some others that I forget now. Of Course getting louder as getting nearer. The Chief standing up cheering them, with a kind of Spear headed Stick, a patoo [patu]. ** New Zealanders are a fine Race of People in this quarter of the Northern Island (Ea hei nomawe) in the Hokianga River, but filthy dirty, stink as bad as Caffres. Their Cacahows are very often lousy, and they rub themselves with grease and Red Pigment and if they can get Turkey Feathers they put them in their Hair, *** And the down of the Albatross in their Ears in addition to their other Ornaments, such as Sharks Teeth, The piece of Iron that the belts or sling of Muskets are made fast to, at the muzzle end of the Stock of a Musket, A few buttons, and even beads. ****

   
  The Face is Tattooed, but Earls faces are the best, And Rutherfords picture in the book intitled New Zealand, In the Library of entertaining

  * Rutherford speaks of him having met him at Kipara [Kaipara]. E. M. 

 **The weapon Markham described is in fact not a patu but a taiaha. 

 *** The Caffers in Southern Africa do the same. E. M. 

 **** I have seen a bird just shot down put into an ear. E. M.
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  Knowledge. I saw at the Cape a book published by Yates [Yate] the Missionary but did not read it but it struck me that the plates were badly done. 157 Cacahows are now getting very scarce and a Ki tuck-er [kaitaka] or Mat Cacahow, [with] ornamented borders, * is rarely to be seen in the present day. Major Cruise has published a book some years ago, but I have heard he pirated the book 158 and ** Shungie [Hongi] 159 the great Chief that came to England was very highly Tattooed, but they wear now English Blankets both men and Women and the Thicker and larger of course the better. They have no other Costume except a mat which goes round the Middle nearly down to the Knees. I have seen some very fine Creatures and even beautiful. The Breasts are uncovered in warm weather, and an unmarried Woman takes it as a compliment for you to put your hands on them, but if Married you must be careful about taking liberties before a third person, particularly if she is a Chiefs Wife. A Waheininu [wahine nui] or fine Girl always looks out for a Tangata Mar [ma] (a White Man) if he has been any length of time in the Country or a Parkiah [pakeha], Stranger, Tarney [tane] a Husband. As they give the Father a Musket or the Mother a Blanket, and find it profitable to have their Daughters living with Europeans. But I have known a Chief send his Wife to live with a European at the same time saying that he should call for 20lb of Tobacca in a day or two but it was perfectly understood that he could resume her when wanted. All the Sawyers live with the Native Women. In fact it is not safe to live in the Country without a Chiefs daughter as a protection as they are always backed by their Tribe and you are not robbed or molested in that case; they become useful and very much attached if used well, and will suffer incredible persecution for the Men they live with. ***

  At the end of the Month Oakes got all his traps on shore from the Brazil Packet She having come up the River to the Mouth of the Oreedar [Orira] River 3 miles from Munghune [Mangungu] the name of the Weslyan Missionaries Establishment, and in sight of the Coco but six miles distant. When the Things were on Shore, All the Sawyers on the River came down, and the Cask of Spirits was brought on Shore. What a Scene of Drinking and Fighting for two days. Eighteen Irish Devils not a bit more civilized than the New Zealand[er]s who were holding lighted Rappoo on the beach that they might fight by the light. I was certainly ashamed that Europeans could degrade themselves so before their New Zealand Boys, but so they did and Oakes was the Cause of it all. Poynton a Sawyer 160 lent me a Boat so I was independent of Oakes for that and Moyterra lent me four Boys or Young Men. I was to give a fig of Tobacca (Rah Tabboo) **** [ra tapu] every Sunday, and as much potatoes as they could eat, some Pork, (and a Boy will eat from 20 to 30lb. of Potatoes a day) and a Blanket each at the end of two Moons, (agreed to). The Boat was Carver [carvel] built ***** and

  * The phrase 'ornamented borders' is a marginal interpolation. 

 ** I heard that it was written by a subaltern officer on board who asked him to read it, and that the Major copied it, and published it as his own but I do not vouch for it. E. M. 

 *** For Instance Harry Pearsons lady, vide -60 & 82. E. M. 

 **** The bracketed phrase is misplaced; it translates 'Sunday', not 'Tobacca'. 

 ***** The term 'carvel-built', according to the OED, is 'applied to a vessel "the planks of which are all flush and smooth, the edges laid close to each other... in contradistinction to clinker-built, where they overlap each other."'
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  I bought Canvass for a Sail, fitted the Mast, False Keel, Bilge peices and rudder so I could go Duck and Pigeon shooting when I liked. And she had her own Pole put down six or eight feet to make her fast to before the door, but Master Oakes covetted both her and the Boys too, and was going to kick and Cuff them. * Moyterra told me when I got them that they were not to be beat or struck and said Oakes should not have them, as he was altogether Notorious for his Rows with the Natives. He being known as the Kangaroo having Trowsers of Skin with the Fur on them like a Stock keeper at Van diemans land. 

  March [Marginal note]

  The beginning of this Month I went up the Mouna Mouca [Mangamuka], or Black flax River Twenty five miles above the Coko, to a Native Village (Kangar Mourie). There are Eleven different Sawyers settled up this River; some bought land, In fact most of it; about 20 Europeans living up there. I went up with Poynton, took 2 pieces of Pork, 2 or 3 Kits of Potatoes, a bottle of Rum. Poynton understands their Customs and is a pretty good Linguist, ** The River is beautiful. Fine Woods on both sides, here and there the Mud banks covered with Mangroves. Shot some King fishers and a Duck or two. As you get higher up the River the Native Settlements become thicker. They are all Missionaries as they call the Christians *** and the Sawyers Houses mostly Weather boarded and lined. Some of them very nice and their Saw pits Sheded over, and Thatched and convenient for Water carriage. As the Coudie Forests is on the tops of the Hills all the way up and down the River. There is something so beautiful in the Rivers in this Country. A Stillness, fine sky over head! no Noise! now and then a Fish will leap or King fisher dart down and a beautiful little Bird called a 

  Colly Mocko [Marginal note]

  "Colly Mocko" **** who flutters about a Flower more like a Butter fly with all his feathers spread so that he looks large, but is not the size of a Wall-nut. 

  Pea Walker [Marginal note]

  There is an other small bird called a Pea Walker [piwakawaka]. The Natives call Russel at Showracky, Pea Walker as he is a very diminutive Fellow.

  We at length arrived as near the head of the River as Boats can go, for fallen Timber. At a native settlement, The Chief and Priest for he is Tabbooed, gave me a small hut to sleep in and cut fresh Palm leaves, and a clean Mat for me to sleep on, but in the first instance, I laid down in the front place of his Hut, a sort of Audience Chamber on clean Mat. Venus awoke me by killing a Rat close to me; about Sunset we had Pork and Potatoes and a Glass of Grog and lay down after to Talk by the light of the Fire. The Chief asked a number of questions. I was called a Rangatara tara, or great Chief ***** come to see other Countries, and he asked me if I had a Waheinee [wahine]! No. Would I like one? Certainly. Then take my daughter. Which I did in New Zealand fashion. I took her out of his Womens Hut, She screaming till I put her into the Hut drest out for me.

  * Our first quarrell was about my boys. E. M. 

 ** Poynton was sent to NSW for white Boyism. E. M. The Whiteboys were members of a secret Irish agrarian association and were so called because they wore white shirts over their other clothes to distinguish each other during night raids. 

 ***I have seen 10 or 12 cannoes full of Natives go down this River, to the Wesleyan Mission on the Saturday afternoon ready for the Sunday. E. M. 

 **** 'Colly Mocko' suggests korimako, the bell bird, but the description points rather to the fantail {piwakawaka) which Markham goes on to mention. 

 ***** A mistranslation; the only complimentary meanings of tara that fit the context are 'quick', 'active', or 'distant'.
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  The Row ceased and no further opposition was offered. Next morning we all went about 7 miles inland to a large Settlement To see a New Zealand Wake. I crossed a Stream a dozen times, mostly on a Mans back called a (Pekow [pikau] is to carry Upanga [hapainga], lift me up). * I shot some small birds by the way. We had to go through Cultivation mostly all the way. 

  Tarraw or Yam [Marginal note]

  Indian Corn, potatoes and Cumeras [kumara] or Sweet potatoes, Tarraw [taro] a kind of Yam. The Tarras comes I believe from the South

   
  sea Islands. It grows about three feet from the Ground but it is not good. I was very fond of the Cumeras, and Venus got so knowing, that she used to go and Overhaul all their Canoes for them, as they keep them cold, boiled. The land was rich on all sides and plentiful Crops of Maize or Indian Corn. Numbers of Immense Trees sticking up here and there half Burnt and blackened, in the midst of the Corn and showing that it could not have been in cultivation many years, having been all Forest. At last we came to the Village and were received by the Dogs in advance, but we

  Peaches [Marginal note]

  found some two or three hundred people sitting about in groups. I had Peaches given me in quantities, and have no doubt that some day the Natives will have all sorts of Fruits and Vegetables. On arriving I was requested to fire my two Purra [tupara] as the Natives call a double barreled Gun, in honour of the (Mattie Noue) [mate nui] dead. She was a young lady, who had been living with a Man named Cockrane [Cochrane] a Sawyer. 161 She was to be buried the next day, and we saw her laid out on a Mat with her Cacahow over her as if she was asleep, with her Hair drest out with Feathers. You often see a red Box in which the Bodies are put, till

  Tabboo or Tappoo [Marginal note]

  the flesh is rotted off. 162 Then the Priest scrapes the bones, or some people are Tabbooed for the purpose. When people are Tabbooed they are fed by Children, and they must not touch food with their own hands. There were people crying and very like an Irish howl going on, and plenty of Potatoes scraped. The place was a dead Flat in a Valley of high Wooded Hills on either side. I then took a walk round the settlement. A fine running stream over a gravelly bed winding through the Valley. Near the

  * Though the meaning of this sentence is fairly clear, punctuation and syntax are even more defective than usual: pikau means to carry on the back; hapainga is the passive form of hapai, lift up, raise.
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  Huts were plenty of Peach trees with Peaches on them. I saw the Potatoes on (Wutters) [whata] for the first time; there are two sorts, one is four upright Posts, 20 or 30 feet high and floored over like a hurdle so far apart that they can get their hands Through, and the Potatoes are in Kits * or Baskets said to average 60 lb weight. They are drawn up and stowed and then Thatched over for some Months till They are wanted. The Rats attack them so that they have hit upon an ingenious plan of putting bark all round the upright Posts and trees, and the Rats get up into a kind of Extinguisher all round the Tree or Wutter but the Rats can not mount. Air being given from below they keep well. I have seen a Wutter or Plat form 80 feet above ground in an immense Tree all the Branches cut off and a Platform well secured, and the Potatoes on it and thatched over. 163 They have no Frosts of any consequence to hurt them during their Winter, but I know to my cost, it is very Cold and I enjoyed a fire very much during the cold weather. The Natives wanted Venus as she was very much admired at this settlement. I was very much afraid of losing her. We returned the seven miles but found the Tide, ti Puddie [taipari] or Ebb Tide, ** had

   
   
  made so that the Boat would not float, so we staid that night. So we Cooked our Pork and Potatoes, drank my Grog and took a Stroll. I was delighted in seeing Miss Awattie *** [Watea?] having a Swim, previous to her taking up her abode in my Hut this night. No noise this evening; like a good girl she was awaiting her Lord; in the morning we had Potatoes done the Native way. I had to pay for my Nights amusement and asking Poynton how it

  * Markham may be using the Maori kete, 'basket made of flax', the English 'kit', meaning knapsack or valise, or a combination of both; the similarity between the two words and their respective referents has added to the New Zealand idiom a distinctive term of which this may be an early example. 

 ** The Maori phrase literally means flowing tide. 

 *** The 'A' which Markham prefixes to this and other personal names is probably the vocative 'E', corresponding to the English 'O'.
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  was to be managed, he advised me to give my Shirt so I took my Shirt off and gave it to the Priest her Father. A Box of Lucifers to light the pipe of her Lady Mother. A Pocket handkerchief to the young lady herself. And wishing the Aimable Family Good day returned down the River to the Coco, with a beautiful breeze. There was a laugh at my Expence at the Coco, about the Shirts and my Boys told the others and they were very Facetious on the Subject and every body knew what I had been about up and down the River.

  Coppre [kopa] Mourie, or the Native Ovens are described I rather think in Captain Cookes Voyages. They are done this way. They scratch a hole 8 or 10 inches deep and two Feet in Diameter and then light the Fire in the hole; when the fire is at its best They cover it all over with Stones The size of Potatoes or what you would put on the roads in England.

   
  They are well heated and [when] the fire dies down a wet cloth of Mat is put round the edge. The Potatoes having been scraped with Shells, are laid on the hot stones. A small Calebash of Water is thrown over the Stones & Potatoes and fire first taken out, a tremendous steam arises, and a wet mat is laid over all and then covered up with six or seven inches of Earth,
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  left for three quarters of an hour, and then they are beautifully done so you see these Potato Pies. The Natives now begin to use Iron pots, known to them by the name of, "Go on Shores," * from the circumstance of Boats going up and down the Rivers, coming to an Anchor and going on Shore to Cook, but the Natives prefer the Old plan and I think they are right. When they kill men they Cook them in this way. Pork requires two hours, but Human Flesh four. One day dining with a Sawyer up the Oredou [Orira] River he had a beautiful sucking pig done in the Copper Coppre Mouri; helping me he asked me if I would have some of the stuffing. I of course said yes, when to my surprise he took four or five hot stones from the inside and enjoyed the joke. 

  Cockle sauce [Marginal note]

  The Dog was a bit of an Epicure in his way and gave me a sauce of Cockles done in hot Lard as there is nothing else in the Country, so one learns to go without. Monsieur Oude [Ude] does not give Cockles and Pig together, and I do not recollect eating them at Verry's [Very's] or the Caffe de Paris; at Rome one must do as they do at Rome, but Hokianga is different. 164 

  Pippies Cockles [Marginal note]

  I have many times made a grand Meal in a Kanga Mouri or Native Village on Pippies [pipi], sitting round the Coppre Mouries, each helping themselves till all was done, then I would give the Natives, a dram of Rum to wash it down. 

  Why Pirah Stinking Water [Marginal note]

  It used to be called Why Pirah [waipiro] or Stinking Water. Now they call it Why Pie [pai] or good Water. They like now to get Showrangy [haurangi], or drunk if they can. The Young Ladies learn to like it on board the Whalers' in the Bay of Islands.

  Talking of Pippies, they tell a Story of some Chiefs or Rangatara's at a Sharkatty or Feast; the subject of Conversation was, what is often talked over, who was the prettiest Girl in that part of New Zealand. A Gourmand Cut a Joke, which cost the people in the place very dear. He said that the Whyhienee [wahine] or prettiest Girl, was Why heckie [Waiheke] in that part of the Country. Now Why heckie was the name of a bed of Pippies or Cockles, in the River. In consequence of this Pun which was considered so good was that the Cockles were with all due ceremony, Tabbooed to the use of the Chiefs, and the people of a Village obliged to migrate to an other part of the Coast in consequence of the Gastronomic punning Rangatara. Oh Tempore O Mores. Up the Mouna Mouca River I saw at a Settlement a Number of people with Bibles, and one face a Woman's extremely Handsome. She told Poynton she would have liked to have lived with me, but that she was Tabbooed to a Chief who was going to Marry her. I forget her name but one evening, one of my Boys came and told me that, a Waheinee pi wanted to speak to me. She got out of the Walker Mourie and came into my Room, and gave me an hours Tete a tete Tabbooed or not, and then she went up the River. I provided her with Pipes and Tobacca.

  * Elsewhere Markham uses the more usual form 'go ashore', probably a corruption of the Maori 'kohua', a vessel for boiling food by means of heated stones.
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  March 5th 1834 [Marginal note]

  At Last this House and Grounds was purchased by Messrs. Kelly and Manning, the boundaries perambulated, and Marks set up and defined, as Oakes could not afford to buy it for his Son as he had wished. * Two Coppies made out, one translated into Mourie by Butler and the payment made of 2 Casks of Tobacco 170lb each, 1 Keg of Gun Powder, 25lb. and 1 double barreled Gun and some lead. Whole days had been consumed in making the Bargain, as that Genious of Discord, Oakes, undid by his mad interference all that had been agreed on.

  That Old Cannibal Wurrie Puppur Chief of the Tribe of Kitouties, sold the land belonging to his Grandson young Clerk [Clark]. Captain Clerk was drowned going down to Parkeneigh; he had broken the Heart of the Mother by taking another Sister into favor & discarding her. The Weather since I have been in the Country has been the most Heavenly that can be imagined; had I had the ordering of it my self, It could not have suited it better. As the Tide serves, I some times bathe twice a day, and Venus swims off to me and tries to get upon my back scratching me not a little. Fine and Moon light Nights I go and sleep in the Bush as the House is full of Fleas, Mosquitoes and Sand flys or Nammouies [namu]. They bite and make bad places on New Comers, but when perfectly acclimatized they leave you alone. I sleep out at night under two large Pouriedie Trees, and Venus will have her share of the Blanket, but any thing is better than the House.

  Fish is very fine here. Partikies [patiki] or Soles, are speared with a Bayonet or a stick at night the flood tide coming in; the Boys go in the Water six inches deep and hold blazing Rappoo over their heads, something like Salmon fishing in Scotland. Mullet is very plentiful and Snappers, and half a dozen different kinds of fish. The Natives understand the use of the Seine Net as they have been seen half a mile in length as a whole Tribe will have a grand fishing Match, but for Europeans who do not know the customs of Tabboo's it is rather dangerous, ** Each Family will contribute its quota of 100 fathoms; it is made of Koraddy [korari] or Flax undrest split green and worked up. They make Baskets or Kits as we call them for Potatoes and A Chief or Head of a Familly has a clean basket made of

   
  Koraddy for his plate of potatoes or Indian Corn boiled every meal. 

  Indian Corn in a Putrid state or state of decomposition [Marginal note]

  The New Zealanders have a most unwholesome food, Indian Corn when green or half ripe; it is good plain boiled or baked in the ashes, but they will throw down in the gravelly bed of a running Stream 500 heads of Cobs of Corn at a time and leave them for two Months until the Cob or Core is completely rotten. The Corn stinks terribly in this state when they eat it boiled. The Consequence is they have Scrofula or Consumption and is one reason for the decreasing Population. 165 Another is that now they live down

  * New arguments in conveyanceing propounded, vide appendix, page 53; 3 new claimants. E. M. 

 ** Marians [i. e. Marion du Fresne's] people were cut off in consequence of breaking a taboo; each family adds say 20 fms of the Net. E. M.
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  by the Water side instead of their Parrs on the Tops of Hills, as they did in Warlike times, being now in Humid wet places instead of being elevated above the Fogs and Malaria. * 

  Half Salted or dried fish [Marginal note]

  Their Fish too is often half dried and eaten in a putrid state having been dipt in Salt water, and dried in the Sun and taken no care of. ** They dry the Pippies, Mutton fish, (Snappers, Shark &c for their Feasts. The Wife of one of the Missionaries told me that if one of their Servant Girls gets a Cough they quite tremble for the consequence, and they are so thoughtless. I have seen people shutting themselves up in their Huts with a fire and their eyes Watering from the smoke, and some of their Woods stink very much in burning for instance the Caraceer or Cracker [karaka] as we call it, which Tree has a fruit with a Kernel that is kept till it smells sour and nasty and then they eat it. The Smell of the Cracker smoke impregnates the Cacahows with this sour smoke and Tobacco also, as from the Child at the Breast (Tomities [tamaiti] *** Children) to the person just going their last long journey of Death, 

  Tobacco current Coin [Marginal note]

  They eternally smoke Tobacca, and all the Europeans down there do the same. If you send a Boy with a Note he has a fig of Tobacco, or doing any thing for you if he does not belong to you the same; to get a Man to go out to Fish for you you must give him Tobacco.

  Blankets worn as Clothing [Marginal note]

  An other cause in my opinion for the prevalence of Consumption arises from their Blankets as I have seen a Man with three Blankets on almost all Summer, but a distant friend came, he gave him a Blanket, a relation came, he gave him a second, and when the Winter set in, He was ill from Cold, as he was worse provided for then than he had been in the Summer. They use them at all times for Clothing instead of keeping them for the bed, and the Wind in the Winter blows through them. **** A cold dry piercing Blast in exposed situations. The last month I was at the Hokianga was very wet and dirty, I have often scraped a Ton of Mud off the floor with a Hoe, but in the Bay of Islands it is much drier and more delightful in Winter; to be sure an Easterly gale there is bad, but you have them only now and then. The Hokianga is the Western Coast, and the South West winds from the Southern Ocean is cold as Charity in Winter.

  Sunday [Marginal note]

  I went to Munghune the name of the Wesleyan Missionary Establishment to Church with Oakes, found him a bad God father. We heard a Chief speaking to his Country men a few words and Morning and Evening Service was performed. Mr Whiteley & Mr Woon 

  Mr White from Darlington

  The two Missionarys 166 asked us into a small Cottage built by Mr White the Principal, a Carpenter by Trade; he was on a Tour to the Southward, at Whycatto [Waikato] where he is pitching on Two places for new Missionary Stations. 167 There were two hundred people there this morning. The Missionaries Houses are very comfortable. We had a piece of Bread and a glass of Wine. I thought we were coldly received at first, but soon they took me on one

  * They lay down on the Ground not Elevated above a foot of High Water Mark. E. M. 

 ** Fish is some times hung over the fire to get smoked. E. M. 

 *** The haliotis or paua. 

 **** Of which the plural is tamariki. 

 ***** They light fires inside their huts and make it like an oven, then get into their cannoes and get a sudden chill. E. M.
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  Oakes [Marginal note]

  side, and told me that they should be happy to show me any Civility in their power, but that I was in company of a very Indiscreet Man to give it the mildest term. I thought Mrs. White rather a pretty looking Woman, and [at the same time met] Mr Cunningham * from Sydney, the Colonial Botanist, in search of Flowers. I should say far from a good field for them but Creepers and Climbing plants by Hundreds. He said he did not care for the Forest trees and that is decidedly the finest Study in this Country. Whitely and Woon invited me to come next Sunday. I accepted their invitation and returned with Oakes. We employed ourselves for four or five days in making a Verandah to our House. It was as good as an other room to it and in Working in the garden and putting up Fences. I bought three Goats and their kids from Butler, so we had milk to our Tea, but our Flour was all out and we had no Biscuit or Bread for nearly five Months. The Boys called the Goats Nanny Nannys and the Male Billy and [were] very fond of them. I began to get tired of Pork and Potatoes but for nine Months I had to live on it, and I at the end did not wish for change. Salted it is best, but we tried different plans about it and killed two and three at a time. I spoilt it by putting too much salt petre into the Pickle and tried to make it keep but the heat would not allow that in general. Duck and Pigeon shooting with Fishing were our grand amusements and that was our only change from Potatoes and Pork, Pork and Potatoes where ever we went. 

  Porka Porka [Marginal note]

  Their Pork is a great article of Trade. I got for one Blanket, two large Pigs 200 lb each and three smaller ones for an other. Every pig has his name in the Native Villages and they are sent out as in Germany, and come home, and are put in to their own Hut or Styes, and given three or four heads of Indian Corn. The Sows at stated times go into the Woods, and find their Lords and having done Rural for some time return to more Civilized life and better food and bring up a squeaking Family fully proving that they had loved. Vessels come up the Hokianga and buy and Salt all the Pork they can, say 20 Tons at a time and take it up to Hobart Town and Sydney, and have got 60£ a Ton for what stood them in three or four and in the same way they have bought Potatoes at 12/- a Ton and sold them for 12£, but then only small Vessels come, and it is Cent pr Cent upon halfpence, and the Sawn Plank is very cheap in the Colonies and lately there is some prejudice against the New Zealand Pine. 168

  Pigs in Barter Potatoes the same [Marginal note]

  They give five large Pigs up the Whyhoe [Waihou] River for an old double barelled Gun and they barter for most things now. The Natives give Potatoes even for bars of Soap and ten Kits of Potatoes for a spade and five for a Hoe. The Tasmanian Lass passed down to Hobart Town. Oakes and Manning went on board. I wrote to Hewitt to say that I should send back to Captain Bannister the Hundred Sovereigns with which I had been intrusted, As the accounts Oakes had given him were too highly coloured as he deceives every person connected with him. 169

  Browns House [Marginal note]

  There is a Comfortable House belonging to a Man of the name of Brown a run away Convict, 170 as most of my friends are of that Class, such as Poynton a White Boy, and Oakes wanted it; he not being very Serious told him he would let him have it for a 100£ Cash. Oakes when in Hobart

  * Lost in the Interior of N S Wales when on a tour of discovery with Major Mitchell 2 years afterwards. E. M.
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  town told it to Captain Bannister the Sheriff, and he met me the morning I was going to join the Brazil Packet, and requested a few minutes conversation and put a 100 Sovereigns into my hand together with a letter of Instructions for my guidance to buy if I thought it advisable The House and Lands and Boat of this said Brown. I saw the House and garden a mere Island, and the House was of no use whatever without the Forest that belonged to it. And he could get three hundred pounds for that, from people in the River and could not be of the slightest use to Bannister, so decided on sending the Money back to Hobart Town, by the Brazil Packet when she should sail.

  Kelly and Manning built an other room to the House, as a Warehouse, soon after I arrived * I commenced a small room nine feet square and made progress, and then got two young Carpenters to finish it when it stood still for a week in consequence of Moyterras Sharkatty or Feast, about to commence. 171 

  Sharkatty or Feast or Harkatty [Marginal note]

  I wanted to see the sort of thing and went with three or four Men to see it and found at Parkineigh 20 Europeans who were Guests of different Chiefs. One Man said this is my Father in Law Sir put up here for the three days. The Encampment of 3000 to 4000 New Zealanders ** all armed and scattered about was a curious sight. The Number of Canoes, Women and Children. I found myself quietly seated with my friend the Priest from the Mouna Mouca River, and his Family and in the Evening a Temporary Hut was got up by Madlle Awattie and things took their usual course.

  1st day

  The Feast was about to Commence. Moyterra *** mounted on Oakes' old Mare came on the ground. Rubbed Noses with the Chiefs and Europeans and then proceeded to distribute his Potatoes, Baked Pigs, Sharks, Mutton Fish and Pippies dried, and a Cow had been bought and killed and cut up. **** Moyterra had some 4000 Bags of Potatoes stowed in long line, three bags high like a wall; supposing them to contain 60 lb each kit worth 18£ a Ton, they were computed to be worth 2000£ in Sydney Market, independent of the Baked Pigs spread Eagle fashion with toutes les Agremens. He served out the Potatoes to the Chiefs, according to their followers, and when that was done, The Potatoes were carried to the different Encampments, and speedily each party was hutted, or put up Huts, and then Cooking began for that Evening; next morning Pork and Potatoes was the order of the day, and I had brought salt and Grog so I was all right, the Fleas and Mammooes [namu] very bad. About noon the different Parties mustered to the amazing number of 3000. Men in Squares, nearly every man had his Musket, some with Swords, and Paddles and sprang up on one leg screeching, Yelling, Sweating and Makeing, Every horrible Contortion of Face and Limb that can be conceived; there were four or five Divisions from 3 to 400 in each, Moyterra in his Cloak and Sword, mounted and standing General on the occasion. They all moved upon the Beach and acted Sham Fights, running here and there in compact

  * The words 'soon... arrived' have been interpolated and almost certainly modify 'commenced'. 

 ** They put up tempory Huts, for Cheifs familys. E. M. 

 *** With boat cloak and sword. E. M. This marginal note clearly refers to Moetara, and 'boat' seems to be adjectival, perhaps meaning 'naval' (though it is described elsewhere as 'Military') or possibly 'brought by the boat'. 

 **** Vide 61 the Plunder of the fortitude. E. M.
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  Masses or Squares Yelling and screeching and springing up from the ground, and throwing the Butt end of the Muskets into the Air, and making the very Sands tremble, then squatting down on their Hams, and fireing Ball Cartridge. Only one Man was wounded in the bottom and one killed himself running along the Beach; he empaled himself on the point of a Canoe end on, and did not see it he being in the middle of the Square. My figures are not quite in the style of Penelli [Pinelli] 172 but you must draw on your Imagination. Fancy all naked and greased all over, with Red Pigment, Their Bushy hair Matted, greased and dressed with Feathers, Through the Ear Albatross down, and the Gentlemen having their Bottoms well Tattooed, as well as their Faces as I have (entre nous) had occular demonstration; by the bye I believe Aristotle never wrote on the subject. Since Europeans have lived among them, they have had Hearts and Darts, Ships, Stars, Half Moons, &c &c in addition. The Skin of a well tatooed backsided Rangatara was very much prized to cover the Cartouch box of the Conqueror, and would be again if a War was to spring up. This day was spent in War dances, my Face was over with Pigment as the Sawyers looked up to me as a gentleman, Telling the Chiefs I was a great Rangatara in my Country, and being of a jolly portly figure, They all did me the Honor to Rub their Noses against mine and when doing this Tenir racky qui Ecrow [Tena ra ko koe, e koro!], How do you do Friend. Heremi checonay [Haere mai ki konei!] Come hither; they gave me some Whi-pi or good Water as Rum is no longer Called Why Peeter [waipiro], or Stinking Water. The greatest compliment you can pay them, is to take a Potatoe out of their heap or Basketful, while it is hot. I was very condescending to the Tangata Mouries. 

  Reindeers Tongues [Marginal note]

  I had a few Rein Deers Tongues, that the Natives beleives were Mens tongues, we had killed and salted in our own Country; they liked them, and all the people knew that I was a Rangatara, I was so dainty, that I brought even the Tongues of my Enemies to eat, and that they knew were a great delicasy and fit for a Chief. I used to try to draw a Deer with fine Antlers, but all to no purpose, they had never seen or heard of such a Beast, and thought that I was Humbugging, and "Shanrica" [hangareka] was repeated often meaning a joke, or Humbug. *

  The Evening they had different dances, contortions of Features in two lines; generally they keep it up all night if Moon light. The Ladies enjoy these Feasts, as they have glorious opportunities of Intrigue, and old Friends meet at these places and you may see Women meet and throw a Cacahow or Mat over them, one & other, and commence a whining cry or lamentation, but they relate every minute particular that has occured to either since they met, though they have been two or three years absent.

  Roody doody [Marginal note]

  The Women will sit on a heap of Potatoes or log, and do what is called "Roody Doody" [ruriruri]; ** they divide in two parties if on Ship board. The Captain and Ladies belonging Officers will sit aft, and the Mens Ladies forward, and will recite in a kind of fixed time or Verse, Recitativo, all the transactions of the people round them, and sometimes not of the most modest sort; then she that is going to take up the verse at the other

  * On the back of my hut with a burned stick I drew a fine galloping stag but I never convinced them. E. M 

 ** The word is defined in Williams as a song, 'generally of an amorous nature, accompanied by gestures'.
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  end of the Ship keeps time with her fists or some lascivious movement; * so on, they will keep it up for hours together and work each others passions up, as to the different abilities of their temporary Husbands, all the Scandal of the different Parrs or Native Villages and of the Europeans up and down the Country is recited, some times from one ship to an other.

  The Raising of the Dead [Marginal note]

  The Raising of the Dead was the second days amusement and the meaning is this. At a Feast they always raise the bones and scrape them, and dress them up in their Cacahows, of their Friends. This Feast was given to a powerful Chief Called Apee [Pi] 173 of the Why marr [Waima] River an ally of Moyterra's, and the bones of the Eleven Chiefs, Shot at Mouta Coudy some thirteen Months back, were to be drest and all the good and Noble Virtues of the deceased were to be Eulogized in "Corrirow" or Council talk. 

  The Eleven Chiefs [Marginal note]

  They went in a kind of Procession to it and the Red Boxes or Coffins were shown and you saw the eleven dead Chiefs with their rusty Muskets by their sides and drest in Cacahows and Feathers. By what I could learn they would be shown eight or ten times again at stated Periods then be taken up into the Mountains, and put in the Caves, the Burial place of their Tribes. 174 For I have heard of Eight Men being Tabbooed to go on a journey to bring home the Body of a Chief that had been killed 300 miles off and be away two Months. After seeing them ** at a Respectful distance They formed a Council or Grand "Corrirow" or open Parliment. There is a place left in the middle of this sitting Congregation, three yards wide, by ten or Twenty long, and the assembled Crowd sit down in their Cacahows, or slop Clothing, Blankets &c. The Chiefs and Freemen nearest these open places where they run up and down, and women and Cookies or Slaves in the back Ground - the Men with sticks - strike the ground at certain periods - they are Priests. 

  Vide Earle 161 [Marginal note]

  They sat down between two and three thousand and heard the different Speeches of the Chiefs. The Priests or Bone Scrapers, Tabbooed Men, with long Sticks standing at one end of the space left for the Orators to run up and down, as they get worked up into frightful animation. As the Chief addresses the Assembled Chiefs, he turns to the Men with Sticks as much as to say, "Is it not so", Then they strike the ground. ***

  The place chosen was as Natural an Amphitheatre as could have been found, and rather Sandy surrounded by Hills of small Elevation rather open to the River, and the Ferns had been burnt some Months before Ergo there was a young crop. The different Chiefs ran up and down giving their opinions; one said he liked the "Parkiars" or Europeans and said he would protect them. An other said they made good Poos [pu] or Muskets and Blankets, and other wise remarks; at last Moyterra **** with his Military Cloak, and Sword on, but the Belt over the Shoulder, addressed them and one of them read the Translation of Colonel Arthurs letter (from Oakes representation) in the Mourie language, and they were pleased on the occasion. I forgot to say that he had such a terrible Fall yesterday from

  * After 'movement', the phrase 'of her bottom' has been crossed out. 

 ** Presumably 'them' refers to the remains of the 11 chiefs. 

 *** These Priests and [Bone Scrapers ?] were the only Men standing except the man that run backwards & forwards who was addressing the Assembly. E. M. 

 **** Moyterra is a friend to Europeans in general but he is a troublesome Neighbour. E. M.
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  The Mare [Marginal note]

  the Mare, she not likeing to stand fire. For the last three days, People who have never seen a Horse before, have been riding and been thrown in every direction. The "Karaddie Nue Nue", or Big dog that their Chief Moyterra has had from Hobart town is the wonder and her Foal by her side; they ride all day long, and it amused most of them [when] Apee Chief of the Why marr River to whom the Feast was given, got a fall. He had 50 Gallons of Rum so they improve in refinement. * 

  War Canoes [Marginal note]

  Moyterra gave him also two War Canoes, that are 60ft long and carry 160 each, much Carved and painted or stained Red, & decorated with Feathers, and similar to those described by Cooke in his Voyage. The Upper sides carved and painted, The Eyes of Men all of Mother of Pearl ** and plenty of Feathers done round and every Man has his Paddle, as he has his Musket. The Evening was spent as the former in Dances, but on the Bank of the River and as a Grand Finale about 50 of the New Zealanders jumped into the Water with a tremendous splash.

  The Third and last day we had a scene very different, Eighty Women dancing a Slow Monotonous Step, but graceful movements of the Arms. *** The Mats were round their Middles and the Upper part exposed all their Breasts &c but I never saw a finer set of Women or Girls in an Opera Ballet. They were in two divisions Moyterra's Tribe, and the Tribes about the Heads, and also Apee set, their Visitors, Forty in each division, **** Ten in each row, two lines advancing about two inches at a time and two lines retrograding, Naked to the Middle and useing the Arms with slow but graceful Movements, The People on the Ground keeping up a Monotonous Chaunt in good time. 

  Cunnu Cunnu [Marginal note]

  The name of this Dance Jacky Marmont told me was Cunnu Cunnu [kanikani] and was Religious. ***** All the Chiefs Daughters danced it, and no Slave Girl was allowed to enter the Ranks. It lasted for hours; till the Sun set they must not eat; during the dance I found that Madle Awattie was one and they had a master of the ceremonies, and fugle Man to each division; they kept it up till sun Down, but the last few hours one Division sat down for half an hour, and they releived each other; some of the women had flowers in their hair and even Combs as the European fashion of dressing the Hair is very prevalent, and some of the Women were nearly as fair as Europeans – when the Dance was over then the cooking began.

  Arungher [Marginal note]

  I made a Conquest of very superior Being to be known hereafter by the name of Arungher Mar [Rangi? ma] or the Lady Arungher; ****** [she accepted of my protection a week after and proved a very affectionate Creature and good Girl and she watched over me night and day. She was the daughter of Ere-woah [Iriwha?] the Chief of Widdy racky [Whirinaki] about five miles from Parkineigh.

  * Rum to be distributed at the Harkatty. E. M. 

 ** The eyes were, of course, those of the canoe carvings, and they would have been made of paua shell. 

 *** A dance calld Karne Karne [kanikani] or Cune Cunee. E. M. 

 **** Markham has interpolated 'set', thus adding to the confusion of an already confused sentence. Perhaps he meant to say, 'They were in two divisions: first, Moyterra's tribe and second, their visitors, made up of the tribes about the Heads and Apee's party (or set); forty in each division, etc' 

 ***** Only danced on occasions of ceremony. E. M. 

 ****** Markham seems to have interpreted honorifically the particle 'ma' which is used after personal names to indicate the inclusion of others.
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  A soaking [Marginal note]

  The third Night as Miserable as could be. A Thunder Storm came on. It Blew and Rained, I was all afloat and as miserable as a Shag on a Rock. All the Night Cold and Comfortless, our Hut blown down and no Shelter of any sort but had to wait till daylight as it was dark as Pitch. I was cold wet and had to paddle about till at daylight I crawled in at Apees * Hut and a Glass of Rum did wonders. There was a fine fire inside; I went in wet and came out smokeing to the Hot potatoes for breakfast. 

  Salt all melted [Marginal note]

  My Salt was all dissolved in my pockets, but I found enough for one Meal, but I have often experienced the want of Salt, as the greatest deprivation possible as Potatoes or Pork are miserable without it. The next night I went down to the Heads to Martins the Pilot, had a bed made up and slept with a Man of the Name of Battersby; 175 

  vide 83 [Marginal note]

  he keeps a Grog Shop at Kororadica [Kororareka] in the Bay of Islands, proving the Truth of the old saying That Misfortune makes one acquainted with strange bed fellows. I slept soundly after a walk of Eight miles by the River side and after Breakfast went back to Parkineigh, heard of the Infidelity of Awattie, dismissed her forthwith and told her she would call at the Coco she would receive a Blanket as a Hout.

  In this Country if you did not make use of the Sawyers you would be quite at a loss, as they act as Interpreters to the different usesages [usages] and customs of the Natives and going up the River I had often occasion for their Hospitality Ergo "Suaviter in Modo" goes further than a stiff neck. Heard this morning that some Chiefs were going to get payment for the Coco again in addition to Wurrie Puppur or they would bring a Tower ** [taua] "for[c]ible seizure" or would perhaps set fire to the House. We got the loan of three boys, from Mittie [Miti] 176 a Chief next to Apee of the Why Marr River, and manned the boat and got up in one Tide (30 miles) found an Old Chief by the name of Rivers, 177 demanding payment or he would burn the House down. Mr Oakes had sent for Mr White the Missionary from Munghune and I showed him Captain Bannisters letter &c. The Affair was settled. 

  1st Claim 2d 3 [Marginal note]

  There were three Claimants, here the first Rivers had been shot through the Thigh there, and it had never been revenged (He had two New Shirts and 5 lb of Tobacco). An Other had had his Father killed and eaten on the spot; he had, A Hoe, a Spade, Shirt and 5 lb of Tobacco. The Third was that his Father in former times set his Rat traps on the Ground. 

  Rat Traps Boundaries [Marginal note]

  Mr White told me, that was one of the best Titles to the land, that could be set up, as the Natives had no other boundaries but the track of the Rats, and most boundaries through out the Wooded part was only where the Rat traps had been set. 178 The Native Rat was more like a field Mouse, and was considered a Luxury in old times, but the Rat from Norway or England came and is called Rah Parkieah or Stranger rat. They have exterminated the Native therefore there is no longer any use for the Rat traps. They do not make use of the New Comers who get at their Potatoes, Indian Corn &c. The Sawyers tell the Natives when in Anger, They will exterminate the "Tangata Mouries" as the "Rah Parkieah" has the "Rah Mourie". And some seem to think that the Missionaries pray to the Attuah [atua] "Spirit or God",

  * Apee the Chief of the Why mar River to whom the feast was given. E. M. 

 **Tower a foray for an Insult or Injury. E. M.
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  decrease of Population [Marginal note]

  to Kiki [kaikai] * or "eat up" the people, as they seem to be a fast decreasing People from a dozen different Causes which the Missionaries lay all to the Sailors and Europeans that visit the Islands in the liberality, but it is the same in the Islands all over the South Seas and there must be some deeper cause as you may gather from that Lyeing book Ellis's Polynesian Researches, which eminates from the same Republican London Missionary Society and the same as Dr Phillips [Philip] lies in Southern Africa. 179 I received an Invitation from Mr. White to go to Munghune, found he came from Darlington.

  March 16th [Marginal note]

  I went to Munghune for the Morning Service, found they adopted the Church Service as usued [used] by the Church Missionary Society, shewing the good sense of dropping Sectarian principles although they are Wesleyans. ** There were about 250 to 300 Natives present and the Responses were made as regularly as they could have been in England. They were all reading the New Testament in their own Language. Mr White preached; Mr Woone [Woon] has a beautiful Voice and led, a familiar tune, then to the Air of God Save the King. Then an Old Chief of the name of Martanghie [Matangi] 180 got up and preached all this in the open air as the Chapel is not large enough; after Service Mr White gave me Martanghies History. 

  Martanghies History [Marginal note]

  He had been a Warrior, Murderer, Cannibal, Thief, in fact as bad as a Man could be; He was ill and came to Mr White 3 different times who talked and reasoned with him; he returned finding he had two hearts a good and Evil, that he found a Conscience. 

  3 Warnings [Marginal note]

  He had three warnings and went to Mr. White each time such as a Cancer in his Lip, a swelling of the Head, and loss of sight. Each time he came to Mr White, and each time was more impressed with the Religious discourse.

  returns to his first Wife [Marginal note]

  At last he came to read, and write, and cipher; he had several Wives, he had not seen or spoken to his first Wife for years; he put the others away and returned to a Beastly Old Hag, proving the sincerity of his profession, and was now a thoroughly changed Man, and like Saul was baptized Paul. I dined and attended Evening Service and went home at 8 o'clock, pleased with what I had seen. The Scenery about Munghune is fine; Hills covered with Wood, and the Sun setting on 300 New Zealanders praising God in their Native Language to one of our well known Tunes in the open Air had something about it quite affecting; I forget the Chapters for the lessons in the Morning, but in the Evening they had one, the first Chapters of Genesis and the 26th of St Mat[t]hew.

  I read with the Carpenter a Yankey known by the name of Juniper Jack, a Rum Fish; we had Tea and at nine o'clock I returned to the Coco, and saw under our two Pouriedie Trees, two large Fires. I heard they were Missionaries and went up to them; they went through the same Evening Service and the same lessons as one offered me his Bible and we read together by the fire fight. I could have fancied myself amongst the Covenanters, in the time of Old Mortality. Thirty Tattooed earnest Faces, reading and singing by the Fire with their Muskets across their Breasts, and then an old man gave them an Exhortation. *** There was

  * Strictly speaking, this is not a Maori word but either a rendering of kakai, eat frequently, or merely an example of pidgin Maori. 

 ** I believe the Wesleyans are the most friendly to the Church of all dissenters and are on good terms here E. M. 

 *** He recapitulated the Heads of Mr Whites sermon leaning on the Butt end of his Musket with a blanket on; as he got animated his figure appeared to great advantage. E. M.
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  nothing to be gained to these Men, No Worldly distinctions, Vain praises or Pomp. They laid down and slept where they had prayed with their Arms in their hands, quite a Bivouac. Salvator Rosa never had a finer subject. 181 The dark gloom, The light on the two large Trees under which they were encamped has made a lasting impression on my Mind. Since then I heard that there are not less then ten Thousand * people in the Island that can Read, write and do sums in the Northern end of the Island. 182

  March 26th 1834 [Marginal note]

  It rained and blew hard for the whole day and was as Miserable as could be. The two Carpenters could just get on with the bed place &c in my room, as the Rain beat in every direction. For two hours it blew a perfect Hurricane. Trees were torn up by the roots, and at last it blew the roof of the House off. 

  saving the Boats [Marginal note]

  Every thing getting Wet, and at last the two Boats stationed abreast the House parted from the Posts put down for them ** and we and every person about the establishment went out to try to save them. It rained and blew a hurricane, and every person sallied out naked and we succeeded in keeping them clear of the Rocks. We lost a Canoe, but to secure them I was out two Hours, the Wind blowing the sand and Gravel into ones Flesh. My Feet were cut terribly and a wet bed and House to retire to, All The Thatch blown off, raining, blowing and very Miserable, The Sunset the most Awefully Grand I ever saw. I have seen many Gales of Wind but this out did all! 

  effects of the Storm [Marginal note]

  Next Morning every thing showed what we had been visited with. The Morning lovely and serene. Wrecks of Boats and Sheds going up and down the River. The Island of Moutellie *** an hour before Sunset looked like a Castle. The Water was blown out of the River, The Wind from the East. Thirteen Vessels on shore in the Bay of Islands and all the Sawyers Houses damaged, Sheds blown down, pits full of Water, whole Acres of Forest laid like Wheat after Rain; 

  Island of Moutellie [Marginal note]

  Moutelietie **** in high Tides is about two feet above the level of the Water and not more. It is very sacred and contains the bones of the Tribes up the River, in Houses or Huts built on purpose, and is now a deserted Parr. 183 No person had seen or heard of any thing like this Storm for seventeen years. 184 The Road that had been cut through the Wood going to the Bay of Islands was so completely covered with fallen Trees, That the Missionaries could not use it on Horses, when I left six months after. I was in the Marchioness of Ely in 1823, when we were water logged, or next to it and I think The wind was nearly as strong as it was now. The Having saved our Boats on the present occasion was a good thing for us. It took thirteen of us to accomplish it.

  April 1st [Marginal note]

  Oakes that Genius of Discord and his Son and Harrison set out for Wangerpaye [Whangape] to stay a Week, and in the mean time I went to Hoe mi-neigh [Omanaia] with Manning and Poynton. I was away three

  * For fear of exageration say 8000. E. M. 

 ** This and the five previous words have been interpolated. 

 *** Markham undoubtedly refers to the island of Motiti, but 'Moutellie' looks like a rendering of 'moutere', meaning island; perhaps he confused the proper name with the noun, and the curious form, Moutelietie*, used below, may be a combination of both words. 

 **** N B it is all stuff that Earle says about the Native fortifications of this little Island distant about 1 1/2 mile from where I lived. E. M.
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  Ho-mi-nie [Marginal note]

  nights. I went up a fine river say 25 miles, 185 at last came up to a Parr, we were well received, had Pork and Potatoes and sat up late answering questions. I slept in a place built of Wood weather boarded, 6 feet [by] 4, a good Pig Stye. When gone to bed I found the Chief had sent a Wayheinee [wahine] pi to sleep with me, and I was good humoured and took Compassion on the Lady. 

  Gun Powder [Marginal note]

  Next morning to my surprise I found Eleven Casks of Gun Powder. This was the Hotel de Ville and Public store, but being a Rangatara they had given it me. 

  Homi nie [Marginal note]

  There was a large fire burning all Night within three yards of it, and people looking in with pipes in their Mouths. No Salt again! We staid two nights here, and Manning and Poynton bought Pigs and Potatoes. The Land is very fine. As to Scenery Beautiful! plenty of Wood in every direction and Peaked Hills on every side and pretty Country.

  Arungher [Marginal note]

  My Room finished, got in all right. Arungher Mar came and took up her quarters with me, and proved that her Heart was as good as her Face and Figure. She lived with me till I went to the Bay of Islands. I do not know that I ever cried in parting from a Girl before except one in Paris; from this time Arungher went out shooting with me, holding the Gun in her hand, and Venus in her lap and sat at the bottom of the Boat whilst I steered. When in the Woods she looked out for the (Coo Coupers) [kukupa] or Pigeons, and had a sharp eye. She always had the fat to dress her fine long Hair with, and I taught her to dress it with Parisian Fashion. She never left me, told me every thing and watched over every thing of mine, as if they belonged to her own Tribe. I have sent her presents from Sydney. A Wine glass of Grog makes her Showrangy. She was as good a Washerwoman as could be, and was as clean herself as any European Woman could be. She washed from head to foot with Soap, every night before going to bed, her dress was 4 slop Shirts, Black silk handkerchiefs, 3 red Shirts altered into Panny gots or Petticoats, a Blanket or Cacahow. Her hair always well dressed, and she killed Venus's Fleas. I gave her a Pup to keep for "Auld lang syne". She could say all The Church prayers by Heart, play a good game of drafts, and Swim like a Fish. I have seen her swim to Moutitie [Motiti] and back and she saved my life when engaged with Amittie [Miti] by bringing me my Pistols and Flourishing a Tom a hawk over his head, but of this in its proper place. The plan annexed may show the relative places on the Hokiangar or Schue kiangar [Hokianga] River. * The Beautiful Forest in this Country after the Monotony of Van diemans land was very pleasing, and would be highly prized for Parks in England. Oakes returned having been absent ten days, not much pleased with his Trip, and having parted with a quantity of his property without any return. He sold his Mare to Moyterra for 600 Acres of very good Land, but he is at the tender mercies of that gripeing Thief Moyterra and his bloody minded Brother Rangitara [Rangatira]. 186 

  vide 82 & 60 [Marginal note]

  Oakes has no Water frontage, ergo, no Native can sell to Oakes without crossing Moyterras land, which would not be welcome. 

  Cumeras [Marginal note]

  He, Moyterra, is to build a slop House, after the Cumeras are gathered. Every Person is Tabbooed for that purpose in the Village. Moyterra has 4000 Kits of Cumera, besides the Common seed store. They stow them neatly in Sand as we do Carrots then they are Tabbooed for seed. They eat like sweet Potatoes. I was obliged to Caulk

  * A blank page follows, with the caption, 'Plan of Ho-ki-angar River.'



 102 The term with which New Zealanders are now familiar is, of course, Te Ika a Maui, 'the fish of Maui'. Markham's 'Eaheinomawe' resembles Cook's 'Aeheino mouwe' and, even more closely, Yate's 'Eaheinomauwe'. Cook's version has recently been explained as a rendering of He hi no Maui, 'a thing fished up by Maui'. - Yate, map facing p. 1; Cook, 243n.
103 William Crow and his ship, of which he was both captain and owner, were well known on the Hokianga and achieved notoriety for their part in an episode known as 'the battle of plank'. Like so much else in the annals of the river, the affair is somewhat obscure; nor is it always possible to reconcile the two main authorities. The 'battle', which seems to have taken place about July 1836, arose from Crow's quarrel with a number of sawyers over payment for their services in preparing a cargo of timber taken from his property. The captain announced his intention of removing the timber, the men refused to permit loading until the dispute was settled. The quarrel spread through the river, touching off the latent animosities of the turbulent little community: the sawyers were apparently supported by Thomas McDonnell, the Additional British Resident, Crow by John Marmon and McDonnell's inveterate enemy, William White, the Wesleyan missionary. The quarrel also divided the Maori population, and at one point in the proceedings Nene, allegedly inspired by White, made an unsuccessful attempt to seize the Additional Resident and imprison him on the Brazil Packet. The small drama reached tis climax when the sawyers' faction gathered at Koutu Point (then known as One Tree Point) and descended in military formation on Crow's sawing station where the opposing side had assembled. Lamely, but mercifully, the affair fizzled out with no loss other than the burning of the disputed timber. On 6 May 1837 Crow met the end of so many Hokianga characters, death by drowning. - Davis, Patuone, 37-9; Ramsden, Busby, 138-9; R. M. R.
104 The date of departure is confirmed by the Hobart Town Courier, 14 February 1834, p. 2.
105 As mentioned above (p. 20), Henry Oakes had already met Markham in Van Diemen's Land and, through shady dealings in horse flesh, had incurred his displeasure. After their arrival in New Zealand relations between the two men grew steadily worse until, on the eve of Markham's expedition to the Bay of Islands, they parted after 'a terrible Row'. From allusions in the narrative it is clear that Oakes had previously visited the Hokianga and secured a lease of (or perhaps an option on) the property at Kohukohu ultimately bought by Maning and Kelly. On this occasion he seems to have come with the intention of settling, for he brought 'Household affairs', trade goods, and the mare and foal disposed of to Moetara. His name crops up repeatedly in accounts of proceedings on the river during the next couple of years. He became deeply involved in the intrigues of those three masterful characters, Thomas McDonnell, William White, and Moetara; and in the end he was a victim in the feud between the two Europeans. During the brief summer of their collaboration in the farcical attempt to enforce temperance, he was empowered, with Captain William Young and Moetara, to search vessels for the prohibited grog. This was in September 1835, but by December of that year the two rivals had fallen out, and at White's instigation a plot was hatched to seize Oakes for debt before he left for Hobart Town in charge of the Industry and the mutinous members of its crew. McDonnell succeeded in defending his protege who distinguished himself on the voyage by frustrating a further mutiny. After his return, he appears in July 1836 as chairman of a 'jury' which found White guilty of immoral conduct. His relations with Moetara, already strained before Markham's departure, now came to a disastrous climax. As the result of an obscure plot in which White again seems to have been implicated, he had by December been compelled to abandon his home at Pakanae, forced out by Moetara who 'had threatened vengeance upon any slave' daring to assist Oakes in the removal of his baggage. On 5 January 1837 he left the Bay of Islands for Sydney with his son Henry Richard Oakes, Markham's potential 'sad scamp'. - Ramsden, Busby, 111, 118-19, 123, 127, 156-7, 157n; R. M. R.
106 Of Markham's two other fellow passengers almost nothing is known beyond what appears in this narrative. Rogers, who preceded Markham to the Bay of Islands, was probably R. Rogers. - R. M. R.
107 Thomas McLean, as Markham relates in the next paragraph, came to New Zealand with Captain James Herd's expedition. He was involved in the Fortitude affair and died in 1835. See also notes 9 and 17 below.
108 Apparently an overestimate, except perhaps in very windy conditions: 'ordinary springs rise 10 feet, and neaps rise 7 feet... during strong westerly winds, the neaps rise as high as ordinary springs, and sometimes have been known to rise 4 feet above them.' - New Zealand pilot, 202.
109 One authority lists five wrecks in or near the Hokianga before 1834, but not all occurred on the Bar. The ships were an American schooner the Cossack on 27 April 1823; the missionary schooner Herald on 26 May 1828; the Hokianga-built Enterprise about 3 May 1828; the Meredith of Liverpool in July 1832; and the Fortitude early in 1833. - Ingram, 18, 20, 21, 22.
110 The first New Zealand Company, a commercial and colonising venture, was formed in 1825 and in that year sent out from Scotland a party of emigrants in the Rosanna and Lambton under the command of James Herd, who had visited New Zealand in 1822. After touching at various places farther south and calling at the Bay of Islands in October 1826, the expedition made for the Hokianga where the land mentioned by Markham was bought at Herd's Point (now Rawene). Within a few months the scheme was abandoned, and at the end of January 1827 the two ships left the Hokianga, reaching Sydney on 11 February. The stores, which included 'flax machinery', were sold and the emigrants offered a passage home at the company's expense. Several members of the expedition did, nevertheless, settle in New Zealand, some at the Bay of Islands, others in the Hokianga. Both these groups of 'Scotch mechanics' are mentioned by Augustus Earle. In addition to McLean, the Hokianga party included George Nimmo, Colin Gillies, and Benjamin Nesbit, all of whom figure in Markham's narrative. - DNZB, 1: 380-1; Earle, 27, 51; R. M. R.
111 John Martin, on the authority of Percy Smith, purchased his pilot station at Omapere in March 1832. That year J. S. Polack met him in the course of an expedition and afterwards described how the station had been founded. According to this colourful witness, Martin, while mate of the Governor Macquarie, had 'formed an intimacy' with a chief's daughter who divulged her people's intention of seizing the ship and killing the crew. The plot was thus frustrated and, by way of indemnity, the Maoris agreed to supply a quantity of flax and allow Martin to settle ashore. The heroine of the incident was later baptised, lived with Martin, and was known as 'Kitty'. As the chief pilot on the river, Martin was an important figure in the community and seems to have organised his signal station skilfully and to have carried out his duties with exemplary care. In 1833, however, he incurred Busby's displeasure for allegedly failing to rescue from drowning a sailor of the notorious brig Bee. The Resident recommended his replacement by Captain Young, a proposal to which Governor Bourke replied merely with a curt refusal. - Smith, Maori wars, 99; Polack, New Zealand, 1: 61, 2: 192-4; Ramsden, Busby, 74.
112 The Currency Lass, a schooner of 90 tons, had been engaged for some years in the New Zealand-New South Wales trade, mainly in flax. The term 'currency' meant colonial-born as opposed to 'sterling', born in the mother country. The words in this sense were first used by an army paymaster quartered in New South Wales when the pound currency, or local pound, was inferior to the pound sterling. - McNab, 18; Morris, 111.
113 For a professional sailor Markham shows himself, here and elsewhere, surprisingly incompetent in estimating distances. Measured on the Admiralty chart and the New Zealand inch-to-the-mile map, the anchorage off Pakanae is not more than 4 miles from South Head.
114 The editors of the sixth edition of Williams's Dictionary of the Maori language (1957) state that the use of 'Maori' to mean 'native' is 'comparatively modern' and cite an example published in 1853. Apparently they have overlooked this and other early uses of the word discussed by Baker.
115 Moetara Motu Tongaporutu (as he is termed by his biographer Davis), leading chief of the Ngati Korokoro, owed his prestige partly to personal qualities, partly to the commanding position of his tribal territories which included the South Head and so lay on the route of all ships entering or leaving the Hokianga. Davis mentions that he was an 'especial favorite' with many ships' captains (among them Crow) and that during a voyage on a British man-of-war he 'became acquainted with the civilized manners of the Anglo-Saxon and received that polish for which he was ever after eminently famed'. As a young warrior he joined in raids on the southern Maoris and was one of the few northern survivors of Pomare I's disastrous Waikato expedition in 1826. After the Fortitude affray (see note 17 below), he seems to have employed his martial and diplomatic talents mainly in the fierce but usually bloodless quarrels that afflicted the Hokianga population for some years. Though himself 'sorely wounded on the great battle field of intemperance' (as Davis puts it), Moetara was an enthusiastic supporter of McDonnell during his efforts to enforce prohibition in 1835 and, with Henry Oakes and Captain Young, was empowered to search ships for liquor. His relations with the Wesleyan missionaries were friendly but for some years non-committal: in 1835 he promised to embrace Christianity if he were given a resident missionary or teacher; the following year he was reported by McDonnell as resisting the missionaries' overtures; and in 1837 he mediated between warring factions of Christian and pagan Maoris at Mangungu. Meanwhile he saw his ambition realised by the establishment under John Whiteley of a mission at Newark near Pakanae, and in due course he redeemed his promise. He was converted, but did not long survive baptism, dying, according to Davis, 'in about the fortieth year of his age' (a statement that conflicts with the obituary date given in the DNZB). Markham's estimate of Moetara is not endorsed by Davis who characterised him as 'a person of great influence and natural ability, and one of the most amiable and gentlemanly chiefs we ever conversed with'. - Davis, Patuone, 67-78; Davis, Kawiti, 12; Smith, Maori wars, 97, 115, 333, 379; Ramsden, Busby, 111; Ramsden, Marsden, 168, 174n; Morley, 62; DNZB, 2: 88-9.
116 A reference in Markham's Van Diemen's Land narrative makes it clear that he met Colonel Oakes in Florence; the Colonel's residence is there correctly designated the Casa Filicaja, the latter word being a well known Italian family name. The Piazza Ognissanti, called after the church of that name, is on the right bank of the Arno, not far from the Piazza Goldoni. - E. Markham, 'Van Diemen's Land', 28; Muirhead, 417.
117 The gentle annalist of the early Hokianga gives a fuller version of this incident: 'The Governor of Tasmania addressed a note to Moetara congratulating him upon his conduct and heartily thanking him. The letter was accompanied by a richly ornamented sword, and military cloak, which together with his Excellency's communication was received by the late chief of the Ngatikorokoro, with that retiring dignity for which he was so eminently distinguished.' - Davis, Patuone, 69.
118 Markham here introduces an incident to which he continues to allude throughout the narrative. The plunder of the Fortitude and the subsequent fighting took place in the early months of 1833. Exact dates and the duration of the whole affair cannot be determined from the evidence available: writing of events in March 1834, Markham speaks of the main conflict as having occurred 'some thirteen Months back' (p. 51); Ramsden states that the chiefs broke off hostilities to attend Busby's inaugural meeting on 16 May 1833. The references scattered through Markham are supplemented by Davis, while Polack writes more summarily of the incident, with an eye for the sensational detail. From these varied - and often conflicting - sources the following account has, with some difficulty, been pieced together. 



 As she was on the point of sailing for Sydney with a cargo of sawn timber, the Fortitude, a schooner owned by Clendon and Stephenson of the Bay of Islands, ran aground at Motukauri, opposite the junction of the Whirinaki River with the Hokianga. Probably it had loaded, or was about to load, timber from the station which McLean ran at this place. A party of local Maoris thereupon boarded and plundered the vessel 'in accordance, perhaps, with their ancient law, that all vessels, fish, birds, &c. cast on shore, within their tribal territory, should become the property of their tribe', as Davis explains. Polack adds that they threw the mate overboard and 'soundly beat' the master and supercargo. In his role as protector of the Pakeha, Moetara quickly organised a force which descended on Motukauri and in the initial clash lost one chief. The incident sparked off a more serious affray that ended only after the loss of men by both parties. Estimates of the casualties vary from Davis's total of 22 killed and wounded to Polack's 'about two dozen persons... killed on either side'. 



 Whether McLean's property was destroyed and burned at this stage or later is not at all clear. Markham, who had the story from McLean himself and seems on this occasion to be reliable, implies (p. 31) that the sacking of the station occurred immediately after the affray, and he describes how 'Every Goat, Dog, Fowl... was killed, and every Log of Timber burned and then Tabbooed'. In similar terms (though confusing two distinct incidents and failing to name the victim who is merely 'an industrious European'), Polack says that the marauders 'killed all his goats, pigs, poultry, &c. ' and that the 'settlement was tapued'. 



 Davis omits all reference to McLean, ignores the slaughter of livestock, and says nothing of the imposition of tapu; but he does give a full description of the sequel. Moetara's next move, according to him, was to fortify One Tree Point where Captain Young had his station. The chief's motive, presumably, was to defend Young, who was under his protection and thus liable to attack from his enemies, the plunderers of the Fortitude. In the preparations that followed a chief was killed through his own carelessness in igniting a barrel of gunpowder. As the campaign progressed, Moetara was joined in the improvised pa by Patuone and Nene with 300 followers, including John Marmon. The outcome of this massing of martial strength was, however, something of an anticlimax: there were a number of skirmishes, 'with little harm to either party', and the affair was finally settled when the marauding tribes agreed to return the Fortitude's papers - a conclusion that Davis ascribes to the pacifying influence of Patuone and Nene. 



 The affair seems to have contributed to a facetiously lurid passage of Old New Zealand. In this version Maning tells of a nameless 'friend' who had the misfortune to be involved in a quarrel between two chiefs, one of whom in the course of 'arbitration' shot his rival with 30 of his principal 'witnesses' in a heap before the friend's door and badly wounded 60 others. The friend, his house and store 'blown up and burnt to ashes', was consoled by a visit from 'hundreds' of Maori friends who 'shot and ate all his stock, sheep, pigs, goats, ducks, geese, fowls, &c. ' The story concludes with the swift and inexplicable demise of the friend. Thus, if the identification is valid, Maning, with raconteur's licence, transforms McLean's end in 1835, two years after the Fortitude affair, into sudden death brought about by the realisation of his own ruin. Altogether, Maning's anecdote, while it adds nothing to historical fact, may throw some light on his eclectic and hyperbolical methods of composition. - Ramsden, Busby, 58-9; Davis, Patuone, 34-7; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 50-1; Maning, 68-9.
119 George Nimmo, who has only an inconspicuous part in Markham's narrative, figures in a macabre little tableau in the Rev. James Buller's reminiscences. Returning to the Hokianga in 1869, the former missionary found Nimmo 'upwards of seventy years of age', living at Koutu Point, the last survivor of Herd's expedition. 'He lived alone,' writes Buller, 'and had everything very natty. Nor was he unmindful of death, for he had long before made his own coffin, lest no one should do so for him. More than once his ready-made coffin was in request, first for the corpse of the late Mrs. McDonnell, then for that of a Mr. Trusted; and now he had all the boards ready to make a third. Moreover, he had chosen the spot for his grave....' - Buller, 146.
120 This may be Earle's friend 'Mr. Shand' who accompanied the artist during his visit some seven years earlier. In the account of his departure Earle makes no reference to Shand, and presumably he remained in New Zealand; he is probably the 'R. Shand' of contemporary records. - Earle, 1, 261-71; R. M. R.
121 These remarks on native fauna require some comment. Besides the tuatara (strictly speaking a reptile, not a lizard), New Zealand is the home of numerous animals in the widest sense of the term. Perhaps Markham is referring to the absence of quadrupeds or to the rarity of land mammals, which are confined to two species of bat. He seems to be uncertain whether the native dog had been imported in European or pre-European times; it had, of course, been brought by Polynesian migrants and had probably been domiciled in the country for centuries. Cook, as mentioned in the footnote, did leave pigs and other quadrupeds, but they seem to have perished, and those seen in Markham's time were probably descended from later importations. - Drummond, 54-5, 65; Wright, 65.
122 The statement needs qualification. From the days of Captain King onwards, successive governors had 'noticed' New Zealand chiefs and rewarded them in various ways, usually during their visits to New South Wales. This, however, was probably the first time a Hokianga chief had been so recognised; and perhaps the first time any New Zealand chief had been officially commended and rewarded for a specific service to Europeans.
123 Samuel Butler was born in 1800 and came to New Zealand with his father, the Rev. John Butler, in 1819. He was employed as a catechist and teacher until he became involved in his father's quarrels with Marsden and returned to Sydney in 1823. He had settled at Pakanae by 1827, for in that year Earle met 'Mr. and Mrs. Butler, English people, who had taken up their residence here for the purpose of trading'. He acted as a shipping agent and also as an interpreter. Markham's remarks on his financial state are confirmed by a letter written some months later in which Butler complains about the 'laziness' of the Maoris and says, '"Times will not permit bread every day, and drinkables are quite out of the question."' He was drowned in 1836. - Marsden, 143, 171, 381n, 414n; Earle, 12; Butler, 402-3; R. M. R.
124 Captain William Young arrived in the Hokianga in 1831, accompanied by his two nephews, Charles and Edward Davis (the former almost certainly C. O. Davis). In later years, Lieutenant Morton Jones of HMS Pandora characterised the captain as a '"very respectable old Scotchman"', and for that reason perhaps there is little to say about him. He was a man of some substance with property at One Tree Point, on the Waihou River, and elsewhere in the Hokianga. His influence was invariably on the side of law and sobriety. During the attempt to enforce prohibition in 1835 he was empowered, with Moetara and Henry Oakes, to search vessels; and he acted as pilot or host for various visiting notabilities, including Marsden. Young, in short, embodied the virtues of 'respectable' Hokianga and probably, if the truth were revealed, its conspicuous vices - self-righteousness and self-seeking. - Ramsden, Busby, 74; Ramsden, Marsden, 134, 195; R. M. R.
125 Venus, Markham's dog, is not mentioned in his Van Diemen's Land narrative and may thus have been acquired on the Brazil Packet.
126 Markham's distances are again wide of the mark: from Pakanae to Kohukohu is about 14 miles, while ships of 400 tons would not go much higher than Horeke which is barely 3 miles beyond Kohukohu and thus only some 17 miles above Pakanae.
127 This description best fits Matawhera Point where the Admiralty chart shows depths of from 13 to 22 fathoms and an isolated conical hill to the left.
128 Edward Fishwick's chief claim to fame or notoriety is his association with Captain Stewart of the brig Elizabeth. See note 170 below.
129 The place was generally known as Te Kohukohu or the Kohukohu. The name, as Markham suggests, may derive from kohu, meaning fog, or from one of several other meanings of kohukohu. - R. M. R.
130 Beyond the attractive picture Markham gives, little is recorded of Mailing's partner; there is even some slight doubt about his name, but it was almost certainly Thomas Herbert Kelly. - R. M. R.
131 Frederick Edward Maning, at this time a young man of 23, had been a settler in the Hokianga for only about four months. As Markham suggests in his own fashion, Maning had left his birthplace, Dublin, as a child of 13 to migrate to Van Diemen's Land, whence he crossed over to New Zealand. He married a sister of the Hikutu chief Hauraki and in 1839 bought Onoke, which remained his home until a few years before his death. John Webster describes him at their first meeting during Heke's war as 'a tall wiry man of splendid physique', his hair falling 'from his head in ringlets'. He published his semi-imaginative account of the war in 1862 and in the following year, Old New Zealand, which uses in a masterly, if unscrupulous, fashion some of the experiences so ineptly recorded by Markham. Maning became a Judge of" the Native Land Court and died in London in 1883. Markham's portrait of Maning is the least favourable in the entire narrative. In charitable explanation, two writers have recently advanced the theory that the 'boisterous Irish giant' and his partner Kelly were putting on a '"rough colonial" act' for the Englishman's benefit, that they may have been 'laughing up their sleeves' at Markham who is surprisingly termed a 'poetic young man'. Such a pose, it can be objected, would have been difficult to sustain throughout four months in the close intimacy of Kohukohu; and if one may put forward an alternative conjecture, possibly the shrewd and intelligent Maning saw through Markham's pretensions and, by ridiculing them, earned his enmity. In fact the two men had a good deal in common. In this context and at this distance in time their chief point of contrast is a literary one: the backwoodsman was a writer of conspicuous talent, his elegant rival a blundering tyro. - DNZB, 2: 50; Webster, 255; Manson, 12.
132 The scientific terms which Markham inserts in the margins of his botanical dissertation have obviously been taken from Yate's Account of New Zealand, for he repeats that author's errors, e. g., 'Dammari' for 'Dammara' and the confused 'Tawara (Astilia angustifolia)'. See Yate, 36, 107, and note 39 below. Special acknowledgments for help in compiling the following notes are due to Dr Robert Cooper, Botanist of the Auckland Institute and Museum.
133 An error on Markham's part: as he himself notes later in discussing the tea tree, the three countries have trees and plants in common; in fact 369 of the species found in New Zealand -or roughly one-fifth - extend to Australia. - Cheeseman, xiv.
134 Richard Cunningham (1793-1835), whose death is referred to in Markham's footnote and again on p. 48 and footnote, was the Colonial Botanist of New South Wales and a brother of the more famous Alan. He was lost and probably killed by aborigines in 1835 while a member of T. L. Mitchell's expedition to the Darling River. - Australian encyclopaedia, 3: 147.
135 The kahikatoa, Leptospermum scoparium, is widely but erroneously called manuka.
136 In this passage Markham probably refers to the tutu, Coriaria arborea and allied species, but they are small trees or sprawling shrubs, not vines, as he states.
137 The ti, denoting Cordyline of several species, is vulgarly known as the cabbage tree.
138 The term 'aka' is applied to several species of Metrosideros, and members of this genus have been used for shipbuilding.
139 The name 'Toro Toro' (torotoro) is identified by Colenso as Metrosideros scandens, sometimes called 'oka' or 'aka torotoro'. It is a forest climber and the stems would be suitable for binding.
140 The drawing shows a large tree festooned with supplejack vines and bearing on the branches clumps of Astelia which Markham, following Yate, has erroneously labelled 'Tawara Astilia Angustifolia'. 'Tawara' is a rendering of 'tawhara' the Maori name for the fruit of another climber, Freycinetia banksii (kiekie); 'Astilia' is a misspelling of 'Astelia', a genus of epiphytic or perching lily.
141 Horoeka is the Maori name for lancewood, Pseudopanax crassifolium, which has yellow wood and is - or was - used to make walking sticks.
142 The illustration makes it clear that this palm is the nikau, Rhopalostylis sapida.
143 Toetoe is a general name for large-leaved grasses and sedges, but is often applied to Arundo conspicua, the stems of which were used for lining houses.
144 The raupo or bulrush, Typha angustifolia, is found in most countries.
145 159 species of ferns and allied plants have now been listed in the country.
146 As Markham expresses it, the statement is manifestly untrue. Native grasses were growing before the advent of cattle, but they were less conspicuous and abundant until bracken was kept down by grazing animals and replaced by grass. Yate puts the position in simpler and more accurate terms: 'where the fern has been destroyed, a strong native grass... grows in its place, and effectually prevents the fern from springing up again.' - Yate, 75-6.
147 No New Zealand ferns are parasitic, but many are epiphytic, or perching, and clothe old trees.
148 Markham is referring here to the bracken or rauaruhe, Pteridium esculentum.
149 For Davis and the mission farm at Waimate, here introduced somewhat prematurely, see note 129 below.
150 The effect of this paragraph is confused because in the first sentence Markham speaks of raupo as a 'Marsh Reed'. Subsequently, however, by 'Reed' he seems to mean toetoe which, in fact, is not a reed but a grass.
151 Markham may have drawn his meagre knowledge of the Maori afterlife from missionary sources which were often unreliable and which he in turn has probably misinterpreted. Slaves were killed on the death of a chief, but they were believed to accompany him not only to the North Cape (or, more correctly, Cape Reinga) but to the underworld or Reinga itself. Yate explains, 'as in the Reinga all the functions of life are supposed to be performed, slaves are, or were formerly, killed, upon the death of a chief, that they may follow and attend upon their master.... ' (Polack, writing from direct observation, confirms this statement.) Yate also describes the Reinga as 'a place of torment', a notion that may well have given rise to Markham's 'a kind of Purgatory'; but Elsdon Best dismisses Yate's statement as 'absolutely untrue', asserting positively, 'No Maori held such a belief....' - Yate, 140-1; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 73; Best, Maori myth, 17.
152 Captain Clark may have been following Maori custom, for, according to Polack, a 'native is allowed to marry sisters'; on the other hand, the story of his triple menage may only be a product of Markham's scandalous tongue and lurid imagination. David Clark, who was superintendent of Raine and Ramsay's shipyard at Te Horeke (see note 55 below) and sailed the vessels to Sydney on completion, was drowned in the Hokianga in 1831 'by the upsetting of a Boat' on the authority of his tombstone in Mangungu cemetery. He left an infant son, later Hori Karaka Tawhiti, M. H. R. - Polack, New Zealand, 2: 376; R. M. R.
153 Elsewhere, Te Wharepapa is always spoken of as chief of the Ihutae, not of the Ngati Kaitutae. Outside Markham little is recorded of him. In his younger days he took part with Moetara, Nene, Patuone, and other chiefs in the great southern raid of 1819-20 during which they joined forces with Te Rauparaha. He seems to have been less submissive to European authority than most of his fellow chiefs and in 1845 allied himself with Heke. - Webster, 252, 275, 282; Smith, Maori wars, 97, 115; Davis, Patuone, 84; R. M. R.
154 The Ngati Kaitutae, asserts Polack, were the remnants of the Whangaroa tribe responsible for the Boyd massacre. He writes, 'Nati kai tangata, signifies the tribe of cannibals, a name given, par excellence for the dreadful brutalities the individuals that composed it, perpetrated at Wangaroa, they were broken by E' Ongi [Hongi], from whence they fled and took shelter in Hokianga, when a disgusting appellation was given them, Nati Kai tuti, or devourers of excrement, to signify the desolate state to which they had been reduced.' - Polack, Manners and customs, 2: 137.
155 John Marmon (1800-80), commonly known as 'Jacky', settled in the Hokianga about 1824 after an adventurous youth and early manhood. Markham's allusion is to John Rutherford's narrative of 10 years in New Zealand included in The New Zealanders (1830), a volume compiled by J. L. Craik and published in the Library of Entertaining Knowledge. There (pp. 251-2) Rutherford describes an encounter with Marmon early in 1825 before a battle between the Ngapuhi, under Hongi, and the Ngati Whatua, fought at Te Ika a Ranganui in the Kaipara. The two men were on opposing sides and Rutherford tells how he was allowed to penetrate the Ngapuhi lines to meet his fellow European 'who', he relates, 'told me his name was John Mawman, that he was a native of Port Jackson, and that he had run away from the Tees sloop of war while she lay at this island. He had since joined the natives, and was now living with a chief named Rawmatty [Raumate], whose daughter he had married, and whose residence was at a place called Sukyanna [Hokianga], on the west coast, within fifty miles of the Bay of Islands. ' It is a little surprising that Markham, with his sharp nose for scandal, fails to mention one of Marmon's chief claims to notoriety, his alleged cannibalism. As Webster records it, on one occasion he brought a basket of cooked human flesh to George Nimmo who refused the proffered delicacy; 'Marmon said he had no idea how good it tasted.'- DNZB, 2: 54-5; Craik, 251-2; Smith, Maori wars, 333, 345; Webster, 273.
156 In 1834 Te Horeke was the largest trading establishment on the river. Earle made two sketches of the place in 1827, describing it as 'a snug little colony of our own countrymen' who referred to it as 'Deptford'. Owned by the Sydney merchants Raine, Ramsay, and Gordon Browne (a firm variously designated), the Horeke shipyard was a notable instance of New South Wales commercial enterprise in New Zealand. Between 1827 and 1830, under the superintendence of Captain Clark, three ocean-going vessels were built there - the Enterprise, the New Zealander, and the Sir George Murray - and perhaps one or two smaller craft. After the firm's bankruptcy in 1830, the shipyard and the Sir George Murray, of 392 tons, were purchased by Thomas McDonnell. 



 To judge from Buller's description of the place in the late thirties (confirmed by Charles Heaphy's watercolour), McDonnell lived in some style, with a large house, imposing gardens, and several pieces of cannon. He was indeed by virtue of birth, experience, possessions, and pretensions the leading settler in the Hokianga. Reputedly a younger son of the Earl of Antrim, he was born in Ireland in 1788, rose to the rank of lieutenant in the Royal Navy and served with the East India Company. He would thus have had much in common with Markham, but they failed to meet, for McDonnell was in England during 1834. He returned in the following year and, to Busby's indignation, was appointed Additional British Resident, an honorary office granted as a result of his own solicitations. In the 12 months or so he occupied the position McDonnell succeeded in stirring up discord along the whole length of the river. During the early months of his regime, he combined with the missionary William White in a futile attempt to enforce temperance, but after this short-lived alliance the two headstrong autocrats engaged in a feud which embroiled their neighbours, Maori and European, and continued after the Additional Resident's resignation in July 1836 and White's dismissal in the same year. McDonnell failed in his efforts to dispose of his property to the New Zealand Company and gradually declined in fortune and prestige. Lieutenant Morton Jones, of HMS Pandora, described him in 1852 as a 'pleasant, plausible', garrulous person, shunned because of his reputation, and living in an atmosphere of 'decay and fallen greatness'. He died in 1864. 



 George Frederick Russell, who is elsewhere termed McDonnell's manager or agent, also had some claims to gentility. A note in the Hocken Library's transcript of Markham designates him 'a relative of Lord John Russell'. Settling in the Hokianga about the end of 1830, he married a niece of Nene. In the late thirties he shifted across the river to Kohukohu where, in 1869, James Buller met his well-educated half-caste daughters and their husbands, flourishing traders. Russell himself died in 1855. - Earle, 25; Davis, Patuone, 23; Yate, 29; Buller, 28, 144; Ramsden, Marsden, 75-6; Ramsden, Busby, 35n, 103-40 passim, 163, 178, 314; DNZB, 2: 8-9, 263-4; R. M. R.
157 The reference is to William Yate's Account of New Zealand (1835). In spite of his own denial, there is evidence in the narrative that Markham had at least glanced at Yate.
158 The book is Richard A. Cruise's Journal of a ten months' residence in New Zealand (1823). Markham's canard, amplified more cautiously in the footnote, could be ignored had it not been put into circulation by Dr Hocken who suggested that the subaltern was Ensign Alexander McCrae. This attribution has been denied by two later writers: when introducing his edition of McCrae's diary, Sir Frederick Chapman could find no grounds for Hocken's theory; Cruise's modern editor, A. G. Bagnall, supports Chapman, citing stylistic and other evidence for his opinion. In short, there is no good reason for doubting Cruise's authorship. - Hocken, 39; Chapman, 3; Cruise, 10.
159 Hongi Hika (17777-1828), the famous Ngapuhi chief, had been dead six years when Markham visited the country; but this and other references scattered through the narrative indicate that he was still very much a dominating presence in the north. - DNZB, 1: 407.
160 Born in Ireland in 1801, Thomas Poynton was, according to Markham, transported to New South Wales for the honourable and patriotic offence of 'White Boyism'. He came to the Hokianga about 1828 and, as in his dealings with Markham, seems to have been an obliging and industrious settler. Twice he clashed with William White and resorted to direct action in defence of his rights; but in neither respect was he in the least exceptional. Partly through his efforts a Roman Catholic mission was established, and it was in his cottage at Totara Point that the first mass in New Zealand was celebrated on 13 January 1838. He died in 1892. - DNZB, 2: 182; Elder in Marsden, 537n; Ramsden, Busby, 164, 228; Auckland Star, 10 March 1892.
161 According to local tradition, Dennis Browne Cochrane was a son of Admiral Thomas Cochrane, tenth Earl of Dundonald; since, however, Cochrane was born about 1781 (the son of Thomas Cochrane and Sarah Gale), and the Admiral in 1775 (he was not married till 1812), their exact relationship must remain uncertain. In 1836 Cochrane was still on the Mangamuka, but when visited by James Buller in 1869, he was apparently living near the mouth of the Waima. At that time, reported Buller, he was more than 80 years of age with a large half-caste family, some of whom 'had not done as well as could be wished'. He died in 1877. - R. M. R.; DNB, 11: 165, 174; Buller, 147.
162 See note 73 below.
163 A more lucid description has been left by another visitor of the same period: 'The Wata [whata] is of very varied construction, being sometimes a mere stage, lifted up about twenty feet above the ground, upon four stanchions, and in its turn supporting the winter store of potatoes, corn, &c, all carefully covered in with a matting of reed or bulrush: sometimes a rudely manufactured raft, slung from the dead or dying branches of a decayed tree....' - Marshall, 63-4.
164 In his role of bon vivant Markham invokes the great names of early nineteenth-century gastronomy: Louis Eustache Ude, 'practically and theoretically the best [chef] in Europe', was once maitre d'hotel to Madame Letitia Bonaparte and became chef of Crockford's, London's fashionable gaming and dining club; le restaurant Very, in the Palais Royal, Paris, was the first great prix fixe restaurant and provided the setting for a notable French victory: 'C'est dans cet etablissement qu'un garcon apporta un pot de chambre a un officier prussien qui avait demande du cafe "dans une tasse ou un Francais n'aurait jamais bu."'; the Cafe de Paris was later (and probably at this time) in the Avenue de Opera. - Puckler-Muskau, 315; Young, 1: 124; Hillairet, 1: 35; Galignani's Paris guide, 293.
165 These and the following remarks on Maori health are a mixture of fact and opinion. That the eating of soaked Indian corn should of itself cause consumption and scrofula is, to say the least, most improbable. Indeed, there appears to be no proof that maize treated in the manner Markham describes is injurious. Though condemned by Europeans, it still remains an article of diet in rural districts, and some Maoris attribute to it their good health and longevity. Markham is on surer ground when he ascribes the prevalence of consumption to the abandonment of hilltop sites and the use of blankets for clothing; he errs, however, in his references to malaria, a disease not endemic in New Zealand. - Yen. 
166 The Wesleyan mission at Mangungu had been established in 1828 after the sacking of the first station at Whangaroa. When Buller first saw it in 1836 the mission stood in a clearing backed by steep hills which were covered with thick forest. There were capacious dwellings for the staff, low huts for the natives, and, in the centre, the mission church. On the outskirts were a 'prosperous' orchard, the cemetery with its drooping willows, a boathouse, and an uncompleted wharf. The two missionaries Markham met on this occasion were both recent arrivals. Born in England in 1806, John Whiteley had joined the mission in May 1833. He soon clashed with his overbearing superior, William White, but they managed to work together until Whiteley left to open a station at Kawhia (where White was prospecting at the time Markham paid his visit). He returned to the Hokianga to found a mission at Newark, near Pakanae, later reopened the Kawhia station, and finally served in Taranaki where he was killed by Hauhau rebels in 1869. William Woon, a Cornishman born in 1803, had come to Mangungu only a few months earlier. He had previously served in Tonga as a missionary printer and translator, and, except for a short period at Kawhia, he remained in the Hokianga until 1846, working in the same capacity. He was afterwards stationed in Taranaki and died in 1858. - Laws, passim; DNZB, 2: 498-9, 532; Ramsden, Marsden, 99-100.
167 The sympathetic light in which William White appears throughout the narrative may reflect Markham's lack of discernment or, possibly, his feeling for a companion spirit. A cruder Kendall, White had been in New Zealand more than a decade, serving first at the Wesleyan mission at Whangaroa and, after a visit to England, at Mangungu where he had been superintendent since 1830. In 1833 the Rev. Joseph Orton had come from Sydney to investigate complaints of White's autocratic conduct and commercial activities, but he weathered the inquiry and retained the position for three more turbulent years. His chief opponent was the Additional Resident, Thomas McDonnell, with whom he combined for a brief period in 1835 in the attempt to impose prohibition on a generally reluctant population. After this short truce there followed a series of plots and counterplots which involved most of the leading figures in the district and culminated in White's arraignment for immorality and his dismissal in 1836. After a period abroad he returned to the Hokianga and remained there for some years, a land jobber, a trader of unsavoury reputation, and always a centre of disaffection. Webster, who describes his unheroic part in Heke's war, gave a blunt summary of White's chief talent and chief failing when he wrote, 'He was a great preacher, but his weakness was Maori women.' His later years are obscure, but he still flourished as a public figure in 1873. His name is conspicuously missing from the monument at Mangungu commemorating the mission's re-establishment. Mrs White, who earned Markham's qualified approval and the commiseration of her husband's colleagues, died in 1883 after a life devoted to good works. - DNZB, 2: 497; Ramsden, Marsden, 101-5, 131-3, 189n; Ramsden, Busby, 110-11, 125-7, 138-9, 156-7; Webster, 264, 267-9; Laws, 21-34.
168 Polack says that the reputation of the New Zealand pine was injured because the Dromedary and the Coromandel loaded more of the inferior white pine (kahikatea) than of the kauri; that was in 1820, but similar reasons in Markham's time may explain the prejudice he mentions. - Polack, New Zealand, 2: 388-9.
169 Hewitt and Bannister were two of Markham's Hobart Town acquaintances: the former was a partner in the firm of Hewitt and Gore; Captain Bannister, as Markham explains in the next paragraph, was Sherriff of Hobart Town.
170 Brown is possibly Gordon Davies Browne, formerly part owner of the Horeke shipyard; it seems most unlikely that he was a former convict, but since he came from Sydney that label could easily have been attached to him. - R. M. R.
171 The function which Markham goes on to describe seems in fact to have been both hakari, an entertainment at which immense quantities of food were consumed and presented to visitors, and hahunga, defined by Yate as 'a grand annual feast; when the bones of all belonging to several united tribes are taken down'. Yate says the two feasts were 'totally different' and held at different times of the year, but Markham's account certainly includes features of both. - Yate, 137-9.
172 Bartolomeo Pinelli (1781-1835) was a Roman painter and engraver.
173 The Mahurehure chief Pi lived and died a warrior. He fought in the tribal wars of the eighteen twenties and was a somewhat recalcitrant figure during the troubles of the thirties. His conduct with the Wesleyan missionaries was equivocal: in 1836, according to McDonnell, he firmly resisted their overtures, but the following year, after some ambiguous behaviour, he used his influence on their behalf when Mangungu was the scene of conflict between pagan Maoris and Christians. Later in 1837, despite Nathaniel Turner's warnings, he joined Titore in the fighting against Pomare and was killed at Otuihu in the Bay of Islands. - DNZB, 2: 166; Ramsden, Marsden, 167-70, 174n, 230; R. M. R.
174 Markham's description of Maori funerary customs, given here and elsewhere in the narrative, agrees in general with the accounts of other observers. The ceremonies attending death were celebrated in three phases: first, the mourning rites (briefly described on p. 42) and the burial or other temporary disposal of the body; second, the exhumation (hahunga) as at Moetara's feast; and thirdly, the final disposal of the bones in a burial cave or other resting place (mentioned on p. 76). There were local variations, and some of the details given by Markham do not occur in all accounts. Red 'coffins', for example, seem to have been used chiefly in the final phase to hold the bones of the dead. Their use as receptacles for the bodies during the process of decay is, however, mentioned by other writers besides Markham. Yate describes how the trussed corpse was 'placed in a box lined with blankets, and painted outside with red ochre and whiting', while later the box itself was 'either suspended from the branch of a tree, or... placed upon a stage erected for that purpose, upon a couple of poles about nine feet high'. Similarly Best writes of an ancient practice among the Tuhoe people, 'Bodies of the dead were put in a rough wooden box or coffin made of slabs of timber.... This would be placed on the top of a high post near the settlement, and when the flesh was decayed the bones would be taken to a burial tree or cave.' On this point, then, Markham's observations are confirmed. Rather more doubtful is his tentative statement that the bodies of the dead chiefs would be shown 'eight or ten times' before they were deposited in their final burial place. Both Yate and Best mention only one exhumation, while, referring to Hongi, Polack remarks, 'The last haihunga [hahunga], or exhumation of his bones, in honour of his memory, took place for the third time in April 1830.' - Yate, 136-8; Best, Maori eschatology; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 190.
175 Battersby had a prominent part in the Harriet affair described on pp. 78-80; his Christian names were almost certainly Thomas May. - R. M. R.
176 Miti, who appears in a highly unfavourable light in a later section of the narrative, was converted by the Wesleyan missionaries in 1835. He was then reported to be 35 years of age and to have persuaded all his people to follow his example. - Morley, 62.
177 The un-Polynesian name of Rivers was applied to several Maoris in records of the period; this man was probably Tarewarewa, a claimant in the Kohukohu purchase. - R. M. R.
178 This statement needs both explanation and qualification. The Maoris hunted rats for food by driving them along 'rat runs' into pits or traps. The runs were cut straight through the forest because the rat was thought to run only in a straight line. The outermost rat runs in a tribal territory thus marked the farthest limit to which the neighbouring tribe would permit hunting. The Maoris also used natural features - streams, hills, rocks, prominent trees - to demarcate boundaries and sometimes employed such artificial means as a line of flat boulders or a pit. The sequel to the Kohukohu purchase apparently contributed to one of Maning's anecdotes: 'One man required payment because his ancestors, as he affirmed, had exercised the right of catching rats on it; but which he (the claimant) had never done, for the best of reasons, i. e., there were no rats to catch: except indeed pakeha rats, which were plenty enough, but this variety of rodent was not counted as game. Another claimed because his grandfather had been murdered on the land, and - as I am a veracious pakeha - another claimed payment because his grandfather had committed the murder!' - Taylor, 87-9, 380, 385; Firth, 390; Maning, 71-2.
179 The works referred to are William Ellis's Polynesian Researches (1829) and John Philip's Researches in South Africa (1828).
180 Matangi's name crops up repeatedly in records of the period, and his conversion is well attested. Marsden met him on his first visit to the Hokianga in September 1819 when, as a young pagan chief, he had succeeded to his father and was involved in a feud with his kinsman Muriwai. The Rev. Joseph Orton, who was at Mangungu in June 1833, reported him as demanding the presence of a missionary at Utakura- 'his patience was almost exhausted'. Polack knew him in 1831 and, returning to the Hokianga six years later, found him a 'new friend with an old face', answering only to the name of Himena Peta or Simon Peter (not Paul as Markham has it). The historian of Methodism is rather more sceptical than Markham about the completeness of the chief's conversion, for he relates that, after benefiting from treatment himself, Matangi came to Mangungu for medicine for his eldest son but said that he had also sent for the tohunga. - Marsden, 184; Ramsden, Marsden, 133; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 162-3; Morley, 58.
181 Salvator Rosa (1615-73) was a Neapolitan painter whose gloomy and romantic landscapes were much admired by connoisseurs of the period.
182 Even the more modest figure given in the footnote is, in all probability, far too high. The previous year, when consulted about the distribution of a Maori version of Busby's inaugural speech, Yate, who was in a position to know, estimated that 500 people in New Zealand (presumably Maoris) could read. - Ramsden, Marsden, 28; Wright, 174-5.
183 Markham's references to Motiti are somewhat puzzling, almost as difficult to reconcile as the assorted variants of its name which he sprinkles throughout the narrative. Nor is it clear why he should object to Earle's description, as he does in the footnote. Earle merely says that their ship grounded opposite 'a small island, or rather sand-bank' and continues, 'It was a curious and interesting spot, being a native par and depot, and was entirely covered with store-houses for provisions and ammunition. The centre was so contrived that all assailants might be cut off before they could effect a landing....' The last sentence is a little obscure, but the description as a whole does not seem inconsistent with Markham's own account of the place as 'a deserted Parr' nor with his previous reference (p. 38) to Wharepapa's having been besieged there by Moetara. What is rather odd is his implication here and even more emphatically elsewhere (p. 76) that the Maoris used the derelict houses on a sandbank as a permanent repository for their dead. A possible explanation is that between Earle's visit and Markham's the siege occurred, resulting in some loss of life; that the bodies were left on the island but only until they had reached a state when they could be transferred to the ancestral burial places; and that in the meantime the pa was abandoned and made tapu. In short, Markham may have mistaken a temporary resting place of the dead for a permanent repository. - Earle, 24-5.
184 If by 'person' Markham means European, he is relying on informants in the Bay of Islands; no settler had lived in the Hokianga for 17 years.
185 Even if Markham is giving the total distance from Kohukohu, 25 miles seems excessive; as before, the estimate should perhaps be halved.
186 Apart from Markham's unfavourable picture and the lurid anecdotes on which it is based, little is recorded of Rangatira. As would be expected of a young warrior, he joined in the southern raids of the eighteen twenties and, on Moetara's death, succeeded him as principal chief of Pakanae. A Wesleyan described him as '"of less mind, less decision, and less principle"' than his brother - which seems to mean he was less anxious to please the Europeans. In fact, he obviously had a mind of his own. At one time a convert to Catholicism, he later apostasised, declaring in favour of '"our old way"'. He is said to have lived until 1880, the last surviving signatory of the Treaty of Waitangi. - DNZB, 2: 89; Ramsden, Marsden, 127-8.
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 New Zealand, or Recollections of it [Part Two]
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  and pay The Roof of my Room a second time with Pitch and then cover it over with cinders from the Armourers forge, but made it comfortable at last. Oakes takes all his Traps down to Parkeneigh and stows them in Moyterras House, and makes him drunk every Night. We went to Show-racky to get some more "Go ashores" or Iron pots, for Household purposes, tin pannikins to drink out of. Then went across to Tom Styles to see the Schooner of 90 Tons he is building in the Oreedarr River. 187 

  Industry Wrights Otterigo [Marginal note]

  Then to Wrights 188 The Blacksmiths at Otterigo [Otarihau] the Mouth of the Mouna Mouca for some Iron Work. Venus near her Confinement; when she is ready to Travel I mean to go to the Bay of Islands. Mr Craigh well educated from Haddington near Edinburgh died of Fever from Drink, he having given himself up to it. 

  Mr Craigh Funeral 32 Europeans attended the funeral April 18th [Marginal note]

  I attended his funeral, and Thirty two Europeans at Munghune, but Mr Woone did not read the Church service. He had a Wife in Hobart Town and his Investment all gone from drink. 189 There are about seventy Europeans scattered about the River up and down. 190

  I received a Note from Mr White requesting my attendance at Munghune on a case of encroachment. I met on the occasion Messrs. Mitchell, 191 Russel[l], Southey, Gibbon and Fishwick and the three Wesleyan Missionaries. 

  Collin Gillies [Marginal note]

  We assembled in the school House, and discussed the Title deeds, and gave our verdict in Unison with the Missionary's viz that Collin [Colin] Gillies had encroached on the property of the Wesleyan Missionaries and a warm dispute ensued; one of Gillies friends known on the Hokiangar River by the name of Tom the Thrasher Swore and was turned out of the school room. 192 Some fun occurred; Gillies said he did not care a Straw in disagreeing with all hands, but Mr Markham as he was a Gentleman above the Common, and in consequence there was a Laugh at my expence; dined with Mr White.

  April 24th [Marginal note]

  Went to Tom Styles to get the New Boats mast and sail altered, got home late, Oakes had taken every thing he could away to Parkineigh where he is plundered by his Friend Moyterra.

  May 14th [Marginal note]

  Heard that Mr. Busby the British Resident had been shot at in his House at Why-tanghie [Waitangi]; 193 they concealed it for six months, but were found out the day I left New Zealand in H. M Ship Alligator Captain Lambert; went up to Mitchells for a day or two shooting Ducks. Pd. Rees £4-0-0 for the House. 194 Been Naughty lately shooting Ducks on a Sunday with Kelly and Manning, killed three brace.

  May 14th [Marginal note]

  For the last Ten days miserable weather, squally and Rain, House cold, wet and Muddy, determined to build a Chimney New Zealand fashion. Went up to Otterigo for some slabs of Coudie, rafted them and commenced the Uprights. Fire place 6 feet square, lined with Stone and Mud 6 feet high and many a Blazing Fire I have had inside and did well with it; we found we could cook much better in the House than in cook house (Couter) [kauta] and by doing so we always had a boy at hand and our meals were more regular to time, in consequence, and I think cleaner in every respect; the Room was much dryer in consequence of the fire; we kept lat[t]erly the Natives out more than before; Manning was afraid of loosing his popularity with the Cheifs.

  June 1st sawn planks [Marginal note]

  Kelly and Manning had been lately up the River rafting Timber on account of Oakes As the Sawyers paid Sawn planks at the rate of 8/ the
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  100 feet, 1 Inch thick and eleven inches broad. Some times I was left for three days together and I remained with Arungher and Venus to look after the place. On one occasion like this, when they had taken the last piece of Pork out of the Cask, and all that was Cooked, I lived two days on Potatoes, as we had been out of Flour and Biscuits for a long time. I had lent them the Boat and Boys, therefore I was the only Man in the place. I got Hungry and determined to go out and shoot a Pig so I loaded a Musket and took the Bayonet, and told Arungher to boil the "Go ashore" and Tea Kettle, and get the things all ready full of Hot Water "Why weirah" [wai wera] for Pig killing. For ten days I had been suffering from the Rheumatism in my ankles, but I was all right again. I went into the Marsh on the other side of the Parr, one Mile from the House, and Venus soon began in the Ferns, Reeds and Rushes to put up a Pig, and I fired, down came the Pig and I stuck it and bled it in the Heart with the Bayonet. 

  Shot a Pig [Marginal note]

  Then the Query was how to get it home, so I pulled out my knife and gutted him, and Arungher came and carried the Musket, and I had to drag the Pig 170 lb weight up a Hill, and for a mile before we got it home. Then came the Work of cleaning him and it got dark, so as I was hungry I cut a clean leg off, and left it till the morning so Arungher and I had a Pork Cutlet for Supper and about eleven both Boats returned with the Raft, they had been aground with it and had eaten nothing for four and twenty hours. They were not sorry to find that I could help myself when hungry, as they profitted by it, that night and they cleared the rest of it next day. Kelly and Manning had got a large Pile of Timber ready to go to Hobart town and all the Sawyers paid up their debts in sawn Timber. 

  Brig Amity [Marginal note]

  The Brig Amity [arrived] with Captain White, Mrs White, Mr Lamb, Groves of the 63d Regt, Camble [Campbell?]; Lamb was Super cargo on account of Rowland the Man who had advanced Money for Oakes and sent an investment of £600 well salted for the Hokiangar River. 195 I bought some things, as I had come here for three weeks and had been four Months in the Country; I was beginning to tire fast during the Winter, Wet, dirty and laid up with Rheumatism, Arungher my only Consolation; Manning was a low minded savage. I went in the Emma Kemp Cutter to Parkeneigh to see Lamb and Groves Old Friends. 

  9 Ton of Pork [Marginal note]

  The Amity came up soon abreast the Ko-ko [Kohukohu] to Load, and Camble sent to buy Pork, and they killed nine Ton of Pork. The Night we were on board It came on to blow. The Amity lost a Whale boat that Night, found her smashed upon the Rocks next morning; met Oakes on board and did not speak to him. I went back in the Boat, Poynton sold her, and lent me an other for the short time I had to remain. Venus nearly ready to Travel. 

  Row with Amittie [Marginal note]

  I had a tremendous Row with Amittie * a Renowned Chief a very vain Cannibal; he had been away on a sneaking expedition to the Southward and he and his three Companions brought home Thirty two heads; since then he has become very troublesome. I was looking at some Fowling peices, sent up to buy Pork with, when we had got rid of our Stinking Guests, all but two, as the house had been full of them, when a Boy, I took for a Cookey or slave, came in and wanted to light his Pipe at our fire. I said "Arrey gitty Couter Maco Pipo." ['Haere ki te kauta me to paipa. '] Go to the Cook house and light your Pipe and I turned him back.

  * The 2d chief of the Why-mar River. E. M.
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  The Enraged Chief, Amittie, * was the boys relative, came and tried to wrench the fowling peice out of my hand, tore the Shirt off me, and wanted to wrestle with me on the Beach which was Muddy. ** Then he flew at his Musket, and got that, and would have shot me, but I held the Muzzle up, but his two Companions inside, as their Blood boiled their Nostrils distended, Cocked their Muskets and he had seventy men outside in two Canoes. 

  Arungher brings me my Pistols [Marginal note]

  In the Middle poor Arungher ran in and said "Tenne [tend] Markhamo" and put my pistols into my hands, and put one hand on the head of Amittie and flourished a Tomahawke. When I clapped a pistol to his Breast and the other at the nearest Friend, he lowered the Musket and said it was "Shanrica" Humbug, but I kept my eye on him and put my Pistols in my Pocket. *** 

  Threatened to eat Amittie [Marginal note]

  Arungher in the Mean time was up on the table and caught him by the Hair a great indignity and swore if he touched a Hair of my head she would eat him and all his Tribe; the Sawyers present who were listening to her, kissed her, and swore there was not an other Woman in New Zealand with a Soul like hers. 

  Arungher [Marginal note]

  Then I turned to her, kissed and Thanked her. The poor Girl threw her Arms round me, and sobbed aloud. I got rid of Amittie and went to my box. I had a Garnet Ring that had been intended for a Chere Amie in Hobart Town, but as it might have caused Suspicion, she refused to accept it. 

  Gave her a Ring [Marginal note]

  So I put it on Arunghers finger; her delight knew no bounds, as she had often wanted it, but I told her it was for a Waheinee Parkiah, European Woman, **** but then when she had it she was proud to be the Whyhe Pi [whaiaipo ] ***** of a Rangatara Parkiah. I gave her two gown pieces from the Amity and she seemed drunk with delight. She was beautifully formed and had a Head that a Sculptor would have liked to have a Cast from and the Ring had its Charms. She was the only Woman in the River with one, and did Crow about it. Amittie came in and made it up with me before he left. I took Groves out shooting constantly and he was much on Shore with me.

  June 13th [Marginal note]

  I lent Kelly £50 and gave him an Order on Hewitt and Gore Hobart Town, as poor fellow he had been kind and civil to me. Manning I did not care for.

  June 23d [Marginal note]

  Asked Groves, Parker, 196 and Kelly to discuss with me, the remaining two Bottles of Wine (Claret) in honor of Miss Sarah Markhams birthday. 197 Parker made Arungher jealous by telling her the name of Waheinee Pi in England, that I had been drinking the health of. She did not by any means like the idea of my leaving the Country. The next day her Father Erowah [Iriwha?] from Widdy Hacky [Whirinaki], came and gave four large Pigs and we gave him a Blanket and one to Arunghers Mother, and a pound of Powder.

  I passed the time and often dined with Groves and Lamb on board the Amity. Oakes and I had a terrible Row before Lamb, and he again with

  * 'Amittie' is a marginal interpolation. 

 ** Two Sawyers present saying dont strike him, for your life Sir; he also drew his tomy hawk which I caught hold of. E. M. 

 *** I opened the pans of their Muskets and threw the primeing out. E. M. 

 **** The last two words are a marginal interpolation. 

 ***** Meaning sweetheart.
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  Kelly and Manning; he is a dirty mean Beast. Roger's is Gone as Schoolmaster to Clindon's Establishment at Okiato in the Bay of Islands.

  June 30th [Marginal note]

  I took leave of the Koko or Coco [Kohukohu], gave the Goats to Kelly pots, pans and Tubs &c. Parker and Manning said they would go up the Whyhoe River with me. 

  Engage Nicholson as Interpreter [Marginal note]

  I engaged Nicholson 198 from Otterigo to go across the Country with me as Interpreter as he knows many of them; Arungher went with me to Why-hoe. The Native Boys wished me good bye; I gave them each some thing and away I started, waving to Groves and Lamb, on board the Amity, saw Oakes and hope never to see him again, left Parker on board a Cutter called the Alexander MacCleay, and Manning went to the Showracky with me, and we started passing Jacky Marmonts fine House, and sleeping that Night at Dutch Sams, 199 the Boat builder, * so as to arrive at high Water at the head of the Why hoe River. It rained all night; the Centre of the Island is high wooded land. 

  Parting with poor Arungher [Marginal note]

  In the morning had such an affecting Scene to witness and through poor Arungher crying and hair all flowing, Cutting herself with Shells, and bleeding all over, when the Boat was ready. I could not help shedding a few tears for my unsophisticated Friend. 

  Parted from Arungher [Marginal note]

  She took her Cacahow off and threw it over me, sitting and crying and not to be comforted. I had a great mind to take her with me, as I expected to be only three weeks in the Bay of Islands, and meant to visit the Church Missionaries, I thought that I should be better with out her, So poor Girl I left her, may she be happy! I gave her my Sheets, 3 Blankets and a new Gown, and she cut her Sharks Tooth ** and gave it to me, the Greatest Compliment a Girl can pay her "Tarnee [tane] or Husband". We have not met since; I have sent her some things from Sydney.

  There was considerable Interest excited in the River some time before I left. Moyterra's Brother Rangatara had lost his second Wife she was (Mattie moiy) [mate moe] dead, and by the New-Zealand Law, the next Sister supplies her place The Next was the only Daughter of an Extinct Tribe, she was living and had lived four years with 

  Harry Pearson [Marginal note]

  Harry Pearson alias Doubleday Son of Major Doubleday of the Durham Militia and her Mother pretending to be ill, they sent for her to Parkeneigh, where she was a Prisoner for nearly a Month, but she would not leave Pearson At the end of the Month he would have used Violence When it would have been Death to her to have gone back, She made her escape, and after taking an amazing round she got up to the heads of the Mouna Mouca River and was a week with him, when there happened to be a drinking bout, at which Harry Pearson assisted, 

  Looses her

  while he was away, Rangatara borrowed a boat and boys and waited till it was an hour after dark just the top of the Flood, dashed up, ran up to the House forced it open, and took her by Main Force away to Parkeneigh ***and there she became his Wife He said the reason he did it was Harry Pearson said He would have Shot him if he could come at him, but he lost her for Ever! Major Doubleday had been writing to Mr White, the Missionary to try to get his

  * The last phrase is a marginal interpolation. 

 ** They wear sharks teeth dangling from their ears. E. M. 

 *** met them taking her away she crying and sobing. E. M.

 Page 61
  Passion for Drink! Plunder of the Fortitude [Marginal note]

  Son home, saying he knew his failing, Drink! and for that he gives up his Inheritance, to live this Wild kind of Life. *

  The Affair of the Fortitude belonging to Clindon and Stephenson is told thus. She got a shore near Mouta Coudy, and New Zealanders have some curious ideas as to Property. If a Ship anchors in the middle of a stream she is safe, but if she gets aground they consider it fair game to plunder her, and a full manned Canoe, boarded then tied the Crew in the Rigging and plundered her of a lot of things. They appealed to Moyterra, who mustered his Men, and went to have a Corrirow with these people. High words ensued, when one fired his Musket then, at it they went. In half an hour Twenty two Chiefs were shot, they counted their dead and cried "How you now" [heoi ano] (enough). There was a Cessation of Hostilities, some plunder was restored but they killed every thing on the place, burnt and Tabbooed it, So that MacLean lost all that he was worth in the World, 600 pounds worth of goods and the House. He was useing Interest with the Chiefs to have the Tabboo taken off but to no effect. And the Eleven Chiefs whom I had seen were killed at Mouta Coudy.

  leave Dutch Sam [Marginal note]

  I now Commence my Journey across the Island to the Bay of Islands 200 as Cook named it. ** Nicholson and I left Dutch Sams, and got up to the heads of the Whyhoe River. The Chief Nimini *** [Nene] 201 was gone in some other direction. 

  Boys to carry my Traps [Marginal note]

  Then came the Rub to get Boys to carry my Traps. As I required Six to "Pekow" or carry, and had the greatest difficulty to get them carried to Jacks the Sawyers on Captain Youngs Establishment **** and paid four Boys a fig of Tobacco each for their Trouble, and such Mud Clay to go through. 

  one runs away [Marginal note]

  I was done by one Boy who had engaged to carry my things to Kiddy Kiddy [Kerikeri] and I gave him 2 lb of Tobacco but he ran away and after him went Nicholson and Jack; they recovered six out of 24 figs, and spit in his Eye and called him "Tangata tihi" [tahae] Thief and returned, and Jack exerted himself and got five Boys to Pekow the Traps across at 2 lb each to Kiddy Kiddy. A Beautiful morning and off we started. 

  walk through the Forest [Marginal note] 

 vide 35 [Marginal note]

  I was walking nine hours good in the Bush. I forded or was carried over a Stream nine times to avoid Peninsulas. Then up again into an almost impervious Forest where you could not see the Light of day in consequence of a kind of Lily a sort of Parasitical Plant that has so much Root hanging down all keeping the Sun out, and as there is more damp there than in other parts of the Forest, I suppose they thrive more there than in other parts of the Island but they are to be seen every where in the Forests; at a distance they might be taken for Rookerys only I never saw them so thick. [Blank space left for drawing with caption, 'Tawara Astilia Angustifolia']. 202 I understand that the leaves die down every year, and hang under the branch and look like roots of some lily or Hyacinth, and they can only exist in a humid climate among the hills, as fog or clouds are seen to hang on the tops of these Hills.

  * This highly involved paragraph has been presented as it appears in the manuscript, for the addition of punctuation might in certain clauses distort rather than elucidate the meaning. 

 ** The Natives call it the 100 rocks. E. M. 

 *** In the manuscript the word was originally 'Ninni' or 'Nenni' which, through the addition of marks that are still visible, was altered to 'Nimini'. 

 **** 2 miles above where you land in the Whyhoe River. E. M.
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  Crossing to Kiddy Kiddy [Marginal note] 

 Souple Jacks [Marginal note]

  The Pig Tracks or Paths the most miserable possible for my Feet, holes up to my Knees in Mud, next a Sharp root, and so I kept blundering on, The Soles of my Shoes coming off, and my feet sore. Korradie or Flax, Vines, Rattan and number of other Creepers crossing the Path and Tripping one up, every minute, only seeing the Sun when crossing the River. Although a fine day The drip from the Trees was like a Shower bath constantly. I was Wet to the Skin. 

  get shelter and Food [Marginal note]

  We came to a Solitary Hut in a cleared Place beautifully situated. Here we put up for the Night, as I was dog tired, wet, hungry and Thirsty first Hot and then Cold. * My Traps went inside, and in an hour some Pork and Potatoes from a "Coppre Mourie" came in Smokeing with the Korraddie Baskets, and at it we went. I had my Salt this time, and I made a good Meal with Appetite Sauce, and then Nicholson and I had some Grog, and I gave the Chief and his Wife some, and did not feel quite so Miserable, but Oh! such a Night to pass; 

  close packing [Marginal note]

  Men, Women and Children to the amount of Twenty five people, four dogs beside Venus in a room. ** In the Evening they having all had a good blow out of Pork and Potatoes, and such a fire of their favourite Wood and so close and foul, from the number inside and a Fire also, And the Nature of their Food. Knowing you would be Lousy in the Morning but it rained hard or I would have gone out side to pass the Night. 

  Washing in Publick [Marginal note]

  At day break I went to Wash my self, to the great amusement of Men and Women who all came to see me. *** I was not very particular before them as I knew they, the Ladies and all, would like to see the whole of me. They showed the Remains of a Pig which had been wounded some time before. It had been killed and measured six feet long. 

  proceed [Marginal note]

  We got the Things out and had breakfast and started in half an hour. I gave one lb. of Tobacco for the use of the Hut, and the Pork and they seemed well Content. § In half an hour we ascended a Hill, and got on an open plain, fine foot Path, through fern country undulating and quite pleasant for the Feet. 

  Thirty Miles [Marginal note] 

 Kirri Kirri to Kiddy Kiddy [Marginal note]

  So I trotted on Thirty Miles to the Mission Station of Kiddy Kiddy, 203 but the Missionaries in their writings exclude the "D" from their Language because the Letter 'R' will answer as well in some Districts as Kirri Kirri, and Wirri Nacky [Whirinaki] instead of Widdy Nacky Thus making the Language poorer instead of enriching it. ****

  We arrived at Sunset and I went and took up my quarters at the Missionary's Carpenter's and I enjoyed my Supper, as I was dog tired. Nesbitt [Nesbit] 204 told me he had positive Orders not to allow an European in the place, as on some other occasion when he was absent, some Men came I believe on a Sunday, and kicked up a row, So he had Orders not to give Shelter to any one, but he said for all that he would not turn

  * I had been 9 hours on foot blundering on through this Forrest some times scrambling over fallen trees. E. M. 

 ** At Night a report of a Musket was heard and the head of the hut fired out of a scuttle or Musket in return - he said his Brother was at the edge of the Wood. E. M. 

 *** The stream here was small but the same we had crossed 9 times the day before. E. M. 

 **** In the hut that night they robbed me of the shot belt. E. M. 

 ***** The latter part of the sentence is obscure. Markham seems to be criticising the missionaries for reducing the spelling of Maori to a uniform system which ignores local variants in pronunciation: for example, the 'd' sound of certain words in some districts is universally represented by V in missionary Maori; thus they impoverish the language instead of enriching it. J. S. Polack presents a similar case rather more lucidly in New Zealand, 2: 279-81.
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  Tobacco [Marginal note]

  me out. So I paid the Boys all a fig each, and slept soundly. I went from Kiddy Kiddy to Kororadica which is distant Twenty five miles in a Native War Canoe. 205 They are larger at this side of the Island than on the Western and I paid 3 lb of Tobacco for the Trip. On leaving the place I was much amused at the Men having taken the Feathers out of the Missionary's Turkeys, and they dressed their Heads out "Walker pipe" [whakapaipai] very fine. In three or four hours I took up my quarters at and surveyed Kororadica, Hell as the Missionaries call it. 

  at Xmas [Marginal note]

  It certainly is a loose place when the Ships are in Harbour. 206 Some Sunday's 300 Men, from Thirty Whalers, have been on shore with their ladies and many a Row takes place. I found Alexander * very kind and obliging, 207 saw Mr Mare [Mair] and Pouditch [Powditch]; 208 things here were Cheap and comfortable. I should have got on badly in walking but for a Stick belonging to Jack the Sawyer at the head of the Why hoe River. As my Ankles were very Weak. The plains were covered with Fern or with Tea trees or Kicaitore, in the Gullies high Timber remained, and now and then the stump of a high Tree in the plains, showing that repeated fires are the causes of the clearings.

  The Boy set fire to the Fern [Marginal note] 

 Elastic Gum [Marginal note]

  Before we left the place where we had been eating some Pork and Potatoes, one of the Boys set fire to the dry Fern and it may have burnt for miles, and we saw lumps of Clear Coudy Gum which is always to be found about the roots of the Coudy. 

  nearly useless

  It softens in the Sun and is elastic like the Indian rubber, but it requires so much oil to make it soft, so as to be able to pay the bottom of a Boat, or do the Outside of a House with it as renders it nearly useless.

  July 5th Okiato [Marginal note]

  I went up to Captain Clindons to see Rogers, and was told there was a skilling ** for me, which I readily accepted. 209 The Natives call him "Dueterra" the Lizard from being harmless. 210 I called at Mares and Powditchs; in walking round the Environs of the Village, Alexander showed me the spot where He and Earl and Duke saw the Girl that had been shot, and eaten, and the place where the Coppre Mouries had been made. 211

  July 6th [Marginal note]

  Sunday I went in too late for the morning Service at Pihere [Paihia] the Missionary Establishment in the Bay of Islands. I was introduced to Mr Chapman and Mr Wm Williams. *** The former a Catechist, the latter the Revd. who was formerly a Surgeon but is now in Holy Orders; dined with Mr Chapman, met Mr Williams, found them both pleasant. 212 Mr Chapman acted as School master to some fifteen Boys sons of the Missionaries, till the Regular one came out. Mrs Chapman a very lady like person, and I often went there after wards. Mr Wm Williams shortly after this went to the Southward. I went to hear Evening Service. 

  2 Revd Mr Williams [Marginal note]

  There are two Revd Mr Williams Brothers, Henry and William. The Natives know him by the name of William Broder. Henry was formerly a Lieutenant in the Gallatea [Galatea]; he knew Jack Markham and Edward Kelly, 213 and was first or second Lieutenant of the Shannon, and took home the Chesapeake after that Action; he is liked by the Natives and has done a

  * Keeps the It Grog shop. E. M.

  ** An obsolete term meaning a small addition to a cottage. 

 *** The Revd Wm W is known to the natives by the name of Broder being Brother to the Revd Henry Williams. E. M.
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  great deal of good as a Missionary. * I took a round in company with Mr O'Connor and Mr Stansfield, 214 dined, and went afterwards to Okiarto.

  Okiarto July 7th [Marginal note]

  I took up my quarters at Clindons Skilling which was about a foot larger than the one I had at the Coko, and here I established my head quarters till the 25th of October 215 when I went on board the Alligator to Sydney. ** I was to Mess with Stephenson and Robson but they and Rogers, were going over to the Hokiangar the day following, so for the first week I messed with Clindon till their return. Venus took kindly to her new quarters.

  July 18th [Marginal note]

  Robson and Rogers returned from the Hokiangar River. No news. Clindon wrote a Note and I took the opportunity of calling upon Mr Busby the British Resident. He received me civilly and told me the news, and it seemed I was doomed to stay for four or five Months in the Bay of Islands as no Vessel was likely to go to Sydney for that time and now I was anxious to hear from England. The Bolina Captain Dacre 

  Newspapers from Sydney [Marginal note]

  216 came in, and Clindon had a set of Newspapers from Sydney, saw the death of Mr Wardle [Wardell] from Bush rangers. 217 I saw Mrs. Busby and liked her; he asked me to dinner next Sunday after Church to meet there.

 20th July [Marginal note]  Sunday I went to Church and afterwards home with the Resident to his House Why tangie as he is three miles from the Mission Station of Pihere. 218 There were in the Chapel about 200 Natives besides ten or fifteen Europeans, and 30 Children belonging to the Missionaries, Male and Female, as Pork in defiance of Monsr Oude seems to be Amorous food, as the Revd Lieut Henry Williams has nine Children. 219 The Missionaries draw from the Society 10£ for each, and rations up to the age of fifteen years, when they fall on their own resourses how they can. 

  Bread the first for 5 Months [Marginal note]

  Busby's dinner The same as any other in the Island, Pork and Potatoes and we had Bread the first I had seen for five Months, and a bottle of Port, A rare treat in these days. I slept and staid that day, walked over the Ground he has bought, and looked at some Cattle and a Mare he has got. The River Why-tanghie is navigable for a Boat for about two miles then you are in a beautiful Basin and a Water fall of Thirty feet. This is on the way to Why Mattie a Mission Station. Pihere is on the other side of the River. I give a plan of the Bay. Cook was enchanted with it and were there any Town or Buildings I know no place that could be prettier; the three or four houses built with brick and stone and a chapel - at Pihere look well from Kororadica 3 1/2 miles distant. 220 [Blank space left for plan.]

  The Trees cut down [Marginal note]

  The Bay was prettier formerly as the Islands were covered with Wood, but the Shipping has cut it down, and the Brush wood is not high enough, and there is a want and scarcity now; 80 Sail in a Year 221 here require Wood and Water and other Refreshment. Dr Ross 222 came and dined and Mr Stack as the Missionary from England with a pretty Wife; 

  Mr Stack [Marginal note]

  She was Daughter of a Wesleyan Preacher at Islington; *** He, Stack, had been in

  * Till the Revd Mr Williams came to New Zealand the Mission had made no progress. E. M. 

 ** Okiato is about 6 miles from the Mission Station Pihere. E. M. Another exaggeration: the distance by water is little more than 2 miles. 

 *** The Father did not give his consent and Stack run off with her. E. M.
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  New Zealand formerly as a Wesleyan Missionary but now as a Church one. 223 The Weather had been beautiful for some time past and [I had gone] walks in every direction. Now in Ho-kiangar there were few or no walks * only Boating. Mrs Busby is very pleasant, he is rather too formal, and Religious for me to be quite at my ease with, but was particularly kind and civil. I found the Monotony of the other place terrible. I was Cook every other day, Robson and I took it turn and turn about, and I was pronounced best Cook by all who partook of it. N B Too many prayers at Why tanghie, but the Port was good, and the Reception good and a glimpse of Civilization. Be it known, I went there often and found myself a welcome Guest. He has not Devil enough for the situation. It requires a Man of some Nouse. ** His Orders are few, his duties undefined and his Instructions few. It seems Lord Goderick [Goderich] appointed him, and sent him to Genel Bourke at Sydney for Instructions and he has given none; he will not take on him self to administer an Oath (Mr B), as he is not Consul, but Resident, but if he had more (Suaviter in Modo) he might do any thing. 224

  Native Women live with Sailors [Marginal note]

  The Missionaries hate the Ships to come into the Bay; the Reason is this. Thirty to five and Thirty Sail of Whalers come in for three weeks to the Bay and 400 to 500 Sailors require as many Women, and they have been out one year. I saw some that had been out Thirty two Months and of course the Ladies were in great request, and even the Relations of those who are living as Servants with the Missionaries go to Pihere and bring them away, in spite of all their prayer lessons. These young Ladies go off to the Ships, and three weeks on board are spent much to their satisfaction as they get from the Sailors a Fowling piece for the Father or Brother, Blankets, Gowns &c as much as they would from the Missionary in a year. Therefore they prefer going on board the Ships "Kipookys" when they come in, to the annoyance of the Missionaries. *** I believe the Missionaries are right, that They go too young, and are very often Barren, and that is one Reason of the decrease of Population independent of any disease they may get. They have very few Children in the Villages, and to the Southward of the Island The Missionaries found they had Thousands of Children for every Hundred here. 

  Chiefs often married to Those who have been in Whalers [Marginal note]

  It is a curious Thing that the Chiefs have married of late years often the Girls who have been living on Board of Whalers, and I do believe the Sailors have done as much towards Civilizing the Natives as the Missionaries have, or more, but in a more worldly view ****as now a Man may go from one Village from another, and the Children do not hoot them as they did formerly, and such a number have been in Whalers, as each Ship takes eight or ten New Zealanders and the Seamen pick up the Language from them ***** and the same pre-

  * Except in the bush or Forrest, when Pidgeon shooting, and horrible walking I can assure you. E. M. 

 ** Residents duties so undefined; the Legislative Council of Sydney protests against the Colony of NSW paying £500 Mr Busbys salary for services performed against their consent, and out of their Country - as he is British Resident, Britain ought to pay it. E. M. 

 *** The Natives bring the women alongside and up they come to see old Friends, as soon as the Kipooky has come to an Anchor. E. M. 

 **** I dont say only but it acts more in their favor than against them. E. M. 

 ***** Out of Port Jackson there are now 47 sail of Whalers that always fish in the South seas, they of course pick up the Polynesian language. E. M.
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  vails from the Sandwich Islands to Taheite [Tahiti] and Tonga and Feegies [Fiji]. I have known a Woman Tabooed to an European for Years, he coming every year to New Zealand for the last fifteen or so, then settling there altogether and Catching and salting Fish, Salting Hams, Pork for sale and going to pass the remainder of his days there.

  One reason for depopulation is the number of Pulmonary Complaints. They go off so suddenly, apparently in good Health. The old people believe that (Atua) God of the Parkiars Strangers is killing or eating the Mouries or Natives, and they see their strength decrease daily; some fancy a Lizard in shape (Dueterra) has got in their inside and is eating their entrails out. I went very regularly to Church and received the Sacrament once. I staid with Mr Chapman some days. I beleive that Man to be a Simple minded Christian and no humbug, and his Wife a good Lady like person, and in very delicate Health; when I got up to Sydney, 

  sent some Tokens of Remembrance [Marginal note]

  I sent him a quarter Case of Sherry, and Mrs. Busby, the Book (Keith on the Prophecies) 225 Sarah gave to me, as I could not buy it there, so I did not forget their civilities, and to Stephenson I sent a Dining Table, and six Rattan bottom Chairs. I often went to their Prayer Meetings which they have every Wednesday and Saturday and the first Monday in every Month. Although the New Zealanders are a fine robust well built people, they are not tough and hardy; bad food, and imprudent exposure to the Weather, is the grand Cause, and building their Huts in damp Moist situations, eternally smokeing. * 

  difficulty of keeping a Boats Crew [Marginal note]

  Mr Busby could hardly keep a Boats crew together, he employed them in his Garden, but the moment they were paid in Clothes off they went into the Country. Our clothes are generally worn here, ** and through out the South Seas, they try for Cloth Clothes, but Mr. Busby hit on a plan of keeping a School constantly till at length he got seventeen Men, as many as he wanted for his Boat and garden and from seven till nine in the morning he teaches them to read write and sum. The Missionaries have gone in to the Native Villages and found Men and Women who could say the Catechism and prayers, read and write, that had never seen a Missionary, but they had learnt it from one that had been taught. 

  News Room [Marginal note]

  There is in Every Native Village an Hotel de Ville, or Large Hut open on one side and this is the General Rendez Vous of all Idlers, and News. *** 

  Bouca Bookas or Notes or letters [Marginal note]

  Once I was in one of them and a Slave came in with a Slate, as they have no paper for their Bouca Bouca's [pukapuka] and every one heard the Slate read, and gave an answer. I asked a Sawyer what was the News. The Tigris Whaler had arrived, and three Women of that Village had Tarnes [tane] or Husbands on Board; they drove three large Pigs down to the Bay of Islands and put them on board Canoes, and went to live with Men they had been with for Voyages and made these Men presents of the only thing they had in shape of property; I call that Affection.

  These People have a great desire to learn. I have seen in the Schools,

  * The Old Men have an Idea that the Atua of the parkeiahs is kiki-ing or eating up their people or Nation, as they are aware that they are a diminishing people. E. M. 

 ** European clothing is becoming so necessary to them now, that the Natives are fast looseing the art of Matt making. E. M. 

 *** The 'Hotel de Ville' is the wharerunanga or public meeting house; it is not 'open on one side', but in that phrase Markham probably refers to the entrance porch.
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  four Classes of grown Men learning to read and write, and write a line from Dictation. At one School I read a verse from the New Testament, and they all wrote it perfectly. They are by no means a dull or Stupid People; if they give them other kinds of Knowledge which I hope they will, when they have a printing Press at Pihere, I do not see why they should not be rapidly civilized. They do expect a Press out there. 226 They are very Inquisitive, they ask what you are reading, why you write, what about, and why you want the Boat, and where you are going.

  14th August [Marginal note]

  Friday 14th of August I returned from a Tour of fourteen days. I went and spent two or three days with Mr Busby, and on the Monday got into a Canoe, and swam his Mare across the Why tanghie, then mounted, following a Guide carrying my Carpet Bag, commenced a route to Why Mattie The Inland Mission Station and Farm, about fourteen Miles distant. 227 

  Journey to Why Mattie [Marginal note]

  The first Mile and half was by the side of a River, and at a point a very Sacred Place in Old times, A Tree and Cave, where an Atua "River God" lives but he has not been seen lately. 

  Why tangie [Marginal note]

  We then went over a Mud Bank The Mare plungeing in with me, but I got on the Firm Bank on the other side, saw the Waterfall, and as I went up a Valley I saw a constant succession of Falls. There is in Wensleydale a place called Aysgarth Force, not unlike the place I am speaking of. 228 There are a few Huts on each side of the Falls. The whole Country is up and down Hill, evidently Volcanic, as you see continually extinct Volcanoes with a thin Crust.

   
  People who have chosen to go up inside say they are like a Funnel, or Wine Glass, and in one or two of them Water at the bottom and that you can hear a stone, rolled down, go an immense distance if you put your head to the Ground. 

  Volcanic [Marginal note]

  A Rich Soil Volcanic, Tuffa or Pumice stone I should say, admirably adapted to the Vine. 229 The Natives in some places where the Stones seem most abundant, have cultivated the Ground for ages. They Pile up the Stones The Same as they do in the Isle of France to get rid of them, and I have seen a look out Hut in a Cumera Garden made on a Heap of Tuffa six feet high and a beautiful Soil for Vines or Hops. *

  Why Mattie [Marginal note]

  I had to cross the Why-tanghie 8 miles above the falls and I found it deep, a very pretty Country till at last We came to Why Mattie. 230 There I delivered a letter of Introduction to Mr Clerk [Clarke], whose manners I liked very much. The C Missionary Society bought a large Tract of beautiful Rich Land for a Farming Establishment. There are three large

  * The Heaps look like the bases of round towers of rough stones piled up ten feet in places 6 feet in general, but only in this sort of soil. E. M.
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  Houses for the three Missionaries. They are not completed but they are comfortable. They are entirely the work of the New Zealanders, Not a Nail driven by any other unless indeed one of the Missionaries. They sawed the Planks &c. There were three School Houses, a good sized Chapel, Work shops, Stables, Orchards, Gardens and Twenty two Acres of Wheat in the Ground, and a Stack of Wheat not yet Thrashed out. They were engaged breaking up seventy Acres of New Ground, but the Roots of the Fern were terrible. Mr Davis a Dorsetshire Farmer Superintendent of the Missionary Agricultural Establishment had the charge of the Farming department. 

  The Mill [Marginal note]

  They were putting up a Mill House and commencing a Dam. They had a Beautiful Stream for the purpose. The Mill Wheel was nearly complete. They had a Mill wright and Black smith from Sydney to put it up and strike the Level, and make the Mill dam. The New Zealanders are good Ploughmen. They are taught to plough straight and are kind to the Horses. 

  Houses for the Native Servants [Marginal note]

  The Missionaries have built Thirteen wooden Houses with three Apartments with Brick Chimneys for their Native Servants in Rows giving half an acre to each garden and teaching them the use of Herbs, Mellons, Pumpkins, Fruits, Apples, Pears, Peaches, Plumbs &c, quite an interesting Village springing up. 

  Infant schools [Marginal note]

  The Infant schools are under the direction of the Missionaries Wives, and they are popular with the Children. 

  Spinning [Marginal note]

  They teach the Girls to spin. I had not seen a regular Spinning Wheel before for many a day. I was amused to find them in this part of the World. * If you know the Infant School System It is a good thing but the Children did all stink so, in spite of all that was said to the Mothers. They the Missionaries Wives take it in Turn to attend it, and are in from day break till Breakfast time. In the grown schools morning and evening attendance. 231 They have introduced the Mariage Ceremony. 

  Wedding of a Native Christian at Pihere [Marginal note]

  There was a Girl who had been brought up with the Missionaries and they wanted her to be married to a Native Christian, and she wished it also but her Parents had tabboed her to a Native Chief some Years before, and he would have her. There was a fuss and Parade at this Wedding, and This Chief came with an Armed Force that set the Missionary at defiance. 

  interrupted [Marginal note]

  She was standing before what should be the Altar, when they broke into the Chapel tried to pull her out, to take her away. She Clung to the Missionary and the adverse party tried to take her away. 

  the marriage interrupted [Marginal note]

  The Consequence was, that this Young Lady had all her Clothes torn off, and was in the Hands of the parties as naked as she was born. The Chief hold of one leg, the Missionary of the other, Pull Devil pull Baker. The Bridegroom was dreadfully beaten,

  * The C M Society sent out 30 Spinning Wheels and some Heccles to dress the New Zealand flax. E. M.
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  the Bride seriously hurt, but at the same it was a Marriage though she is * not expected to live from the treatment they then received. ** This took place at Pihere. They try to marry them Young. Because vy as Fanny Kemble says, They will not keep. Mrs. Chaloner once said to me when talking about a Miss Brown succeeding her sister in Mr Turtons bed, "I am afraid a Warm Climate is very bad for Morality." 232 Query how long was it since the Old Lady had had the Bum fidgets, but to proceed. Marriage is Sacred here, as much so as else where. 

  New Jerusalem [Marginal note]

  The[y] are learning to make and bake Bricks here and Mr Clerk one day rode with me to a Village three miles off to show me the improvements. They had a good large Wooden Chapel on the Centre of a Hill and this might be a Circle of a quarter of a Mile. 233 He was laying it out for a Town of Native Christians, and they were building their Houses of Wood; *** they had cut it themselves and had a Regular plan helping to make dry walls of the Stones breast high as Fences between each garden, to turn the Pigs &c and teaching them Comfort. One Man had half an Acre of Wheat and as soon as the Mill is done, they will allow the Natives to have their Indian Corn ground and so eat it as Bread, instead of in a state of Putrifaction. They will make great progress under the Missionaries at Why mattie. 

  A week at Why Mattie [Marginal note]

  I was there a Week and went in all directions. 

  Lake of Morberry [Marginal note]

  In one Journey I took with Mr Hamlyn [Hamlin] a Missionary we went to a Hill 234 looking into the lake of Morberry [Omapere], not unlike Albano, from Castle Gondolpho [Castel Gandolfo], the Popes Villa, with Alba Longa in the distance, and that Hill Monte Cavo where the Temple is turned into a Monastery, a high Peak with the mark of the Begars [bigae] **** or Chariots, that went up in days by gone. A good deal of the Country is hard Clay, with Stunted Fern the same as from the Why hoe to the Kiddy Kiddy. There is a point of Land pretty high jutting out into the Lake and the Famous Shungie (vide the Library of Entertaining Knowledge) had his Parr on it and showed he had picked up some

  * Markham originally wrote 'they are not', then altered it to 'she is not', but failed to make the corresponding change at the close of the sentence. 

 ** The Bride had been Tabboed to the chief from her birth by her parents, and I think it was not judicious in the Missionarys to break in to their Customs by force. E. M. 

 *** I am not certain of the name of the town about to be regularly laid out by Mr Clerk. E. M. 

 **** Literally 'a span of horses harnessed to an open car'.

   
 Page 70
  knowledge of Fortification when in England. Bastions, loop holes &c. It is now abandoned. 235 The Kororadica People and the Parr at the entrance of ye [?] Cower Cower [Kawakawa] River * are enemies and I believe the one would try to destroy the other but for the Missionaries Influence which is great. 236 They were nearly coming to blows when I was there but for Mr Williams. 

  changing from Place to Place [Marginal note]

  They have their different Stations and the New Zealanders have patches of Cultivation in Twenty places, and are here one season and there an other and at one time they like Fish and Pippies and at an other Cumeras and Potatoes; one part of the Country, is best for their Pork to thrive in so they migrate from place to place. ** I went with Mr Clerk to see them break up new fresh Ground with a Lever, with a thing to stand upon like a stilt, and it breaks the Roots of the Fern, and then they can get a spade down as they use them now, but not much in the present time but once broken up they do for several years before the Fern becomes so

   
  very troublesome again if abandoned for 2 or 3 years. If I give an Idea of how the Thing is done that is quite sufficient. Near any Stream, it is in general fine Alluvial Soil. To return to Why Mattie Mr and Mrs. Stack were staying in the House all the time I was there. I dined one day with Mr Davis, another at Mr Hamlyns so I found them all civil to me. I agreed to go the round that Mr Hamlyn was to go the next Sunday. It rained in Torrents and Snowed but we had some Sandwiches put up and some Port Wine in a flask; at Seven we started and rode away Thirteen miles, put the Horses up and it snowed away. 237 The only Snow I have seen during my sejour in the Island. 

  Service [Marginal note]

  We entered a Chapel 60 feet long by 30 Broad, A frame of Strong wood doors and Windows, The Sides covered neatly with Bark and Water Tight Roof Thatch, height 16 feet, a raised place with a Table, No Pulpit. The Missionary greeted a number of them kindly in his way from the door to the Desk. The Service began, and there were full 300 in the Chapel. The whole of the Congregation joined. There are

  * The interpretation of this passage in the manuscript is not at all certain: 'at... ye' (the last word a doubtful reading) has been interpolated, while 'Cower Cower River' is written in the margin. 

 ** This is settled at the Hotel De Ville in each Village; when the orders are given for a change of Residence every person leaves at the same time. E. M.
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  few Country Churches in England where it is performed half so well. No Noise or bustle. The lessons were read and the Psalms sung to Familiar Church Tunes. I could have fancied my self in England but for the Motley group before me. Tattooed faces! Stinking Cacahows! Mr Hamlyn then preached to them. After Service he went and visitted the Sick, and then we were again in the Saddle. In the way home at two other Chapels the same thing and it was near six and I wet when we returned. I enjoyed the dinner, which was waiting my arrival as it was past their Tea time. Mr Stack dined with me, He having been to Tyamy * [Taiamai] in an other direction and served two Chapels and Mr Davis had been to two, and Mr Clerk took the home duty and the Village I had been to a few days before. 

  Mr Hamlyn so good a Linguist [Marginal note]

  Mr Hamlyn is so good a Linguist that he preached in a Tour to the Southward, and the people got up from their places to look at him closer, as the[y] said he was a "Tangata Mar", or white Man but that he had the Tongue of a "Tangata Mourie", native; ** when he came back the people laughed at him here and told him he had been to the Southward, for he had acquired the accent perfectly, and he picked up some sixty new words in the Language during his Trip. It is supposed that on a Sunday, they read prayers to 1200 Natives, and that in the Northern end of the Island, there are not less than 10,000 *** who can read and write and attend Public service. 238 

  I was mistaken for a Missionary The Bridge [Marginal note]

  One day I was amusing my self by trying to read the Psalms with a Woman outside a Hut; another came and I was reading alternate Verses, when the News ran through the Village that a Missionary was there, when I had sixty or seventy people collected round me. I was obliged to get a Sawyer of the name of Baker or **** Manning to explain to them that I was not a Missionary and that I knew nothing of their Language. 239

  About half a mile from Why-mattie is the River Why-tanghie and what has amused the New Zealanders is, that the Missionaries have Thrown a Bridge of seventy feet, one span across the River, and they have a Cart road of Eleven miles from Why-mattie to Kiddy Kiddy and it passes over this Bridge. Mr. Clerk was the builder of the Bridge, and thus the Three Stations are connected. 240

  Mr Kemp [Marginal note]

  I staid eight days, seeing different places every day and then took a Note to Mr Kemp; he was very civil to me, and his old Wife was the picture of George Donkins Old Woman darning a Stocking. 241 She was civil and very communicative of Old times she having been fifteen years, and seen many a Man killed and eaten, but first put into a Coppre Mourie. 

  Human Flesh [Marginal note]

  They cut them up and slash down the legs, and take the bones out, wash the Meat and roll it up like Beef Olives. Then it requires four Hours, before it is done. The palms of the Hands and Feet are tit bits for the Chiefs. Europeans are not considered so good eating as the Mouries as they are too Salt, but it is no protection to them, as they delight in having a Hungry dance round a fellow. Then the Chief with his Marre [mere]

  * Tyamy on the other side of the lake. E. M. Markham again errs: Taiamai (the modern Ohaeawai) is due south of Waimate, while Lake Omapere lies to the west of Taiamai. 

 ** 'native' is a marginal note. 

 *** Say 8000 to be within bounds. E. M. 

 **** The words 'Baker or' have been interpolated.
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  gives him a Clip on the Pipkin and he is speedily cut up, so ends the life and begins the feast.

  Preserved Heads [Marginal note]

  I tried to get some preserved Heads, but they are not plentiful where I was. To the Southward at a place called Tou-rongher * [Tauranga], they

   
  are to be procured. I only saw three for Sale, and Captain Young had bought them a commission. I wanted one for Gilbert. 242 These three were having their hair dressed and greased, and Feathers put in, The Face oiled, and look quite "Walker Pipi" [whakapaipai]; they put up Cross Sticks for Shoulders and put the head on it and their Cacahows, over the Cross Sticks; they looked like three Natives squatted down, and at a distance you could not know them from living Natives. 

  Kiddy Kiddy [Marginal note]

  But to return to Kiddy Kiddy, 243 after a dozen horrid Stories The Lady had Supper in then Prayers and to bed.

  Next Morning I went with Mr Kemp and a couple of Natives to see the Falls of the River Kiddy Kiddy. We had to pass across the Rocky Bed of a River on a New Zealanders back. They picked out two of the strongest of the Boys (as they call the Men) about the place to carry "Pekow" us over the River. We walked on an open Heath or gentle Hill or Rise from the River for two miles and no appearance of any thing like Water when we came all at once on a fall of 90 feet and a fine fall of Water into a circular Basin. 

  Falls of the Kiddy Kiddy [Marginal note]

  It was the head of a Ravine in an open Country. The sides were covered with Wood. We had to descend and cross the stream. We found it deeper than usual and got wet at the knees and Toes. We kept at the bottom on the other side, the Ground wet with the continual spray and crawled under the very Water fall into a Cave or Cavern forty or fifty yards deep. The Natives told Mr Kemp that Shunghie and the Nappooes [Ngapuhi] Fathers ** took this Country from some other Tribe, I forget which, and some part of the Tribe took refuge in this Cave but they were hunted out and killed and eaten, where we were standing. 244 

  My danger [Marginal note]

  On leaving This damp and Greasy Hole, we went up the steep side and I crossed over on a Mans Shoulders, he leaping from Stone to Stone and in the middle my Hat blew off. I caught it but the Native tried to catch a pair of Cotton gloves. That had nearly been fatal to both, as he slipped

  * Or perhaps 'Tou-rougher'. 

 ** Shunghies Father was the Head Chief of a tribe that acquired the name of Nappoes or goers by night.
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  from the stone but sprang forward and recovered himself and crossed a very deep rapid stream and landed safely. Mr Kemp witnessed the Scene and turned faint. 

  Venus [Marginal note]

  I was very much afraid for Venus, as she had followed me half way, but did not like to proceed but Whined. I sent the Man back for her, she also arrived safely. Mr Kemps Nerves were so shaken that he crossed some 3 or 400 yards higher up, and then told me he had crossed there often before but had never felt danger till this day. He said I had a very narrow Escape of going down into the Basin, as the Rocks are so slippery, that catching hold of them is useless. But the Lord be Thanked who preserved me from that danger. We returned the same way we came. I found he had taken the Baron Hugle [Huegel] that way. The Baron is an Austrian and scientific Traveller, a Colonel of the Imperial Guard. I met him in Van Diemans land and he came down to New Zealand the same time that the Government gave the New Zealanders a Flag 245 or rather one under which Vessels sail that are built by Europeans in New Zealand and partly Navigated by them.

  New Zealand Flag [Marginal note]

  The Jack blue with a white cross and a white Star in each corner in a St George Enseign. They get a sort of Register from the Agent or Resident to the Custom House at Sydney or Hobart Town and get a Licence but limited. 246 They tell a Story of Hugle's gowing a Hunting with the Mids of the Alligator among the Rocks and he caught a Crab, "Von Krabb", and he immediately took him in both hands and eat him like an oyster and the guts &c all hanging about his Chin, he biteing into him. He has the same pursuits that Victor Ja(c)quemont 247 had, and has been all over the same Countries, The Nepaul, The Himalayan, he was all over Australia and Tasmania and I dare say I shall hear of him again; when he left Sydney, he went to China, India, to Europe. * All the Stations are the same, so many Missionaries to each, A School, A Chapel &c.

  * Baron Hugle or Hugel is now acting as Ambassador in the absence of Count Appony[i] the Austrian Ambassador at Paris. E. M.
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  The day after I got a Guide for the Whytangie and wished all good bye, not forgeting the Carpenter who took me in when I had walked across from the Hokianga. I mounted Mr Busby's Mare and started through Cultivated Ground, and Hills and dales, until I came to winding Ridges of Hill and deep wooded Valleys or Ravines between; * following The Footpath up one of these, it came on to Rain, and I had an Indian Rubber Cloak on and then a squall came on and the Cape flew over my Head. It drummed and flapped about at a great rate and made such a row it frightened the Mare as it cracked like a Coach whip over her Head; at last I found her going round and round till I was obliged to throw my self off, and she was getting out of the footpath, and off she went.

   
  I thought I should not have got her again but the Boy was a smart fellow, and caught her again. The road from Sienna [Siena] to Radicofony [Radicofani] is the same kind of Country in a Clayey soil and very stunted Fern on the Hills. 

  Volcanic [Marginal note]

  But the Ravines are full of Wood and every now and then coming to a Conical Hill with a Crater, and volcanic stones in the Valleys and in one place near Mr Busby's House there is a Ridge of rocks running into the Sea, that is Black Laver [lava] full of holes like a Gruyere Cheese and evidently been in a state of fusion; from Kiddy Kiddy to Why-tanghie is 25 miles. 248 I got back to Mr Busby's and as usual got a hearty welcome from them, turned the Mare out and staid that day and the day following I went back to Stephensons and Robson, to resume my turn of Cooking, At Okiarto. 

  return to Okiarto [Marginal note]

  I had been absent 14 days, found that Clindons and Stephensons boat House was nearly compleated and the House also and great improvements going on. Rogers ploughing up the ground; he had built the Plough and made the Harness for a Mare and Mule and they were being broke in at the Plough. The Garden much improved; my time was occupied in boating and going up the Rivers trading for Pork, and shooting Ducks and in visiting Whalers. One day I was going to the Showracky [Hauraki] or River Thames, and I meant to have taken up my abode for a few days on board the Bolina taking in

  * My Cloak over my Head. E. M.
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  spars for Whahow [Oahu] * in the Sandwich Islands. I started with two Sawyers and Natives to go in an old Boat. She had been built for sealing and had been rose on. ** We took two or three pieces of Pork with us and some seven or eight Kits or Baskets *** of Potatoes, a small Cask of Water, 2 Bottles of Grog. Now the distance is 200 miles to run. It came on to blow hard; we had to run in this open Boat for the land after rounding Cape Brett some Forty or Fifty Miles and came to an Anchor behind some Rocks; in rounding to, she touched and sent a point through her bottom; what was to be done; we hauled the Boat up high and dry, it was then nearly dark, we lit a fire, cooked the Pork and had a glass of Grog. 

  Stove in our Boat [Marginal note]

  Now there were no people on this Coast for the famous Shungie had made a Vow that there should not be a smoke or fire lit between Cape Bret and the River Thames and exterminated Man, Woman and Child so kept his Vow. 249 We had a grand Council what to do but as it was dark we could not see the extent of the damage; we had our Fire arms and got our Blankets and Cloaks and after a glass of Grog laid together in our Tempory Hut, and slept till day light; then we began to examine what damage our Boat had received, and with clasp Knives &c we cut and put in a plank 2 feet long but we had no pitch. So I remembered once on the Hoogly being hard up and having seen the Dandy's or Boatmen **** pick up some stiff hard clay, and off I went in search of some. 

  a deserted Parr [Marginal note]

  I found my self with one Boy in a Wood, and came upon the site of a former Parr, Some Huts half standing, some burnt and the tie up [taiapa] or Fence burnt, here and there the Corner post standing up curiously carved with Mens heads, ***** Some burnt Canoes and Bones left of the Inhabitants left, as they were killed lieing about, not in Skeletons but as they had been eaten, by the Nappooes, or Night Goers, 250 as they were the first Tribe that attacked by Night, because there is a great superstition, about going out in the Dark. 

  fear of Ghosts [Marginal note]

  The Ghosts of departed Friends seen under the name of "Atua". Now I remember when One boy went for Water at Night, he wod not go without an other with a lighted Stick. They having this Superstition were never on the alert and they became an easy prey to Cannibals (their Enemies). ****** There had been extensive Cultivation formerly but now all was hushed as the Tomb, and Fern and Trees were growing up in the place. I tore up my Shirt and put the Clay inside (3 thicknesses) ******* and hauled both sides of the Shirt through the Crevice or rather between the Planks, ******** and is [sc. as] it washed away hauled it tighter and we were three days. 

  living on Fern root [Marginal note]

  Our Potatoes were all done, and we sent the Boys to get Fern Root and Roasted four or five Kits of it, to take to sea, and were out two days living

  * Owhyhee is known as Whahow. E. M. Markham has wrongly identified Hawaii, the name applied to the largest island and to the group as a whole, with Oahu, the name of another island where the present capital, Honolulu, is situated. 

 ** The OED fails to record any use of 'rise' or 'raise', nautical or otherwise, which satisfactorily explains the last phrase; perhaps it means 'raised in height'. 

 *** The phrase 'or Baskets' is inserted in the margin. 

 **** The OED defines a 'dandy' as a boatman of the Ganges. 

 ***** Rank vegitation had covered the paths and heaps of pipi shel[l]s about. E. M. 

 ****** The bracketed phrase has been interpolated. 

 ******* The bracketed phrase is a marginal interpolation. 

 ******** The Plank was secured by a stick out side and an other inside, and then lashed together and then Wedged tight. E. M.
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  on Fern root, and water till we got into Parroa * [Paroa] Bay, 251 and got Potatoes, and made a good Meal of Potatoes and Pippies. As I found that Fern Root is not at all satisfactory, ** after One has once known what it was to have been at Veray's [Very's] or the Caffe de Paris, or Caffe Hardy. 252

  I got back on the sixth day, and in time for a Pigs head, whilst Stephenson and the rest were having a Laugh at my Expence.

  Tabbooed Groves [Marginal note]

  I forgot also to mention the Sacred Groves, and the Rows we got into by going into these Tabbooed Groves near the Coko or Coco; there are two or three places Tabbooed as Sacred for their Dead, where the Natives are put up in the large Trees with their Muskets by their sides to rot in their Boxes, till they are taken down and scraped &c. 

  Moutitie [Marginal note]

  I have seen three or four of these in large Trees, and Bones placed in holes in the Rock till they were to be taken up to some place in the Mountains or to the Island of Moutitie, *** as that is very Sacred, and belongs to the Ki-tou-ties of which Wurrie Puppur is Head Chief, the Man who sold the Coko to Kelly and Manning. 

  acted Ghost [Marginal note]

  I once frightened some of the Natives out of the House, by dressing my hair as a New Zealander and mat on and a pair of Green Glasses. Kelly sang out, The Atua, The Atua, and ran out, and all the others after him. I off with my Mat, Glasses and Feathers, and ran out too, and they firmly believed that they had seen the Ghost of some Chief dead and gone long ago. 

  Caught Trespassing [Marginal note]

  Rogers and I went into one of these Groves and merely looked about, and a Canoe passing saw us, down came the Chief three hours after wards with three Canoes full of Armed Men. We heard them Miles off, How yah! foy-dah! how-yah! [hoeal toial [?] hoea !] coming down on us for having trespassed in the Sacred Grove. So after three hours of Altercation and row, we paid 3lb Of Tobacca and they left us, but I was never caught there again. 253 It is curious the number of Canoes laid up there, as they never use them again, but for the same purpose that of a Hearse, **** and the Old Cacahows or Mats lying about there and Paddles was astonishing. They would not hesitate to let fly a Musket shot at you if caught there.

  The Cowey Cowey [Kawakawa] was a beautiful River. ***** I used to 

 * Named Man of Wars bay by Cook. E. M. 

 ** The Roast fern is stringy and a farinous substance between the fibers. E. M. {Opposite the Coco or Coho. E. M. 

 *** There were 4 or 5 hawled up under the trees & Tabboed. E. M. 

 **** Very good Duck shooting up the Cower Cower. E. M.
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  amuse my self with taking walks with Venus. She had a bad trick of eating the Lizards. I am sure they could not be good for her nor the Sand flies or Mammooes which latterly were very troublesome.

  Trick of the Captain of a Whaler [Marginal note]

  One day a Captain of a Whaler played me a trick. I had bought two Hams that the Black Smith at Clindons had cured, but I thought that they would be all the better for being up the Chimney * which was of Stone and Brick that had come down from Sydney, but there not being enough, I hoisted a Musket Case at top and hung the Hams just below it and suspended them by Spun yarn to the top. I was saying as I was Cook next Sunday, I would give them a good dinner. 

  My Hams Stolen [Marginal note]

  The Scamp had manned a Boat, sent it on Shore, and got one hand to talk with the New Zealand Boy, while the others stole the Hams, but next morning I went to light the fire, I happened to look up the Chimney and discovered that the Hams were gone. ** I very soon manned the boat and went on board, where I recovered one, but the other was already in the Pot. I staid on board and partook of the Ham for dinner, and when all was quiet I made the Boy put the half Cold Ham, into the Boat, and then I wished them good Night. But there was a Woeful face in the Morning when they found it gone. 

  Barber sent a dozen of Wine [Marginal note]

  Barber 254 came up and I asked him to Breakfast as I knew he had made a bad one. He sent me a dozen of Wine for the Sundays dinner; in consequence I asked him to dinner at Sydney two or three times, but all the Captains of the Whalers said afterwards, Ah Mr Markham Thats the Man to look after his Hams, but though I found these Men Rough, the Monotony of the Bay was dreadful. Now and then I had the Papers, and at Mr Busby's the Atlas.

  Tribe up the Why-Catto [Marginal note]

  For some four or five Sundays I had been up the Why Catto [Waikare] 255 to a Tribe of very Wild fellows. 

  the Native Parr at the Head of the Why catty River [Marginal note]

  Their Parr was a long way up the River almost at the base of the Mountains. Mr Chapman went up to have a Corrirow with these people, ***and got round him a Number of Natives asking them where they expected to go when they died, and leading on asking about different People and things, telling them that the World was round, and that the Sun set and rose again, and that there was a God who made it all, and led them on in argument, and allowing them to ask questions in return, then he said, I must break the ground first, then cleanse it, Next sow the Seed. They were very Careless about it for some time. At last their Chiefs told him that they had come to the Resolution of building him a Chapel (this was his 6th visit), **** but they did it more because the other Chiefs had visits on "Rah Tabboo" Sunday from the Missionaries and I have no doubt but they will all profess Christianity shortly, at this end of the Island.

  I do not know a place more in Spiritual darkness than the Slave Population at the Mauritias [Mauritius].

  I have a high regard for Mr. Chapman as a pious sincere Christian; he would no doubt do wonders there. They built a School House and one for a School master, and a Native School master was to have charge of the

  * This was the 2d chimney I had built in the Island. E. M. 

 ** Barber stole the 2 Hams - then bet me a Dozen of wine that neither of them would be dressed on Sunday for Dinner; recover one untouched and the 2d half cold. E. M. 

 *** First fixing their attention. E. M. 

 **** The bracketed words have been interpolated.
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  Prospects of the spreading of the Gospel [Marginal note]

  Place but the distance to go in a Boat was great, and depended much on Winds, Tides and Weather. But they will do wonders in that place yet, and as they have sent out six Missionaries, to make new stations this will be one, to the Southward at Showracky, The River Thames of Cook, and Why catto near it the Wesleyan Missionaries had begun two Stations. So in ten Years they will have implanted quite new Ideas among them. *

  The Store at Kiddy Kiddy [Marginal note]

  I forgot to mention the large Stone Store House Built by the Church Missionary Society at Kiddy Kiddy. It is very Substantial, the Walls above a yard thick of solid Stone, and above 10,000 Bushels of lime used in it, Three Stories high. 256 On one end they were putting up a Clock as the safest place and the Bell. The Mason came from Sydney. Arched Windows, Doors Iron shod, Shutters too. In fact Stronger than is required. It is the only Stone building in the Country, ** All the Houses have only Brick Chimneys, the rest of Wood. Labour is dear. As the New Zealanders will work like Tigers for any particular Object but not as a matter of Course. A Singular thing among them is the payment required even for hurting your own self. A Man in a Native Village cut his leg with an Axe, the by Stander took the Axe in payment. A man up the Mouna Mouca River, had a Pig and his name was Joe and his Pigs name was Joe and he killed the pig and eat it. The Consequence was his Own Womans Relations came and took a pig from him because he had killed a Pig called after himself - as forfeit.

  When I was in the Hokiangar River The Emma Kemp got on Shore at Herds Point on Land belonging to the New Zealand Company. She had been round the World. *** A Man of the Name of Steen [Steine] Commander (then but I forget it the man now); **** she was a small Cutter, 45 Tons, 5 hands only. 257 The Natives plundered her of her "Atua" The Compass! The Cooking Pots &c and 2 Muskets. Now they would not have done this but for the Vessels taking the Ground. ***** I do not see in what it differs from the Cornish Law. But now they do not kill and eat you, in this part of the Island and they did formerly; that is one Step gained.

  The Harriette Whaler vide Marshalls New Zealand [Marginal note]

  Now while I was in the Island the Harriette [Harriet] Whaling Brig was cast away near Terrinacky [Taranaki] Or Mount Egmont of Cook near Cookes Straits. 258 She was wrecked and all of the Crew reached the Shore but what was their fate. The[y] were attacked by the Natives. 

  Mrs Gard [Marginal note]

  The Captain Gard [Guard] made his Escape with six Men; his Wife was wounded in the Fray and [a] Chief threw his Cacahow over her and she became his Mistress. ****** She had two Children by Gard one two Years old,

  * Markham's meaning in this paragraph is not easy to disentangle. In the first sentence he apparently refers to Mauritius. He then goes on to mention a place to the South of the Bay of Islands, at Hauraki (Cook's Thames), where they (i. e., the Maoris) had built a school and residence for a native schoolmaster. This distant and somewhat inaccessible place is probably Puriri, in the Thames district, where in December 1833 Henry Williams found 'the natives already busily employed in the erection of houses for the accommodation of the promised missionaries' and where four missionaries settled in 1834. Markham adds that the Wesleyans had established two stations in the neighbouring Waikato (actually on the Kawhia Harbour towards the end of 1834) and concludes in prophetic strain. - Elder, Marsden, 513-14; Morley, History of Methodism, 67. 

 ** The Natives said it would make a good Par. E. M. 

 *** The Emma Kemp 45 Tons burden circumnavigated the world but [took?] 9 months about it. E. M. 

 **** The bracketed words have been interpolated. 

 ***** The same Reason caused the Fortitude to be robbed. E. M. 

 ****** A cheif protects her when wounded by throwing his mat over her; she becombs his Mistress; before I left Sydney, I heard that she was brought to bed of Twins & they were rather dark. E. M.
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  the other four; they were lost sight of during the Massacre of the 12 Men, of whom Mrs. Gards own Brother was one. They having killed them, proceeded to Cook them according to the most approved style. They say the Meat of a Mans leg and Thighs well boned, washed and rolled is very delicious but Sailors the Gourmands pronounce to be too tough and Salt, and not so good as Mouries but still are eatable with a good appetite as Sauce and well done Potatoes.

  Terrinacky or Mount Egmont is 18000 or 16000 * feet in height and covered with Snow all the year. Gard made his way to a Canoe and got away to Cloudy Bay ** in three days time where he got on board of a Whaler going to Sydney; on his arrival there he stated every thing as it had occurred to the Sydney Colonial Council, and they decided on sending the Alligator 28 Guns Captain Lambert down with the Isabella Government Schooner with 70 Soldiers on board and 30 on board the Alligator. *** 

  Alligator and Isabella sent with 100 men [Marginal note]

  They went down and were on the Coast sometime before they could land for the Surf, but sent Gard and Battersby (the man I slept with at Martins the Hokianga Pilots) on Shore to pick up information. They found they would be served the same as their Friends had been. The poor Woman was brought down to the Beach and placed standing on a Canoe bottom upwards, with a Man station[ed] on each side of her with a Tomahawk flourishing over her Head. **** You may suppose what were the feelings of the Husband when he saw her there. One of the Men at the Guns found that he had one of the Party so well covered, that he fired his 32lb cannonade [carronade] and split the Canoe to Smithereens. One Man was wounded by the Splinters and off 

  the Gun commands the Parr [Marginal note]

  They hurried her; at day Break they landed and had to get a Six Pounder up a hill which commanded the Parr, that stood out like an Island nearly perpendicular 200 feet and a wide Ravine between so the Blue Jackets got the six lb Cannonade up on to the opposite Height and the Soldiers and Marines in four different parties. The People in the Parr did not know what to make of it, but the Parties kept quiet till the Gun began a Corrirow that very soon began to explain himself to their Understandings. The Soldiers and Marines then moved on from different points. The Rascals showed fight for some time but they could not stand the Gun as it compleatly commanded the Parr, otherwise Impregnable. They lost 25 Men and scudded away taking Mrs. Gard with them. But the Chief was a Prisoner, and they took him on board, and at last the People came to the Resolution of giving up the Woman for the Chief. So next day there was an exchange, and Mrs. Gard came on board and looking beautiful in the Native Cacahow and Hair loose, and a Wild look about her. So the principal part was accomplished as she was taken. She had not seen her Children for the four or five Months she had been among them, as they were at a Parr belonging to the same People but forty miles down the Coast. 

  destroy the Parr [Marginal note]

  They found lots of things in the Parr, the Soldiers and Marines

  * The second figure is interpolated, but even that is about twice what it should be: the height of Mount Egmont is 8,260 feet. 

 ** Cloudy Bay across the Cooks Strait in the Southern Island. E. M. 

 *** The troops were under the command of Capn Johnstone [Johnson] and Lieut Gunton of the 50h Regt. E. M. 

 **** Compare Marshalls account; the story of the soldiers playing with the Natives Head is true as I saw Capn Clerk [Lieutenant Clarke] who was Marine officer on board but the wanton cruelty is not made out. E. M.
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  killed Pigs, and eat them and Potatoes all night and then set fire to every thing that would burn. This Parr from the very Nature of its Zig Zag path which was the only access to it Might have been kept against any Number, had they not got the Gun on Shore. Captain Lambert showed me the Head of an European, preserved in the Native Manner, found in the Parr, and Lieut Gunton of the 50th Regt. had some bones of the eighteen unfortunate Men. The Weather was bad and they returned to Gores Harbour [Gore Harbour], near Queen Charlottes Sounds [Queen Charlotte Sound], in Cookes Straights [Cook Strait] and lay there for three weeks until it was moderated, Terrinacky Towering above the other Mountains. There are several Volcano's in the Interior of the Island that have been seen at a distance smoking. They returned down the Coast and landed and took two other Parrs which were defended though taken. 

  one Child seen and taken [Marginal note]

  Near one of these A Native was seen with One of the Children. The Sailor who saw him gave Chase & came up with him, and sprang forward, Caught him by the Cacahow or Matt but he having two on let one go, and scudded up the Rocks. 

  get the Child [Marginal note]

  But the Blue Jacket was not to be so done; he levelled his Musket, fired and brought him and the Child rolling at his feet. The Child most Providentially was Unhurt, The Native Dead! Jack took the Child three years and half old under his Arm, and the two Mats, which he rolled him in, and went back to the Boats and gave the Child in charge to the Boat keeper, whilst he returned to plunder the Parr, and the last Child had been abandoned, and so the Mother met her Children on board HMS. Alligator, after a separation of four or five Months. And all the expedition was embarked and went for the Bay of Islands. I was walking in the Verandah of Mr Busby's House and saw her coming in. * Soon saw she was a Man of War, and Mr Busby and I went on board her. I got leave from the Captain to go up in her, if they would accommodate me in the Gun room. In the Course of a few days I got the Consent of the Mess, and went up in her to Sydney, after having waited five Months in the Bay of Islands. I soon had all ready, Squared accounts with Stephenson and Robson and wishing all good bye, went and left my things on board the Alligator, and put poor Venus on board the Schooner, as Thomas the 1st Lieutenant did not like her on board. 

  poor Venus [Marginal note]

  I am sorry to say that while on board the Isabella, she suffered herself to be seduced by a Cur, and I own with regret that she is very like her Prototype of Old, though when I lent her to Mrs. Dumaresq at Port Stevens [Stephens] for four Months, Col Dumaresq said she was more like Diana. 259

  Rai-tay [Marginal note]

  I staid two or Three days at Why-tangie while the examination of a Chief took place of the name of Rai-tay [Rete]; he and six Men had fired 8 or 10 shots at Mr Busby, and one near his head. 260 They robbed his Kitchen, and took some of the Servants Clothes about ten days before the Alligator came in. Rai-tay's Wife told of him, and when the News spread of what the Alligator had been about to the Southward and the Number of Soldiers they saw on board, They did not like the Cross Belts. The Natives are in much greater fear of the Red than the Blue Jackets, and the people of course told them they had killed a Thousand of them,

  * I was walking when I saw the Alligator round Tare Pecker [Tapeka] point into the bay of Islands. E. M.
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  where as they had found but Twenty five dead, but the Wounded were carried off into the Bush or Forest. There was great consternation in Pomarry's [Pomare's] Parr; they removed 4 1/2 Tons of Powder up the Cowey Cowey as they were afraid of an attack on the Parr. 261 

  The Proteus Boat stolen [Marginal note]

  In consequence of a great Villains Work a few days before. A Mourie Slave or Cookee named "(More prower)" [Mauparaoa] or Carrier of the Whale bone, 262 had stolen a Boat from the Proteus Whaler, when on shore for Water, in consequence of a Mans being shot in his Canoe, a few days before. When in the act of robbing the Proteus at Midnight, Captain Brown was forward and heard voices under the bows, looked and saw a Canoe, got a couple of Muskets forward, and the Man was getting up the Cable. The Mate fired over their heads to frighten them and this Rascal fired three Muskets in return out of the Canoe and they heard the Balls whistle over their Heads. 

  A man shot [Marginal note]

  Captain Brown fired the other Musket into the Canoe, as they paddled off and killed a man. The Alligator sent to demand the Boat in ten Minutes or they would destroy the Parr, and it was given up instantly. * 

  The Chief assemble [Marginal note]

  But to return, Mr Busby sent to all the Chiefs To assemble at Why-tangie, to take into consideration the Crime of fireing at the Representative of the King of England, as if the Assembled Chiefs did not enquire into it and give satisfaction for the affront, The Man of War and Soldiers would do it on their own account. After a long Corrirow, Each Chief [had] given his opinion. One old Cannibal from a distance said The Tribe ought to sacrifice Twenty Slaves. Then the Missionaries said they wanted no Innocent Man to suffer for the Guilty, and they did not seek the life of any Man, as no life had been taken. 

  Rai-tay banished [Marginal note]

  But at last he was banished from this end of the Island, and his land forfeited to the King of England. So this is the first atteinture [attainture] ** on record to any party. 

  Torrihah [Marginal note]

  You would have laughed to see an Old Brute of the name of Tarrihah [Tareha] weighing 25 stone running backward and forward flourishing his Marre and having his Corrirow or say in the primitive Parliment. 263 

  kills and eats his slave Girl [Marginal note]

  This Man some two years ago, killed a Slave Girl and eat her, merely because he had some Words with her; he ran at her with this same Marre, and cracked her Pipkin. Then in the most approved manner of cooking eat her; 

  fond of eating Dogs A Cow shot [Marginal note]

  he is very fond of eating Dogs, and Mr Davis told me, that Tarrihah gave him leave to kill all the dogs that came for their Poultry on Condition of sending him the dead Dogs.

  A Chief shot one of Clindons Cows for walking over his Cumera Ground, The Cow not being aware of its being Tabbooed. There was no fence. On the News of this Old Tarrihah, went with his slaves, and eat, and eat till he nearly killed himself and still the Cow was only in part consumed. He remained by it till it actually stank. Still he did not quit his place, till the Cow disappeared in five days under his gastronomic powers.

  The Rangitara of Kororadica Tetorry [Titore] 264 had the execution of the Sentence of the Assembled Chiefs at Why-tangie. All the time Mrs. Busby was in a great fright; she had been Confined the very Night that Rai-tay and his Party had paid their visit. The Child was consequently

  * The night before 4 tons of Powder were sent up the Cower Cower as they were in great fear of Par being burnt. E. M. 

 ** Another form of 'attainder', the extinction of rights through a sentence of death or outlawry.
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  six Months old exactly that day. The Things had been found [in] Parroa bay or Man of Wars bay of Cook, just round Tarpeckers points, say some sixteen miles nearly opposite Mr Busbys house. 265 Rai-tay said upon being taxed with it that Dr Ross had done it, and he admitted that he had robbed Dr Ross several times. 266 We went to dinner. The Revd. Messrs Brown, Williams and Baker, Dr Marshall, * Vanzetti the Master. 267 

  parted with poor Venus [Marginal note]

  Mr Busby was writing his dispatches to Sir R Bourke, when The Alligator fired a Gun. I wished my kind friends good bye and went on board, found Dyke the 3d Lieutenant son of Sir Percy Dyke, put poor Venus on board the Schooner Isabella in charge of a Man named by Gunton but she was frail on Board. I was not sorry to leave the Beautiful Island as I was heartily tired of the Life I was leading. On the Passage I received Every Civility from Captain Lambert and also from the Officers of the Gun room mess and Mids. Arrived at Sydney Novr 9th 1834268 having left Hobart Town Feby 7th 1834 for New Zealand.

  Another little anecdote of Moyterras Brother Ranjeterra [Rangatira]. He was working as most Cheifs will, ** as a Sawyer with Maclean at Parkeneigh when a Slave came and whispered some News not pleasant to a married ear - Ranjeterra immediately said to Maclean, Johny the Boy tells me there are two Coucoupers [kukupa] (Pigeons) and asked for the loan of his Two-parra [tupara] or double barrelled Gun, which he obtained with the Powder flask, Shot &c and no person knew what he went for. The Village is two miles nearer the Heads, near the ground where the Harkatty or feast was held. He immediately went home. His Wife it seems was unfaithful with two of his Slaves. He went into his Hut. His wife was out but one of the Slaves was in. He called him out and Shot him on the spot. The report of the Gun made most people look out of their Huts. His Wife came out and he shot Her also, and the second Slave took to his heels. Ranjeterra took provisions, the Gun, Tomahawk and a Slave and went in persuit of him, tracking Him night and day for Two Days - When the Slave thought himself safe, he proceeded to light a fire and roast some Fern root. Ranjeterra laid in ambush till the Feast was ready, having crawled close up to Him on his hands & knees. When the Slave had roasted enough & was ready to begin Ranjeterra spoke to Him. You may suppose his fright as he had witnessed the fate of the others. Ranjeterra fired & wounded him so severely he could not think of escaping - then commenced eating the Fern root; when he had dined, he sat down by his Victim whilst the Slave he had brought with Him finished the remainder of the Fern root. Then Ranjeterra took out his Tomahawk and coolly dispatched him but I did not hear that he eat him. I should add to this his forcible abduction of Mrs Harry Pearson (whose Sister not long dead was his second wife) which created such an interest in the Hokianga River whilst I was residing on its Banks.

  I should have mentioned also my accident some time before I went across the Island. The Youth of New Zealand amuse themselves during the pleasant Moonlight Summer Nights, in going through their different

  * Dr Marshall has published on New Zealand. E. M. 

 ** Cheifs are not above working. E. M.
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  Dances, swimming and Wrestling. One night they had thrown Kelly & Manning and Peter a cousin of Moyterra [and] the best wrestler, our head Boy on the establishment, came to me and entreated me to try. I accepted; He could make nothing of me for nearly an hour, when he said I was like a Tree so firmly fixed. I then sat down and found one knee so strained that I thought it never would be sound again - It used to drop in walking for three weeks after and I was obliged to nurse it but it gradually got stronger. When I had a touch of Rheumatism or Gout in the ancles, as at this time it was wet and my shoes were bad. One day I thought a dose of Medicine would relieve me from this state of things. Manning said he had eaten some of the Kernels of the Castor oil plant which grows easily all over the Island I suppose from being dropped by Europeans as I am certain it is not a Native of the place or indigenous to the Climate, but to proceed. I swallowed some, & soon felt faint, when in came Juniper Jack the Yankey Carpenter from the Wesleyan Mission 269to enquire what was the matter with me, and he immediately said Oh Sir that is the worst thing You could do, I know a Man who died in Convulsions in consequence of taking the same thing (the Devils Comforter). Soon after I was sick to my hearts content and it had the desired effect, in fact it worked like the Cholera. It seems to me that the same causes that depopulated the Indian Tribes are doing the same all over the World. In New Zealand the same as in Canada or North America, And in Southern Africa the Hottentots are a decreasing people and by all accounts the Islands of the South Seas are the same. Rum, Blankets, Muskets, Tobacco and Diseases have been the great destroyers; * but my belief is the Almighty intended it should be so or it would not have been allowed, Out of Evil comes Good.

  Native diseases are Scrofula, consumption, caused by f Bad foods, Rotton corn, Do fish &c, Damp ground as now the[y] lay down in huts not a foot above high water mark with only a mat between them and the Earth. 270

  Vide 53

  Battersby was to have bought some small Brig or schooner at Sydney for the cheif (Apee) of the Whymarr River, for him to take his tribe round to the Southward to some place there, and they were to land and destroy some people there who had killed his uncle or father, some years back, but who had never been revenged. I heard that there was a large quantity of fine timber ready cut to give in payment for the Brig - but I never spoke to him on the subject or heard more of it; there was a most horrid affair some 3 or 4 years back. 271 A Brig called the Elizabeth went down to New Zealand, either from Hobart town or Sydney, with the view of geting a cargo of flax; the Brig lay at Cabbity| [Kapiti] or Entry Island some time, but the Natives gave evasive answers to the Captns daily entreaties, to ship the flax and he had lost much time doing nothing, when the cheifs told him if he would take them to such a place on the Eastern Coast of the Southern Island they would guarantee him his cargo the moment the Brig returned there - he little suspecting what was about

  * Not forgetting Infanticide. E. M. 

 ** The words 'caused by' actually appear in the margin a line below 'foods'. This paragraph and most of the remainder of the manuscript are written in pencil. 

 *** Cabbity is on N Wt Coast. E. M. Kapiti is of course on the south-west coast of the North Island.
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  to occur agreed to the proposition and some 200 New Zealanders went on board, armed with Muskets &c and ripe for the Massacre that was to take place - the Captn put to sea and he found then to his cost that the Natives were in fact his Master and he was obliged to succumbe to their wishes or they would have taken The Brig by force - the Brig arrived and as usual the Natives flocked on board, but the Wily thieves kept out of sight, under cover of the Bulwarks, and as the Natives came over the side they were instantly seized, and thrown down into the Hold of the Brig and there dispatched; it was useless for the Captn to remonstrate when the Tigers had seen blood; after killing some thirty in this cowardly manner, they landed and killed, man, woman, & child, on unsuspecting inhabitants and some few escaped into the country, but they [w]reaked their vengeance on the Village by burning and destroying all that came across them; some few of the Cheifs were reserved for a worse Death. They returned in triumph to celebrate the victory and took back some Tons of Human flesh with them - all the tribes round congregated and partook of the feast - the Head Cheif I forget his name at present was put in Irons but they being too small, his legs swelled to an enormous size and the Irons cut into the flesh - they had been feasting for some days and took him some cooked flesh, every day, his own tribe & relations; at last they thought he would escape their hands by dying so they killed this cheif, and the Mother of Cabitty Cheif had him brought before her hut to feast her eyes on for some time, and then upbraided him - she then partook of him after being cooked - I have heard that one european partook of his heart a petit morceau being distributed to the cheifs private friends; the Daughter of the disceased was one of the saved, and saved her life by becomeing the wife of one of the party before her Rank was known to any of them or she certainly would have been eat; to continue the Story Captn Stewart after all did not get his cargo of flax and I am not certain if he returned to his Port or not but I beleive he was lost afterwards on the coast of * Peru - I mention this to shew what might happen if the Whymarr Cheif Apee ever gets a Brig as he can get hundreds of men now (New Zealand[er]s) that can handle her in a seaman like manner.

  * The word 'New' follows but it has been struck out.
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  Page 41 might have been left out or modified so as to be presentable to strangers and No 1 or EM not appearing as the Hero in the questionable parts.

  43 - Do – Do 

  45

  48 - Do – Do

  49 - Do – Do

  52 - Do – Do

  53 - Do – Do

  56 - Do – Do

  58 - all the better if kept out of sight

  59 - 60

  65 - 69 certainly

  page 258 in Earle is not unlike the features of some of the Women but they often wear the hair more like Europeans.



 187 The Industry's brief history is outstanding even in the sensational records of early New Zealand shipping. While on her way from Launceston to the Hokianga in November 1835 her captain was thrown overboard by disgruntled members of the crew. On her arrival McDonnell discovered the crime, seized the guilty men, and dispatched them in their own ship to Hobart Town with a guard of settlers and Maoris under Henry Oakes, who quelled a further mutiny as they approached Van Diemen's Land. On what was probably her return voyage the ship called at Sydney, carried the Guards to Cloudy Bay, and reached the Hokianga in April 1836. In December of that year she ended her career in a not unusual manner: driven ashore, 'she was plundered, her masts cut away, and the hull hacked to pieces, and the crew arrived at Te Horeke stripped of their possessions.' Styles, who was still the owner, rescued the register and other papers but did not long survive the loss of his schooner. Some time in 1837 he was one of a party of riotous settlers who visited the mission chapel at Mangungu to dance round it while they cheered in derision and waved bottles of rum. Retributive justice quickly descended on this scene of licence and sacrilege: 'In a drunken brawl... Thomas Styles, received a blow, which, together with the poisonous effects of his excesses, brought him to the margin of that great precipice that divides time from eternity. When in this mournful condition, he sent for the Missionaries, expressed his sorrow on account of his determined opposition to them, and to the confederate Chiefs, on the subject of temperance; and, as a proof of his compunction, he ordered all his rum puncheons to be taken from his store, and their contents to be poured on the ground, in the presence of his assembled associates. The poor fellow bade farewell to earthly scenes, twenty-four hours after he received the fatal blow, in the drunken bout, which sent him to a premature grave.'- Ramsden, Busby, 116-19, 156; McNab, 148; Davis, Patuone, 33-4; R. M. R.
188 It is evident from official records that the blacksmith at Otarihau was Joseph William Wright. - R. M. R.
189 Nothing is known of Mr Craigh (Craig?) beyond this account of his death and funeral. The missionaries, according to one of their number, made the most of such an occasion: 'The corpse... was conveyed in a boat, to Mangungu, and was followed by all its old comrades. This gave the missionaries their last opportunity for a solemn appeal to the consciences of those misguided men, that they should "turn from their wickedness and live."' - Buller, 36.
190 Unless there was a large and sudden influx of settlers after Markham's visit, it would seem that he was too conservative in his estimate. In 1835 Samuel Butler wrote that there were 120 Europeans in the district, while Buller gave the number of sawyers and artisans in April 1836 as about 200. Polack, on the other hand, estimated the total European population (presumably in 1837) at 'about one hundred'. - Butler, 403; Buller, 27-8; Polack, New Zealand, 1: 267.
191 Thomas Mitchell was one member of a Sydney merchant family which took a prominent part in the New South Wales - New Zealand trade during the thirties. He probably acted as the agent of his brother Francis and bought land in the Hokianga late in 1831. He is described by Buller as 'a respectable trader' living 'at the Horohoro in the Mangamuka branch of the Hokianga'. He was prominent in the attempt to enforce prohibition in 1835 and, with his wife and 'well-trained family', attended services at Mangungu. When he died, about 1837, some 60 Europeans attended his river funeral. 'The cortege, ' writes Buller, 'consisted of eleven boats, the British ensign waving over that which bore the coffin.' - Buller, 36; Ramsden, Marsden, 78; R. M. R.
192 The meagre facts available about members of this gathering not mentioned previously may be summarised in a sentence: Southey was probably Edward Henry Curling Southee; Gibbon was almost certainly William Gibbon; Colin Gillies met his death by drowning; of Tom the Thrasher nothing but his nickname has survived. - R. M. R.
193 Markham's date suggests the infrequency - or at least the irregularity - of communications between the two settlements; Busby was assaulted a fortnight earlier, on 30 April. For an account of the incident, see note 159 below; and for an outline of Busby's career, note 123 below.
194 Rees, of whom nothing else is recorded, was presumably one of the two carpenters Markham employed to build his room.
195 The Amity, a brig of 148 tons, was engaged in the New Zealand trade and had penetrated to whaling grounds as far south as Otago. Of the contingent she brought on the present voyage, two members were 'Old Friends', as Markham later remarks, though in both cases the friendship seems to have been formed in Van Diemen's Land. Lamb was a neighbour of Oakes and is recorded in the earlier narrative as a guest at several convivial gatherings. Markham also mentions dining in the mess of the 63rd Regiment where he probably met Groves. Nothing is known of the other persons referred to. - McNab, 19, 101; E. Markham, 'Van Diemen's Land', 29, 31, 33.
196 Parker's Christian name was probably Edward. - R. M. R.
197 Miss Sarah Markham was Edward's youngest sister, born in 1802 and apparently still alive in 1883. - C. R. Markham, Naval career, 245.
198 William Nicholson also appears in contemporary records as Nicholas or Nicholason. He came to the Hokianga with Captain Clark, moved with him to Kohukohu after McDonnell acquired the Horeke shipyard, and acted as interpreter for Kelly and Maning in the Kohukohu purchase. - R. M. R.
199 Dutch Sam was, in fact, a Swede whose name was Samuel Egert or Egart. - R. M. R.
200 Cook did give the Bay of Islands its present name. The Maori name was Tokerau, which Polack renders 'Hundred Islets', and Markham in the footnote '100 rocks'; Maori place names are, however, notoriously ambiguous, and Williams merely defines the word as 'Northern'. - Cook, 212; Polack, New Zealand, 1: 249.
201Nene's pa was at Tarawana on the Waihou near Captain Young's sawing station, so there can be no doubt about this identification. It is unfortunate that Markham failed to meet Nene (17807-1871) and his brother Patuone (17767-1872), the Hokianga chiefs best known to posterity. The fine impartiality of the two leaders was exhibited in their dealings with the missionaries. 'Patuone,' writes a Wesleyan historian, '... received baptism from the Rev. Henry Williams and took the name of Eruera Maihi Patuone, after Williams' son; while Nene received the rite at the Methodist Mission and became Tamati Waka Nene, after Thomas Walker, of Stockton-on-Tees, a prominent supporter of the Mission. "This was arranged," says Dr. Morley, "expressly so as not to favour one more than the other, and was so understood by their fellow-tribesmen."' - R. M. R.; DNZB, 2: 117, 154; Laws, 18.
202 See note 39 above. In describing the plant Yate remarks that Astilia angustifolia gives 'the smaller groves the appearance of an English rookery'. - Yate, 16.
203 Marsden, who seems to have followed much the same route in 1819, gave the distance to Kerikeri, after emerging into open country, as 'more than twenty miles'. - Marsden, 201.
204 Benjamin Nesbit, one of the New Zealand Company's mechanics, had lived in the Hokianga for some years, working in partnership with Nimmo and McLean. He was now (apparently not for the first time) in the employment of the Kerikeri mission. On 1 July 1834 James Kemp reported, 'Benjamin Nesbet Carpenter commenced working again on the 9th May last & has put the roof on the store ready for shingling.' - R. M. R.; J. Kemp, 'Correspondence'.
205 As so often, the distance should be halved: it is barely 12 miles by water from Kerikeri to Kororareka.
206 Kororareka, the modern Russell, was at this time only a village of about a dozen European buildings, and in the years ahead was to become a far looser and more riotous place. On 24 February 1834 Thomas Chapman wrote, '"three years and a half ago when I arrived in New Zealand, there was no European resident at Kororareka, save for a few sawyers and sailors who had left their ships; now there are five large wooden houses erected for Europeans and (I think) six more erecting, solely for the purpose of selling spirits...."' - Lee, 'Southseaman', 172-3.
207 Alexander - almost certainly the William Alexander of official records - was apparently Markham's first host at Kororareka. It is not clear whether the footnote means his grog shop was the oldest established, the first one a traveller would encounter on arriving, or the first with regard to amenities. - R. M. R.
208 Gilbert Mair was born in Scotland in 1797 and settled at the Bay of Islands in 1824. In spite of occasional clashes with Busby, Mair, as a person '"of great respectability"', supported the Resident's authority, assisted at his official gatherings, and subsequently entered into partnership with him. He died in 1857. Mair's partner at this time was William Powditch, four years his senior, who had established himself at the Bay a few years earlier. He later entered politics and died in 1872. -DNZB, 2: 45, 181-2; Ramsden, Marsden, 22-4, 107; Ramsden, Busby, 69, 144, 300.
209 Okiato, the future site of New Zealand's first capital, had been bought by James Reddy Clendon (1801-72) in December 1830 when he was master of the City of Edinburgh. He took possession of the land some two years later, setting up as a general merchant in partnership with Samuel Stephenson. In 1834 he had not yet reached the peak of his commercial prosperity, nor was the establishment as extensive as it was six years later; but Markham himself notes (p. 74) that large-scale building and 'improvements' were already under way. Clendon was for a time United States Consul at the Bay of Islands and later filled a variety of official posts, ending his days at Rawene on the Hokianga. As for Markham's other associates at Okiato, Rogers was his fellow passenger on the Brazil Packet, while of Robson (first mentioned on p. 64) nothing further is recorded. - Ross, 34-9; DNZB, 1: 161-2; R. M. R.
210 One would assume that Rogers was known as Tuatara, but an allusion in Polack, with a different explanation, points rather to Clendon: 'Another acquaintance is only addressed as te Tuatara, or lizard, from having, during a voyage undertaken some years back, searched various parts for a cargo of timber of the country, to load his ship, which was likened to the action of a lizard seeking in holes and crannies.' - Polack, New Zealand, 2: 81.
211 The incident is related by Earle. Robert Duke, captain of a whaler The Sisters, and Earle, hearing that a young slave girl in their employment had been put to death, looked for the body and found it being placed in a Maori oven. After expostulating with the chief responsible, they decided to retrieve the remains and, with the help of other Europeans (apparently including Alexander), took them from the oven and buried them. The next day they were reproved by the chief, King George (Te Uriti), who informed them that their imprudent action was futile since the body had been disinterred and eaten. - Earle, 112-21; R. M. R.
212 Possibly because of his archiepiscopal and naval connections, Markham received from the Anglican missionaries a welcome rarely accorded itinerant members of the laity. The dominant figure at Paihia, as he perceived, was the Rev. Henry Williams who had established that station on his arrival in 1823. Born in 1782, Williams rose to the rank of Lieutenant in the Royal Navy and towards the end of an eventful career was one of the prize crew sent on board the President (not the Chesapeake, as Markham has it). In successive crises during the pre-colonial years he acted as mediator not only among the Europeans but also with the Maoris, who learned to respect his force of character and physical courage. Conditions after the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi (in which he took a prominent part) were less favourable to his peculiar talents and for years he was embroiled in differences with his ecclesiastical and lay superiors with whom he was, however, reconciled long before his death in 1867. Henry's qualities contrasted with and complemented those of his brother William who was his junior by 18 years and followed him to Paihia in 1826. The Rev. William Williams, as Markham notes, had studied medicine before his ordination and, of a more retiring disposition than his brother, founded a long tradition of scholarship represented in successive editions of his Maori dictionary. He became the first Bishop of Waiapu and died in 1878. Thomas Chapman was a lesser figure whose 'Simple minded' Christianity and 'lady like' wife earned Markham's repeated praise. He had joined the mission in 1830, at the age of 39, later served in a number of southern stations, and died in 1876. - DNZB, 1: 152, 2: 511-12, 515-16; Carleton, 1: 13-14.
213 Jack Markham was in all probability Edward's cousin: John Markham, 'a Lieutenant R. N.', born in 1797, appears in the family records; he was second son of the Archbishop's eldest son William. Edward Kelly cannot be identified. - D. F. Markham, 82.
214 Of Markham's two strolling (or drinking?) companions nothing is known except that the former was probably R. O'Connor. - R. M. R.
215 This was the date of the Alligator's arrival from the south; she did not sail for Sydney until 30 October. - Marshall, 243, 300.
216 The master of the Bolina, Captain Ranulph Dacre (1795-1882), was prominent in the timber trade during the thirties. - DNZB, 1: 189; R. M. R.
217 Robert Wardell (1794-1834), New South Wales journalist and advocate, was shot dead by escaped convicts on 7 September 1834; the discrepancy between this date and Markham's is perhaps sufficiently explained by a lapse of memory when he was compiling the narrative. - Australian encyclopaedia, 9: 163.
218 The distance Markham gives should again be halved.
219 Visiting Henry Williams's widow in 1869, James Buller noted that the late Archdeacon's descendants then numbered 'altogether a hundred and twenty, a valuable contribution to the public weal'. - Buller, 139.
220 The details given in this description of the Bay are, for Markham, reasonably accurate: the Haruru Falls are about 2 miles up the Waitangi River, but their maximum height (which depends on the tide) would not exceed 22 feet, while Paihia is little more than 2 miles from the former Kororareka. - W. A. Lindsay, Paihia, to the writer, 14 April 1961.
221 Markham must here be credited with one of his rare underestimates: Busby's figures, supplied to the Governor of New South Wales, show that a total of 89 vessels visited the Bay of Islands in 1833, and 91 in 1834. - Tapp, 177.
222 Dr Adolphus James Ross was Busby's neighbour and was established at the Bay before the Resident arrived in May 1833. He had come as a settler, but, reported Marshall, 'was soon stripped of all he possessed by the natives, and glad to accept of shelter, and a small salary from the missionaries in lieu of his professional services, when those might be needed for any of the mission families.' In emergencies he was apparently expected to attend the Wesleyans at Mangungu. Busby ascribed Ross's troubles to the fact that he had desecrated a Maori burial place on his property and in 1837 reported that the doctor and his wife had fled from their home and would probably leave for Van Diemen's Land. In fact, they took refuge in the Hokianga, where in the same year Ross bought the Kohukohu property from Maning. He sold it again to the Wesleyan missionary Nathaniel Turner in May 1838 and appears to have died some months later. - R. M. R.; Ramsden, Busby, 61, 169, 198; Ramsden, Marsden, 120-1; Marshall, 244.
223 James Stack, at this time 33 years of age, had, as Markham indicates, recently returned from England. Emigrating to Sydney as a youth, he had come under Marsden's influence and volunteered for service first in the pioneer Wesleyan mission at Whangaroa and, after its abandonment, at Mangungu. During a visit to England in the early thirties he transferred to the Church Missionary Society and married 'Mary West of Islington, a beautiful nineteen year old girl'. (The elopement recorded in Markham's footnote, but not elsewhere, is hardly in character with a man described as 'of a quiet and gentle disposition'.) He served at the Waipa and other southern stations until he finally returned to England in 1847. His wife died three years later, Stack in 1883. - DNZB, 2: 318; Reed, 25, 27.
224 The previous use of this shrewd estimate of Busby, in various edited versions, may well have fostered a too favourable notion of Markham's judgment and literary capacity. Born in Glasgow in 1800, James Busby was at this time 34 years of age, and so Markham's senior by a year. As a young man he had migrated with his family to New South Wales where he held a succession of minor Government posts. Dissatisfied with his treatment, he visited England in 1831 and successfully solicited for the position of British Resident in New Zealand, a post for which Governor Darling had already earmarked the far abler Sturt. The circumstances of his appointment alienated not only Darling and his successor Bourke but also the Executive Council of New South Wales who, as Markham states in the footnote, resented paying from their own revenue the salary of £500 which the Colonial Office recommended for its nominee. Placed in a difficult situation with no means of enforcing his ill-defined powers, Busby was thus handicapped from the outset by the displeasure - later amounting to positive antagonism - of his immediate superiors. During his six-year term as Resident, he limped on ineffectually from crisis to crisis: after the first auspicious months his prestige was so badly damaged by Rete's attack that even the Alligator's visit could do little to restore it; nor was the failure to consult him over the Harriet affair calculated to enhance his standing; during 1835 and 1836 he was plagued by Thomas McDonnell, his unwanted and unruly subordinate in the Hokianga; Charles de Thierry, with his extravagant imperial claims, constituted a threat for some years until his advent in 1837 disclosed the pitiful hollowness of his pretensions; in the same year the renewal of fighting among the northern Maoris added to Busby's perplexities; 1838 opened with Bishop Pompallier's arrival, accentuating the vague menace of French intervention, while the formation in May of the Kororareka Vigilants' Association dealt a further blow to the Resident's authority. The notice of his dismissal, dispatched from Sydney in May 1839, ended his official perplexities. Busby played an honourable part in the events that led to the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi; but the agitations in which he engaged till his death in 1871 did little to enhance his name. - Ramsden, Busby, passim; DNZB, 1: 123-6; Tapp, 78-113 passim.
225 The book was in all probability the Rev. Alexander Keith's Evidence of the truth of the Christian religion derived from the literal fulfilment of prophecy (1828).
226 These expectations were soon realised by the arrival on 30 December 1834 of William Colenso, catechist and printer. - DNZB, 1: 168.
227 Comparison with a modern map suggests that Markham's estimate on this occasion was accurate.
228 Aysgarth Force, Wensleydale, is in Markham's native Yorkshire.
229 Charles Darwin, who took the same route in the following year, remarked in more scientific terms, 'The soil is volcanic, in several parts we passed over slaggy and vesicular lavas, & the form of a crater was clearly to be distinguished in several of the neighbouring hills.' - Darwin, 368.
230 The mission farm at Waimate brought to fruition one of Marsden's cherished schemes and created a show place which won the praise of successive visitors. When Darwin was there at the end of 1836 he noted the completion of various projects mentioned by Markham. There were three large houses for the 'Missionary gentleman', huts for the 'native labourers', 'fine crops of barley & wheat in full ear, & others of potatoes & of clover', 'large gardens, with every fruit & vegetable which England produces, & many belonging to a warmer clime'. Around the farmyard were stables, a threshing barn with its winnowing machine, and a blacksmith's forge; a few hundred yards away, 'where the water of a little rill has been dammed up into a pool, a large and substantial water-mill has been erected.' 'All this,' he remarked, 'is very surprising when it is considered that five years ago, nothing but the fern here flourished. Moreover native workmanship, taught by the Missionaries, has effected this change: the lesson of the Missionary is the enchanter's wand. The house has been built, the windows framed, the fields ploughed, even the trees grafted by the New Zealander.' 



 The missionaries permanently stationed on the farm at the time of Markham's visit were Englishmen by birth, all three qualified by practical training to instruct their charges. George Clarke, a gunsmith by trade, had come to New Zealand in 1824 at the age of 26, serving first at Kerikeri. In later years he severed his connection with the mission, became successively Protector of the Aborigines and Judge of the Native Land Court, and died in 1875. Richard Davis, as Markham remarks, was a Dorset farmer, born in 1790, who had joined the mission in 1824. From the time of his arrival it was Marsden's intention that he should establish a farm at Waimate, but he spent some years at Kerikeri and Paihia before settling at Waimate in 1831. He ultimately became Vicar of Kaikohe and died in 1863. James Hamlin (1803-65) had been trained as a flaxdresser and weaver before he came to New Zealand in 1826. After leaving the Bay of Islands in 1835, he was in charge of several southern stations and finally of Wairoa, Hawke's Bay. - Marsden, 337, 545; Darwin, 368-9; DNZB, 1: 159, 195-6, 351.
231 The journal of George Clarke reveals that Markham carried out a formal inspection of the Maori scholars. The entry for 6 August runs, 'Wednesday Mr Markham examined our boys School and expressed himself well pleased with their progress they runned through the first rules of arithmetick and other exercises such as reading writing on slate from dictation'. The following day he writes, 'Thursday with Mr Markham visited the Native Infant School under the conduct of Mrs Hamlin they passed through the routine of the day with great credit'. - G. Clarke, 'Journal'.
232 The persons commemorated in this fragment of gossip may have been members of the English colony in Florence; previously (p. 29) Markham refers to the Turtons as residents of that city.
233 The village is probably the one Marshall calls Koropi, 'a picturesque village, about three miles distant from Waimate, the chief of which, "Hau," has built a roomy chapel at his own cost, and for the most part with his own manual labour.' - Marshall, 85.
234 The hill visited by Markham and Hamlin was, in all likelihood, Te Ahuahu (1, 240 feet) about a mile from Lake Omapere. - R. M. R.
235 At various times, it seems, Hongi built or occupied more than one pa in this locality. That seen by Markham can be identified with a pa visited by both Yate and Polack. Yate thus describes it: I have seen one Pa, that of Mawe [Maui?], which of itself is almost impregnable. It is a promontory, jutting out nearly a quarter of a mile into the lake; and is only approachable by canoes, except through a narrow defile, cut through a neck of land which joins it to the main, and which alone prevents it from being an island.... This forted eminence was chosen and prepared by Hongi, when he expected to be attacked by some hostile tribes.... the general way in which it is fortified, shows the genius and, in the opinion of military men, the military skill of this renowned chief.' Polack writes in similar terms, defining the site more precisely as a promontory extending into 'the lake of Morperi [Omapere]'. The pa was built after Hongi's return from England, but, despite Markham, it is doubtful whether he had added anything to his knowledge of hill fortification during his travels abroad. - Yate, 124-5; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 183; R. M. R.
236 Markham's fears, presumably derived from conversation with the missionaries, were well founded. In 1837 fighting, sparked off by the murder of a Maori woman, broke out between Titore of Kororareka and Pomare of Otuihu. Despite the efforts of Marsden, then on his last visit to New Zealand, and of the resident missionaries, it continued for some months, involving many of the northern Maoris on both coasts. The casualties included Titore and Pi of the Hokianga. - Marsden, 524; Ramsden, Marsden, 210-33.
237 According to James Hamlin's diary, Markham accompanied him to Kaikohe which is about 10 miles from Waimate. Hamlin describes the day as 'very rainy' and 'very cold' but does not mention snow, an unlikely phenomenon in that locality. - J. Hamlin, 'Diary'.
238 Even the smaller figure given in the footnote is beyond reasonable bounds; see note 81 above.
239 Since Maning is mentioned, the incident apparently occurred in the Hokianga and the sawyer would probably be John Baker (1794-1869). - R. M. R.
240 Yate, whose estimates are more conservative, gives the span of the bridge as 60 feet and the distance from Waimate to Kerikeri as 10 miles. He adds, 'This great work was performed, in little more than three months, by the natives themselves, with the assistance of Messrs. Clarke and Hamlin....' - Yate, 191.
241 No artist of this name and no picture answering to this description have been traced; possibly the painter - or owner - was some relative of Markham's brother-in-law, General Rufane Donkin, though it seems unlikely that it was his son, George David Donkin, who was only a youth of 17 in 1834. - C. R. Markham, Naval career, 259n.
242 'Gilbert' cannot be identified; there is no-one of this name in records of the Markham family.
243 Kerikeri, where Markham had already stayed as a surreptitious guest on his journey from the Hokianga, had been founded in 1819, the second station established in the Bay of Islands. Marshall, who also visited the mission in 1834, described it as wearing 'an air of so much neatness, order, and comfort, as at once to transport the imagination from New Zealand to England'. Of the two 'humble, unpretending men; both, catechists in the church, and mechanics in the world' whom Marshall met, Markham mentions only James Kemp. A smith by trade and a native of Norfolk, Kemp was born in 1798 and came to New Zealand with his wife in 1819. He lived at Kerikeri most of his life, remaining there after he left missionary employment in 1852. He died 20 years later. - Elder in Marsden, 144, 148; Marshall, 103; DNZB, 1: 456-7.
244 Yate names the falls 'Waianiwaniwa, or "waters of the rainbow"'. Both he and Marsden agree with Markham in estimating their height at about 90 feet, but on the modern inch-to-the-mile series it is given as 65 feet. Yate also mentions the cave, confining himself to the observation that formerly 'a few people resided' in it. - Marsden, 97; Yate, 11-12.
245 In his Van Diemen's Land narrative, Markham mentions the arrival of the Alligator from the Swan River with 'the Baron Hugel, an Austrian General, travelling as a Naturalist all over the East'. He came to the Bay of Islands in the same ship in March 1834 and was tireless in visiting the mission stations and other places of interest. Baron Clemens Wenzel Huegel (1792-1849) is listed as Austrian Embassy Counsellor in Paris for the last time in 1837; as mentioned in the Introduction, the footnote on p. 73 thus suggests a date for the composition or revision of the present narrative. - E. Markham, 'Van Diemen's Land', 49; Yate, 193; Marshall, 76, 85; Austrian National Library, Vienna, to Alexander Turnbull Library, 29 January 1960.
246 When the Alligator visited the Bay of Islands in March 1834 she brought three flags, made in Sydney to Busby's specifications, from which one was to be selected. At a gathering of some 30 chiefs before the Residency on 20 March, their choice fell on a flag described officially as 'A red St. George's Cross on a white ground. In the first quarter, a red St. George's cross on a blue ground pierced with four white stars.' Or, as Marshall puts it, 'a white flag, with a St. George's cross, and in the upper corner on the left hand, a blue field with a red cross, and four white stars'. (Markham's particulars, it will be noted, are quite wrong.) The adoption of the flag was partly a move towards unifying the country under a 'confederation' of chiefs. But its more practical purpose, as Markham vaguely suggests, was to regularise the status of New Zealand built ships. As early as January 1829 Thomas Raine of Sydney, part owner of the Horeke shipyard, had raised this question with the British Government. His first vessel the Enterprise, he pointed out, had been granted registration in Sydney, but a similar application for the New Zealander had been refused and consequently he was forced to sail the ship on his own responsibility. Hence he sought a register not only for the New Zealander but for a ship then building (the Sir George Murray). As a result of the firm's bankruptcy, the question seems to have lapsed until it was again taken up by Busby. After his recommendations were finally approved in 1835, New Zealand built ships were authorised to sail under the national flag and to carry a register granted by the chiefs and certified by the British Resident. - Ramsden, Busby, 65-8; Yate in Marsden, 510-11; Marshall, 107-9; Hist. rec. Aust. 14: 603-4 (1922).
247 Victor Jacquemont (1801-32) was a French naturalist and explorer
248 The distance, when checked on a modern map, seems rather excessive, but Markham may have taken an indirect route.
249 Hongi's vow was probably apocryphal; at any rate it does not seem to have been recorded elsewhere.
250 This example of settlers' etymology, which has already appeared in the narrative (p. 72, footnote), seems to be based on the resemblance between the penultimate syllable of 'Ngapuhi' and 'po' night. S. P. Smith derives the tribal name from that of an ancestor, Puhi. - Smith, 'Peopling of the north', 29.
251 Whatever the practice was in 1834, Paroa Bay and Manawaora Bay are now regarded as two separate bays, separated from each other by Tarawatangata Point. As for Markham's footnote, Cook did not name Manawaora Bay, nor is it derived from 'man of war'; it is a Maori word meaning 'the beating heart'. - Alexander Turnbull Library to the writer, 30 May 1960.
252 The Cafe Hardy (or Hardi) in the Boulevard des Italiens, Paris, was celebrated for its "dejeuners a la four-chette", dejeuners froids ou composes d'oeufs ou de cotelettes". See also note 63 above. - Hillairet, 506.
253 Markham and Rogers were let off lightly. Polack describes a similar incident when the desecrators of a sacred grove were forced to part with blankets, muskets, and tobacco by way of compensation. - Polack, New Zealand, 2: 266-8.
254 The victim in this duel of wits was probably Captain John Barber of the barque Jane. - R. M. R.
255 This identification is confirmed by Marshall who, on 26 October 1834, found Mr Chapman 'dispirited and distressed' as a result of his visit that afternoon to 'the tribes at the head of the Waikadi'. - Marshall, 268.
256 This famous building can be termed three-storeyed only by counting the loft as one storey. Though bearing the date 1833, it was still unfinished at the time of Markham's visit. Writing on 1 January 1835, James Kemp reported that among other duties in the previous six months he had been engaged in 'shingling new Store', while Benjamin Nesbit had been employed 'Finishing the roof - preparing and laying the two upper floors putting in the windows and front doors.' In the same report he adds, 'The New Store is now so far advanced, as to receive with safety any stores which may be lodged in it.' - J. Kemp, 'Correspondence'.
257 Robert McNab terms the feat 'probably the most daring circumnavigation of the Globe ever undertaken by an Australasian captain' and gives details that supplement and sometimes correct Markham's. Towards the end of 1832, the Emma Kemp, of 37 tons, left Hobart under the command of Captain Steine, then only 22 years of age, with a crew of five; on the outward voyage they called at Cook Strait and then made for Rio de Janeiro to pick up a cargo of tobacco and coffee; leaving Rio on 14 April 1833, they returned to Hobart on 12 August. McNab mentions that the same vessel, at that time commanded by Captain Doyle, sailed from Hobart for New Zealand on 22 April 1834, but he makes no reference to the incident described by Markham. - McNab, 21, 76.
258 The Harriet affair is so involved that it would supply material for a book rather than a note. The fullest eyewitness account is Marshall's; McNab, in a detailed and judicial narrative, uses official documents and Sydney newspapers; Tapp supplies a useful summary; and Ramsden has brought to light some startling new evidence which tends to blacken Guard's already murky reputation. Markham's account, doubtless based on gossip circulating at the Bay and on the quarterdeck of the Alligator, is riddled with error, ludicrously telescoped, and, of course, biased in favour of the Europeans. What follows cannot claim to be more than a bare outline of the events but may at least serve to correct Markham's grosser mis-statements and distortions. 



 John Guard, an ex-convict (Tapp. 91), was not the Captain of the Harriet but a shore whaler who, with a whaling gang and his wife and two infant children, John and Louisa, was on his way from Sydney to his station at Cloudy Bay when, on 29 April 1834, the ship was wrecked off Cape Egmont. After an affray with the Maoris - perhaps not unprovoked (Ramsden, Busby, 73) - in which 12 Europeans were killed, Guard and some 15 men made their escape but were later recaptured. On promising to return with a cask of powder as payment, Guard and five men were allowed to leave in the one remaining ship's boat which they repaired and succeeded in bringing into Cloudy Bay on 27 June after a hazardous voyage of some 11 days (one of the few heroic episodes in this deplorable story). The Maoris kept nine men as hostages, while Mrs Guard, who had been badly wounded in the encounter - and, apparently, abandoned - remained a prisoner with her children; according to her own testimony (McNab, 423), she owed her life to the intercession of a chief's wife who had thrown 'a rug over her person'. (There is no evidence that she was forced to submit to the embraces of her dusky captor, but if gossip emanating from Busby can be accepted (Ramsden, Busby, 73), the experience would not have been novel.) The baby Louisa was left with her mother, but the boy was taken from her and remained away for two months. Meanwhile Guard had made his way to Port Nicholson and boarded the Joseph Weller, whose captain agreed to drop him at Cape Egmont to ransom the captured Europeans. Bad weather (one of the blackest villains in the piece) frustrated this design, and he was carried on to Sydney. There Governor Bourke and the Executive Council, one member dissenting, agreed to send in HMS Alligator and the colonial schooner Isabella a punitive expedition drawn from the 50th Regiment. (Estimates differ slightly, but in addition to sailors and marines there seem to have been about 68 soldiers.) A man called Miller went as pilot, while Markham's former bedfellow was appointed interpreter. Marshall (235) caustically comments, 'Mr. Battesby's [sic] only knowledge of the tongue in which he was appointed to communicate on a question of life and death, had been acquired on Kororarika Beach, while his qualifications for the delicate office of an interpreter, both moral and literary, had been obtained while filling the somewhat different situation of a retail spirit-seller and a marker of billiards at the same place!! These remarks would doubtless have been even more scathing had Marshall been in possession of the facts divulged by Markham (p. 83 above): that Battersby was apparently in Sydney for the purpose of acquiring a ship in which he might emulate the exploits of the infamous John Stewart. 



 When the expedition reached Taranaki on 12 September, Miller and Battersby were landed at Te Namu pa to demand the return of Mrs Guard and the children. She was, they discovered, in the supposedly impregnable pa of Waimate, and, after a fruitless attempt to seek her out, they spent five uncomfortable and perilous days ashore while the ships sheltered from bad weather in Gore Harbour in the South Island. At this time, in order to conciliate the Maoris, the two intermediaries were said to have promised a reward for the return of the captives. The men were picked up on the 17th, and four days later the Harriet's sailors were freed. For nearly three weeks there ensued a tantalising and gory game of hide and seek for the possession of Mrs Guard and the children. A report came that she was at Te Namu, so on 28 September a party was sent ashore with orders to attack the pa. On landing, they were met by a chief who claimed ownership of Mrs Guard and undertook to give her up if the reward promised by Miller and Battersby were paid. The response was immediate: he was seized and sent to the Alligator in a boat manned by sailors from the Harriet. When he attempted to escape, these men maltreated and wounded him in the most brutal manner. The armed party then attacked the pa which the Maoris abandoned, though they still retained possession of Mrs Guard, who was sent back to Waimate. Having failed in their principal mission, the force re-embarked, but not before they had looted and burned the deserted pa. The scene now shifted to the beach before Waimate where, on 30 September, the tableau described by Markham was enacted - shorn of his lurid embellishments. Mrs Guard was merely taken to the beach but bravely warned her would-be rescuers that the Maoris meditated an attack. The next morning more prudent counsels prevailed, and, in return for the wounded chief, she and her small daughter were surrendered. Marshall (188) supplies his own dignified tableau: 'She was dressed in native costume, being completely enveloped from head to foot in two superb mats, the largest and finest of the kind I have ever seen: they were the parting present of the tribe among whom she had been sojourning. She was, however, bare-footed, and awakened, very naturally, universal sympathy by her appearance.' 



 In the final and bloodiest act, the two forces contended for the person of the young John Guard. On the day of his mother's return, a boat, sent to negotiate for the child's recovery, was fired on. The ships thereupon retaliated by bombarding the pa for nearly three hours. At various times the Maoris raised a white flag and hoisted the boy in token of surrender (Marshall, 194-5); but the course of justice was not to be deflected. Bad weather again drove the ships to the South Island, and the action was not resumed for some days. On 8 October, after further fruitless parleying, a large party, well provisioned, heavily armed, and equipped with a six-pound carronade, was put on shore. This display of force had the desired effect, for the Maoris agreed to give up their prisoner who arrived astride the shoulders of a chief. The latter '"expressed a wish," so says the despatch, "to go on board the ships for the purpose of receiving the ransom which he supposed would be given for the child." He was told that none would be given, and... he turned to run away with his precious burden. One of the sailors seized hold of the child, and, finding that the lad was tied to the chief's back, he cut him adrift, and the boy fell on the beach.' (McNab, 126) Immediately afterwards, a second sailor shot the retreating chief, an incident that led to an unprovoked and undisciplined attack on the assembled Maoris. Leaving their dead on the beach, they retreated to the pa while the force prepared to return to their ships. Unfortunately, heavy seas prevented re-embarkation for three days, and it was during this interval that, provoked by sporadic opposition, the Europeans manoeuvred their six-pounder to a height commanding Waimate and a neighbouring pa. After brief resistance, the Maoris withdrew before the troops who then occupied the pas. On 9 October the preserved head of a European was found in a trench behind Waimate, and the same day, in a crude gesture of retaliation, one of the soldiers deliberately hacked the head off the body of a dead warrior, boasting of the manner in which he had mangled the carcass. One European decently buried the head, 'but it was dug up again by others, kicked to and fro like a foot-ball, and finally precipitated over a cliff among the rocks below....' (Marshall, 226) Calmer weather allowed the force to embark on the 11th after they had fired the two pas. The expedition first made for Kapiti, where Te Rauparaha 'expressed himself well pleased, when told of what we had done to the natives elsewhere; but at the same time disappointed that the number of killed was so small.' {Ibid, 241) The Alligator reached the Bay of Islands on 25 October 1834, the Isabella on the following day. Mr and Mrs Guard apparently crossed over to Sydney, and in February 1836 were reported (McNab, 148) as having left for Cloudy bay with three children, not four. There is no reference to the complexion of the youngest infant. - Marshall, 149-240, 342-8; McNab, 112-32, 423-9; Tapp, 91-2; Ramsden, Busby, 12-4.
259 This incident must have occurred in New South Wales after Markham left New Zealand: Port Stephens is some 90 miles north of Sydney; Colonel Henry Dumaresq (1792-1838) had served on Wellington's staff at Waterloo and was a brother-in-law of Governor Darling. - Australian encyclopaedia, 3: 308; 7: 206.
260 Some explanatory comment is required on this episode, perhaps the supreme example of Markham's incoherent and inconsequential mode of narration. Towards midnight on 30 April 1834, 36 hours after Mrs Busby's confinement (not the same night) and six months before the Alligator's arrival (not 10 days), the Resident was awakened by his manservant who reported that a party of Maoris was attempting to break into the storeroom. The two men, reinforced by three workmen, frightened off the intruders after they had robbed a bedroom and fired about five shots. One ball landed in the doorway near Busby, and a splinter struck his face. This attack on the King's representative shocked the population of the Bay, Maoris as well as Europeans, but, in spite of widespread inquiries, the perpetrators were not found until the time of the Alligator's visit. Through the discovery of one of the stolen articles, a rug, responsibility was traced to a chief, Rete, who was denounced by his wife and finally induced to confess. In order to determine a suitable form of punishment, Busby called an assembly of chiefs to meet before the Residency on 30 October. The sentence, inspired by Henry Williams, was that some of Rete's land should be confiscated and Rete himself barred from the district. The chiefs, led by Titore, undertook to enforce these decisions, but the sentence - at least that of banishment - was never put into effect. - Ramsden, Marsden, 22-4; Ramsden, Busby, 77-84, 163; Marshall, 292-4.
261 This anecdote, inserted in the account of Rete's examination, again illustrates Markham's extraordinary capacity for ignoring chronology and confusing different but vaguely related episodes. The existence of the whaler Proteus, commanded by Captain Brown, is well attested; and its boat may have been stolen, more or less as Markham relates (no other reference has been traced). Upon this incident he has grafted one which happened not in October but during the Alligator's previous visit in March. The dispute, which followed the general pattern of so many between Maoris and settlers, was of long standing and seems to have arisen from Pomare's seizure of a small schooner owned by Thomas King and claimed by Mair and Powditch, allegedly because of King's refusal to pay for timber supplied by the Maoris. Busby sided with the settlers, and having failed to secure HMS Imogene's intervention the year before, on 12 March 1834 persuaded Captain Lambert of the Alligator to train his guns on Pomare's pa at Otuihu. Luckily, before the ship opened fire, Henry Williams and William Yate called on the chief and induced him to visit the warship. A conference on board, attended by Busby, exonerated Pomare to whom £20 was awarded in compensation. As the settlers refused to pay, the boat was taken to Sydney and presumably sold. - McNab, 158; Marshall, 21-3; Ramsden, Busby, 70-1.
262 Mauparaoa (of whose name Markham gives a possible translation) was technically a slave, since he had been captured by the Ngapuhi during a raid on the East Coast, but he could hardly be described as a 'cookee' or menial. He rose to be one of Pomare I's war leaders and took command when that chief was killed in the disastrous Waikato expedition of 1826. He supported Pomare II in the fighting of 1837 and survived to oppose the British in Heke's war - Smith, Maori wars, 379n; Davis, Kawiti, 8, 12; DNZB, 2: 76, 174-5.
263 As early as 1823 the Rev. John Butler referred to Tareha's 'extraordinary size', and by the late thirties his gastronomic feats had become legendary; Polack speaks of 'this ogre' devouring 'a baby at a meal' and consuming with relish 'a bucket, full of cook's dripping and slush'. He was a Ngapuhi chief of the Bay of Islands, the owner of Ti Point between Paihia and Waitangi. With his fellow warriors he took part in southern raids and during Hongi's absence in England in 1820 was the leading chief in an expedition to the Kaipara. Always an uncertain ally of the Europeans, his potential hostility was mentioned in 1841 during the crisis provoked by the arrest of Maketu for murder. - Butler in Marsden, 381n; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 21 A; Smith, Maori wars, 142-5; DNZB, 2: 368; Ramsden, Busby, 266-7.
264 Titore, a Ngapuhi chief and brother-in-law of Hongi, was at this time about 60 years of age and approached the end of an eventful life. A protege of Marsden's, he visited England in 1818, but on his return relapsed into his old manner of life, engaging with ardour in the tribal wars of the next decade. On one notable expedition to Tauranga in 1832, Henry Williams accompanied him in the role of peacemaker. He consistently supported Busby but, as in the Rete affair, lacked the means and perhaps the will to enforce his authority. In 1837 his long-standing enmity with Pomare flared up into open warfare, in the course of which he was fatally wounded. - Elder in Marsden, 144n; Smith, Maori wars, AAA; DNZB, 2: 388-9; Ramsden, Marsden, 210-33.
265 For Paroa Bay see note 150 above. Markham's estimate is about double what it should be: the distance by sea from Waitangi to Manawaora Bay would not exceed 8 or 9 miles.
266 A more lucid and probably more accurate version of this incident is supplied by Marshall: 'On the chief being interrogated as to how it came into his possession, he boldly replied that he had stolen it from Dr. Ross, a gentleman whose house was near the residency, and had been stripped of all it contained. But that gentleman disclaimed being the owner of the rug in question, upon which the accomplished thief, persisting in his first story observed, "Perhaps Dr. Ross stole it from Mr. Busby!"' - Marshall, 293.
267 Among the guests at Markham's final dinner (apparently held in the Residency) were the Rev. Alfred Nesbitt Brown (1803-84), who joined the mission in 1829 and became Archdeacon of Tauranga; Charles Baker (1804-75), a catechist, who reached New Zealand in 1828 and later served in the Bay of Islands and on the East Coast; William Barrett Marshall, assistant surgeon on HMS Alligator; and 'Vanzetti the Master' of whom nothing else has been recorded. - DNZB, 1: 30, 98; Marshall, v.
268 A manuscript by G. Gunton (presumably the Lieutenant Gunton of the 50th Regiment mentioned by Markham on p. 79, footnote) and the report of the Sydney Harbourmaster both give the date of the Alligator's arrival as 13 November 1834. - Mitchell Library, Sydney to Alexander Turnbull Library, 13 July 1960.
269 Of Juniper Jack nothing is known beyond what Markham here records.
270 See note 64 above.
271 Before Markham's version of this notorious affair is considered, it will be convenient to outline the facts as presented by the chief authority, Robert McNab. The brig Elizabeth, of which John Stewart was captain and part owner, left Sydney in August 1830 and, in quest of a cargo of flax, called at Kapiti about October. At that time Te Rauparaha and Te Hiko were preparing to avenge the latter's father, Te Pehi Kupe, who had been killed the year before in a southern raid and for whose death Tamaiharanui, a chief of Akaroa, was held responsible. Te Rauparaha had already approached one captain for the use of his vessel; and there is every reason to believe that Stewart was fully aware of the plot when he agreed to transport a force of some 120 men in return for the desired cargo. At Akaroa the ship lay at anchor for some days, the Maoris in concealment below deck, until with Stewart's connivance - indeed his active help - Tamaiharanui, accompanied by his young daughter, was enticed on board and put in irons. He was followed by his wife, Te Whe, and half a dozen men, all of whom were imprisoned. Early the next morning, under cover of darkness and again aided by the Europeans, Te Rauparaha's force landed and took their enemies completely by surprise. The morning was spent in slaughter and burning, the afternoon in a cannibal feast. That night the force re-embarked, taking with them about 100 baskets of human flesh. The events at Akaroa took place in the first week of November. 



 During the return voyage Tamaiharanui and Te Whe strangled their daughter to save her from their captors. Arriving at Kapiti on 11 November, Te Rauparaha and his men unloaded the prisoners, killed one or two, apportioned the rest as slaves, and in a second feast consumed the baskets of flesh, supplemented by whale blubber. Tamaiharanui was kept on board as security for the promised cargo, but when only a portion had been delivered at the end of six weeks, Stewart gave him up and left for Sydney. Te Whe had already been killed and eaten; now, after being paraded in triumph before his enemies, Tamaiharanui met a similar end. He is said to have been ceremonially slain by Te Pehi Kupe's widow, who drank his blood while her son, Te Hiko, tore out and swallowed the chief's eyes to prevent them, in accordance with Maori belief, ascending to the sky as stars. 



 As for Stewart, he reached Sydney on 14 January 1831 and, as a result of information laid by Gordon Davies Browne (formerly part-owner of the Horeke shipyard), he was arrested for murder, a charge later reduced to one of 'misdemeanour'. He was admitted to bail and, after prolonged and inept legal proceedings, obtained his release on 18 June. Reports of the case roused much indignation when they reached the British Government. Attempts were made to trace Stewart in his home port, Yarmouth, and the New South Wales officials were not only censured but advised to apprehend Stewart and bring him to trial. He and the Elizabeth, however, had long since left Sydney. Nor, according to McNab, was anything positive known of their subsequent history. 'Stewart,' he writes, 'is said to have perished at sea, but little or no evidence can be found of what his end really was.' 



 Thus, in summary terms, runs an account based on official records and the depositions of eyewitnesses. Turning now to Markham, one is struck by certain features of his story. In the first place, except for a few typical embellishments, it keeps reasonably close to the facts - much closer than is usual in Markham's anecdotes. Where it differs most noticeably from McNab's version is in the treatment of Stewart. To the captain's 'daily entreaties' the natives gave 'evasive answers'. He agreed to their proposals, 'little suspecting' their real intentions. Having put to sea, he found 'to his cost' that they were his 'Master'; he was 'obliged to succumbe to their wishes or they would have taken The Brig by force'. When they seized their enemies at Akaroa, it was 'useless' for him to 'remonstrate' - 'the Tigers had seen blood'. Poor blameless Stewart, one might comment, innocent victim of treacherous savages, dogged by misfortune until his tragic death 'on the coast of Peru'! This Stewart is certainly far removed from the criminal of official communications or from the villian of other contemporary writers - the 'perfidious wretch' and 'ruffian' of Polack, for example. 



 What lies behind Markham's sympathetic picture of Stewart and where did he pick up his story? To these questions Ruth M. Ross has supplied a possible explanation. From her study of land claims records Mrs Ross has discovered that, so far from vanishing into thin air, Captain Stewart, like other malefactors of the time, found shelter in the secluded waters of the Hokianga. More than that, he was there at the time of Markham's visit. 



 The earliest evidence of Stewart's association with the Hokianga belongs to November 1831, some five months after he left Sydney. On the 24th of that month John Stewart and Edward Fishwick bought an area of land on the Waima (a tributary of the Hokianga) known as Pakaihekatoa [Pakahikatoa?]. The following day 'J. Stewart' witnessed another purchase of Fishwick's, also on the Waima, called Matakaraka. Stewart retained his share of the first property only a few weeks, for in January 1832 he transferred it to Fishwick. The transfer is 'Dated on board the Brig Elizabeth this 12th of January 1832' and is signed 'Jno Stewart'. In March 1834 Fishwick bought a further area of land, called Te Rara, on the Waima. Supporting his claim to this land in December 1842, he said: I made the purchase of this Land on the 15th of March 1834.... I produce an entry Book to the Court wherein the payment stated in the Deed is marked by Captn. Stewart as having been delivered by him from the Brig Elizabeth for the purchase of the Land Called Te Rara'. Stewart and the brig Elizabeth make no further appearance in the records. The captain may have heard through his Sydney friends of the British Government's vengeful intentions. By March 1834, moreover, warships were appearing more frequently in New Zealand waters, British subjects were becoming more numerous in the Hokianga, while on the opposite coast authority was asserting itself - however ineffectually - in the person of James Busby (whose appointment was a direct result of the Elizabeth affair). Perhaps Stewart decided to seek anchorage in a more secluded locality - possibly 'on the coast of Peru'. 



 By March 1834, to return to the narrative, Markham had established himself in the Hokianga and, as he himself states, had met Edward Fishwick. In describing his passage up the river from Pakanae to Kohukohu on 21 February, he mentions lunching with 'a Trader and Sawyer, named Fishwick a Yorkshireman' (p. 31 above). He again saw Fishwick at Mangungu on 18 April when they were members of a 'jury' in a case of encroachment (p. 57). If Markham heard Stewart's story from his fellow Yorkshireman it might have been on these two days; but on neither occasion were conditions at all propitious for discreditable and even dangerous confidences. At both meetings others were present, the first would have been necessarily brief, while the second occurred at a semijudicial inquiry held at the mission station. There was, however, one occasion when in a relaxed atmosphere such confidences, stimulated by an abundance of grog, could have flowed very easily. This was the feast at Pakanae which Moetara gave for Pi, chief of the Waima. Though Markham fails to date the event, it seems to have taken place about the middle of March, between his first two visits to the Wesleyan mission. On 15 March, it will be remembered, Fishwick bought land on the Waima, paying for it with goods from the Elizabeth. Is it not likely that he would have attended a function honouring the chief who was his landlord and protector and whom, at this period, he would have been anxious to please? He might even have been accompanied by Stewart. Unfortunately, Markham throws no light on the question; he merely says, '20 Europeans... were Guests of different Chiefs' (p. 49), though he later mentions Marmon and, in describing his night at the Heads, Martin, the pilot, and Battersby (p. 53). The last name, however, seems highly significant, for it is with reference to the alleged plot between Battersby and Pi, emulating Stewart's exploit, that Markham opens and closes his anecdote. What little evidence there is, in sum, suggests that Markham may have acquired his knowledge of Stewart's story - and also of the conspiracy between Pi and Battersby - during the expedition to Pakanae. 



 There remains the problem of Markham's sympathetic treatment of Stewart. One possible explanation is that, deliberately misled by the captain or his associate, he reproduced their version of the affair in good faith. But the role of innocent dupe hardly squares with what is known of Markham or what he himself discloses. And there is that haunting phrase, 'lost afterwards on the coast of Peru'. The circumstances of Stewart's end, a matter of concern to many people, appear in no other contemporary account. How, then, did Markham acquire his unique knowledge? The answer seems to be that he invented it. On examination, his manuscript shows that having first written, 'lost afterwards on the coast of New', he crossed out the final word and replaced it by 'Peru'. The presumption is that he was about to write 'New Zealand' or 'New South Wales' or some other such term, but decided it would be more prudent to substitute the conveniently remote, almost mythical 'Peru'. This shred of evidence, supported by the less tangible testimony of style and 'tone', suggests that, for obscure reasons, Markham may have been a willing partner in some clumsy conspiracy. (Perhaps Stewart, having perished, was to return under a new name in a disguised Elizabeth: this is the stuff of melodrama, but the whole affair was pure melodrama.) Markham thus makes his final appearance in the narrative under suspicion of being a minor accomplice in one of the murkiest episodes of early New Zealand history. - McNab, 22-37, 381-413; DNZB, 2: 200-1; Tapp, 76-8; Polack, New Zealand, 2: 113-14; R. M. R. - 'Old land claims' 92/190, 129/272.
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  GLOSSARY OF MAORI WORDS AND PHRASES

  References are made from Markham's renderings to the correct forms; definitions are, for the most part, as given in H. W. Williams's A dictionary of the Maori language. 6th ed. Wellington, 1957.

  aka, n. Metrosideros albiflora and M. perforata, climbing plants 

 arrey, see haere 

 atie up, see taiapa 

 attuah, see atua 

 atua, n. god, supernatural being, ghost 

 bouca bouca, see pukapuka 

 cacahow, cacarhow, see kakahu 

 caraceer, see karaka 

 colly mocko, see korimako 

 coo couper, see kukupa 

 cookee, see kuki 

 coppre, see kopa 

 corpora, see kapura 

 corrirow, see korero 

 coucouper, see kukupa 

 coudy, courie, see kauri 

 couter, see kauta 

 cow warrie, see kuware 

 cracker, see karaka 

 cumera, see kumara 

 cune cunee, cunnu cunnu, see kanikani 

 dueterra, see tuatara 

 ettay, see ti 

 foy-dah, see toi 

 go ashore, go on shore, see kohua 

 haere, v.i. come, go, depart  

 Haere mail Welcome! 

 Haere mai ki konei! Welcome hither! 

 hakari, n. entertainment, feast 

 hangareka, v.i. or v.t. jest, deceive 

 hapai, v.t. lift up, raise; pass, 

 hapainga harkatty, see hakari 

hattay, see ti 

 haurangi, a. mad, deluded, drunken 

 hayroiicar, see horoeka 

 he, indef. art. a, an 

 Heoi ano! It is enough! 

 heremi, see Haere mai! 

 Heremi checony, see Haere mai ki konei! 

 hippar, see pa 

 hoccar, see aka 

 hoe, v.t. paddle, row 

 horoeka, n. Pseudopanax crassifolium, a tree 

 hout, see utu 

 how yah, see hoe 

 How you now, see Heoi ano! 

 hoy-yah, see hoe 

 kaheru, n. spade 

 kahikatea, n. Podocarpus excelsum, white pine 

 kahikatoa, n. Leptospermum scoparium, manuka 

 kaikai, v.t. and v.i. eat, eat frequently 

 kainga, n. unfortified place of residence, village  

 kaipuke, n. ship 

 kaitaka, n. cloak made of the finest flax, with ornamental border 

 kakahu, n. garment of fine texture 

 kanga, kangar, see kainga 

 kanikani, v.t. dance 

 kapura, n. fire 

 karaddie, see kararehe 

 karaka, n. Corynocarpus laevigata, a tree 

 kararehe, n. dog, quadruped 

 kareao, n. Rhipogonum scandens, supplejack 

 karne karne, see kanikani 

 karradie, see kararehe 

 kauri, n. Agathis australis, a forest tree 

 kauta, n. cooking shed 

 kete, n. basket made of flax 

 kicaitere, see kahikatea 

 kicaitore, see kahikatoa 

 kiekie, n. Freycinetia banksii, a climbing plant 

 kiki, see kaikai 

 kipooky, see kaipuke 

 ki tuck-er, see kaitaka 

 kohua, n. Maori oven 

 kopa, n. native oven 

 koraddy, see korari 

 korari, n. Phormium tenax, flax 

 korradie, korraddie, see korari 

 korero, n. conversation 

 korimako, n. Anthornis melanura, bell-bird 

 kuki, n. slave 

 kukupa, n. Hemiphaga novaeseelandiae, pigeon 

 kumara, n. Ipomoea batatas, sweet potato  

 kuware, a. ignorant, held in no estimation 

 ma, a. white 

 ma, part, used to indicate the inclusion of others 

 mammooe, see namu 

 maori, a. native, belonging to New Zealand 

 mar, see ma 

 marre, see mere 

 mate, a. dead 

 mattie, see mate 

 mere, n. a short flat weapon of stone 

 moe, v.i. die 

 moiy, see moe 

 mourie, see maori 

 nammouie, see namu namu, n. sandfly 

 noue, nu, see nui 

 nui, a. large, superior, of high rank 

 pa, n. stockade, fortified place 

 pai, a. good, excellent 

 paipa, n. pipe 

 pakeha, n. person of predominantly European descent; a. foreign 

 papa, n. flat board 

 par, see pa 

 parkiaah, parkiah, parkiar, parkieah, see pakeha 

 parr, see pa 

 partikie, see patiki
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  patiki, n. Rhombosolea plebia, sand flounder 

 patoo, see patu 

 patu, n. weapon 

 paua, n. Haliotis, mutton-fish 

 pea walker, see piwakawaka 

 peeter, see piro 

 pekow, see pikau 

 pi, pie, see pai 

 pikau, v.t. carry on the back, pick-a-back 

 pipi, n. cockle 

 pippie, see pipi 

 pirah, see piro 

 piro, a. putrid, stinking 

 piwakawaka, n. Rhipidura flabellifera and R. fuliginosa, fantail 

 po, n. night 

 poo, see pu 

 pouriedee, pouriedie, see puriri 

 pu, n. gun 

 pukapuka, n. book 

 puppar, see papa 

 puriri, n. Vitex lucens, a tree 

 ra, n. sun, day 

 rah tabboo, see ra tapu 

 rangatara, see rangatira 

 rangatira, n. chief 

 rangitara, see rangatira 

 rappoo, see raupo 

 ra tapu, sacred day, Sunday 

 raupo, n. Typha angustifolia, bulrush 

 roody doody, see ruriruri 

 ruriruri, n. song, ditty 

 shanrica, see hangareka 

 sharkatty, see hakari 

 showrangy, see haurangi 

 tabboo, see tapu 

 tahae, n. thief 

 taiapa, n. fence, wall 

 tai pari, flowing tide 

 tamaiti, n. child; pl. tamariki 

 tane, n. husband 

 tanekaha, n. Phyllocladus trichomanoides, a tree 

 tangata, n. man, human being 

 tappoo, see tapu 

 tapu, a. sacred 

 tara, a. quick, active, distant 

 tarne, tarnee, tarney, see tane 

 tarnicar, see tanekaha 

 taro, n. Colocasia antiquorum, a food plant 

 tarra, tarraw, see taro taua, n. hostile expedition 

 tawara, see tawhara 

 tawhara, n. fruit of Freycinetia banksii (kiekie) 

 tay, see ti 

 tena, ad. there 

 Tena ra ko koe e koro! There you are, O friend! 

 Tenir racky qui Ecrow, see Tena ra ko koe e koro! 

 tenne, see tena 

 ti, n. Cordyline of several species, cabbage tree 

 tie up, see taiapa 

 tihi, see tahae 

 ti puddie, see tai pari 

 toetoe, n. grass, sedge of various species, especially Arundo conspicua 

 toi, v.i. move quickly 

 toi, see tui 

 toie toie, see toetoe 

 tomitie, see tamaiti 

 torotoro, n. Metrosideros scandens, a climbing plant 

 tower, see taua 

 toy-dah, see toi 

 tuatara, n. Sphenodon punctatus, a reptile like a large lizard 

 tui, n. Prosthemadera novaeseelandiae, parson bird 

 tupara, n. double-barrelled gun 

 two-parra, two purra, see tupara 

 upanga, see hapai 

 utu, n. reward, price 

 waheinee, waheini, see wahine 

 wahine, n. woman 

 wai, n. water 

 waipiro, n. intoxicating liquor 

 waka, n. canoe 

 walker, see waka 

 walker pipe, see whakapaipai 

 wayheinee, see wahine 

 weirah, see wera 

 wera, a. heated, hot 

 whi, why, see wai 

 whye pi, see whaiaipo 

 whyhienee, see wahine 

 why peeter, see waipiro 

 wurrie, see whare 

 wutter, see whata 

 whaiaipo, n. sweetheart 

 whakapaipai, v.t. approve, praise 

 whare, n. house, hut 

 whata, n. elevated stage for storing food
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  INDEX

  Ahuahu, Te, 99 

 Akaroa 103 

 Alexander, William, 25, 63, 97, 98 

 Alexander MacCleay, 60 

 Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, 11, 28 

 Alligator, E.M. sails on, 26, 57, 64, 80n, 82, 98; and Huegel, 73, 100; and Guards, 79, 80, 101-2; and Pomare, 81; and Busby, 99; brings national flag, 100; and Marshall, 103 

 Amittie, see Miti 

 Amity, 58, 59, 60, 97 

 Apee, see Pi 

 Apponyi, Antoine-Rodolphe, comte, 73n 

 Arthur, Sir George, 20, 22, 30, 51, 89 

 Arungher (Rangi?), E.M. meets, 24, 52; lives with E.M., 56, 58; defends E.M., 59; parts from E.M., 60 

 Awattie (Watea?), E.M. meets, 24, 41-2, 43-4, at Pakane, 49, 52; E.M. dismisses, 24, 53 

 Aysgarth Force, 67, 99 

 Bagnall, A. G., 93 

 Baker, Charles, 82, 103 

 Baker, John, 71 and n, 100 

 Bannister, Captain, 48-9, 53, 94 

 Barber, John, 77 and n, 101 

 Battersby, Thomas May, E.M. meets, 53; and Guards, 79, 95, 101-2; and Pi, 83, 105 

 Bay of Islands, sketch of, 24-5; climate of, 47; naming of, 61 and n, 97; and whalers, 63, 65-6; appearance of, 64 

 Bee, 88 

 Best, Elsdon, 92, 95 

 Bolina, 64, 74, 98 

 Bourke, Sir Richard, 15, 65, 82, 88, 99, 101 

 Boyd, 92 

 Brazil Packet, E.M. sails on, 22, 23, 25, 29, 49, 91, 97; in Hokianga, 40; later history of, 87-8 

 Brett, Cape, 75 

 Brown (ex-convict), 48, 49, 94; see also Browne 

 Brown, Alfred Nesbitt, 82, 103 

 Brown, Captain, 81, 103 

 Brown, Miss, 69, 99n, 131 

 Browne, Gordon Davies, 93, 94, 104 

 Buller, James, 90, 93, 94, 96, 98 

 Busby, Agnes, 64, 65, 66, 81, 102 

 Busby, James, introduces E.M., 15; appointed Resident, 25, 89, 95, 104; E.M. visits, 25, 64, 65, 67, 74, 80; and Rete, 57, 80, 81, 96, 102; E.M. characterises, 65 and n; and Martin, 88; and McDonnell, 93; and Dr Ross, 98, 103; career of, 99; and national flag, 100; and Pomare, 103; mentioned, 66, 74, 77, 82, 97, 101 

 Butler, John, 90, 103 

 Butler, Samuel, 31, 46, 48, 90, 96 

 Cabbity, see Kapiti 

 Cafe de Paris, 45, 93 

 Caffer, Caffre, see Kaffirs 

 Camble (Campbell?), 58 

 Campbell?, see Camble 

 Cape Colony, 26, 34, 39 and n 

 Chaloner, Mrs, 69, 99n, 131 

 Chand (Shand?), Mr, 30, 90 

 Chapman, Sir Frederick, 93 

 Chapman, Thomas, E.M. meets, 63; E.M. visits, 66; and Maoris, 77, 101; describes Kororareka, 97; career of, 98; mentioned, 77 

 Chapman, Mrs, 63, 66 

 Chesapeake, 63, 98 

 City of Edinburgh, 97 

 Clark, David, 38, 46, 92, 93, 97 

 Clarke, Captain, see Clark, David 

 Clarke, Lieutenant, 79n 

 Clarke, George, E.M. visits, 15, 67-71; record of, 99 

 Clendon, James Reddy, E.M. stays with, 25-6, 61-4, 74; and Fortitude, 30 and n, 61, 89; and Rogers, 60; career of, 97; mentioned, 77, 81 

 Clerk, Captain, see Clark, David 

 Clerk, Captain (Marines officer), see Clarke, Lieutenant 

 Clerk, Mr see Clarke, George 

 Clindon, see Clendon 

 Cloudy Bay, 22, 79 and n, 96, 101, 102 

 Cochrane, Dennis Browne, 42, 93 

 Cockrane, see Cochrane 

 Coco, Coho, Coko, see Kohukohu 

 Colenso, William, 99 

 Cook, James, and Bay of Islands, 24, 25, 61, 64, 97; leaves animals, 31n, 90; E.M. cites, 33, 34 and n, 44, 52, 76n, 78; mentioned, 22, 78, 87 

 Coromandel, 94 

 Cossack, 88 

 Cower Cower, Cowey Cowey, see Kawakawa 

 Craigh, Mr, 57, 96 

 Craik, John Lillie, 92 

 Crow, William, 22, 29-30, 31, 87-8, 89 

 Cruise, Richard Alexander, 23, 40 and n, 93 

 Cunningham, Richard, 33, 48 and n, 91 

 Currency Lass, 29, 89 

 Dacre, Ranulph, 64, 98 

 Darling, Sir Ralph, 99, 102 

 Darwin, Charles, 99 

 Davis, Charles Oliver Bond, 89-90, passim 

Davis, Edward, 90 

 Davis, Richard, at Waimate, 37, 68, 70, 71, 92; and 

 Tareha, 81; career of, 99 

 de Thierry, Charles Philip Hippolytus, 11, 99 

 Donkin, George David, 17, 71, 100 

 Doubleday, Henry, see Pearson 

 Doubleday, Major, 60 

 Doyle, Captain, 101 

 Dromedary, 23, 94 

 Duke, Robert, 63, 98 

 Dumaresq, Henry, 26, 80, 102 

 Dumaresq, Mrs, 26, 80, 102 

 Dutch Sam, see Egert 

 Dyke, Lieutenant, 82 

 Dyke, Sir Percy, 82 

 Eaheinomawe, 29, 39, 87 

 Earle, Augustus, E.M. cites, 38n, 39, 51, 55n, 63, 85; mentions N.Z. Coy, 88; and Shand, 90; mentions Butler, 90; mentions Horeke, 93; describes Motiti, 95; and Maori slave, 98 

 Edwards, Francis, 11, 28 

 Egert (or Egart), Samuel, 60, 61, 97 

 Egmont, Cape, 101 

 Egmont, Mount, 78, 79 and n 

 Elizabeth, 83, 91, 103-5 

 Ellis, William, 54, 95 

 Emma Kemp, 58, 78 and n, 101 

 Enterprise, 88, 93, 100 

 Entry Island, see Kapiti 

 Ere-woah (Iriwha?), 52, 59 

 Erowha, see Ere-woah 

 Feegies, see Fiji 

 Fiji, 66 

 Fishwick, Edward, 31, 57, 91, 104 

 Flag, New Zealand National, 73, 100
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  Fortitude, plunder of, 23, 30, 49n; E.M. describes, 61; and Emma Kemp, 78n; account of, 89-90; mentioned, 88, 89 

 Fresne, Marion du, 24, 46n 

 Galatea, 63 

 Gard, see Guard 

 General Assembly Library, Wellington, 11, 28 

 Gibbon, William, 57, 96 

 Gilbert, 72, 100 

 Gillies, Colin, 57, 88, 96 

 Goderich, Lord, 65 

 Goderick, see Goderich 

 Gore (Hobart merchant), 22, 59 

 Gore Harbour, 80, 102 

 Gore's Harbour, see Gore Harbour 

 Governor Macquarie, 88 

 Groves, 58, 59, 97 

 Guard, Elizabeth, 26, 78-80, 101-2 

 Guard, John, 26, 78-80, 96, 101-2 

 Gunton, G, 79n, 80, 82, 103 

 Hamlin, James, 15, 69-71 passim, 99-100, passim 

 Hamlyn, see Hamlin 

 Hardy, Cafe, 76, 101 

 Harriet, 78, 95, 99, 101-2 

 Harrison, Henry, 55 

 Haruru Falls, 98 

 Hauraki (Chief), 91 

 Hauraki, 74, 78 and n 

 Heaphy, Charles, 93 

 Heke, Hone, 91, 92, 94, 103 

 Herald, 88 

 Herd, James, 29, 88, 90 

 Herd's Point, 78, 88 

 Hewitt (Hobart merchant), 20, 22, 48, 59, 94 

 Hiko, Te, 104 

 Hird, see Herd 

 Hocken, Thomas Morland, 11, 93 

 Hocken Library, Dunedin, 11, 28, 93 

 Hoemi-neigh, see Omanaia 

 Hokiangar, see Hokianga 

 Hokianga, sketch of, 22-3; entrance and river, 29, 31; vegetation and bird life, 32-7, 41, 56; climate, 46, 47; trade, 48, 57-8; European population in, 57, 96 

 Ho-mi-nie, see Omanaia 

 Hongi Hika, as Maori leader, 25,93; 'highly tattooed', 40; his pa, 25, 69-70, 100; and Ngapuhi, 72 and n; his 'vow', 75, 101; and Ngati Kaitutae, 92; his hahunga, 95; mentioned, 92, 103 

 Horeke, centre of shipbuilding, 23,92,93,94,97,100,104; E.M. visits, 24 57; trading establishment, 39; mentioned, 41, 60, 91, 96 

 Horohoro, 96 

 Huegel, Baron Clemens Wenzel, 21, 26, 73, 100 

 Hugle, see Huegel 

 Hyde, Robin, 11 

 Ihutae, 92 

 Imogene, 103 

 Industry, 57, 88, 96 

 Iriwha?, see Ere-woah 

 Isabella, 79, 80, 82, 101, 102 

 Isle of France, see Mauritius 

 Jack the Sawyer, 61, 63 

 Jacquemont, Victor, 73, 100 

 Johnson, Captain, 79n 

 Johnstone, see Johnson 

 Jones, Morton, 90, 93 

 Joseph Wetter, 101 

 Juniper Jack, 54, 83, 103 

 Kaffirs, 34, 39 and n 

 Kaikohe, 25, 99, 100 

 Kaipara, 39n, 92, 103 

 Kaitutae, 38, 46, 76, 92 

 Kapiti, 83 and n, 84, 102, 103 

 Kawakawa, 70 and n, 76 and n, 81 and n 

 Kawhia, 78n, 94 

 Keith, Alexander, 66, 99 

 Kelly, Edward, 63, 98 

 Kelly, Thomas Herbert, settled at Kohukohu, 24, 38, 49, 91; E.M. characterises, 32, 59; and Kohukohu purchase, 46, 88, 97; as practical joker, 76 mentioned, 11, 57, 58, 83, 91 

 Kemp, James, records E.M.'s visit, 15; E.M. visits, 71-4; and Kerikeri store, 97, 101; record of, 100 

 Kemp, Mrs, 71, 72, 100 

 Kendall, Thomas, 22, 94 

 Kent, Captain, 23 

 Kerikeri, E.M. visits, 15, 17, 25, 62-3, 71; falls at, 15, 72, 100; mission station at, 24, 100; spelling of, 62; store at, 78, 101; mentioned, 61, 69, 74, 97, 99, 100 

 Kiddy Kiddy, see Kerikeri 

 King, Captain, 90 

 King, John, 22 

 King, Thomas. 103 

 Kipara, see Kaipara 

 Kirri Kirri, see Kerikeri 

 Ki tootis, see Kaitutae 

 Koco, see Kohukohu 

 Kohukohu, E.M. lives at, 24, 25, 91; E.M. describes, 31, 38; meaning of, 31, 91; purchase of, 38-9, 46, 53, 76, 88, 95; E.M. leaves, 60; Russell at, 93; Nicholson at, 97; Dr Ross buys, 98; mentioned, 40, 41, 44, 54, 58, 64, 76 and n, 91, 96, 104 

 Koko, Ko-ko, see Kohukohu 

 Koropi, 99 

 Kororadica, see Kororareka 

 Kororareka, and Alexander, 25, 97; E.M. describes, 63; people of, 70; and Titore, 81, 100; Vigilants' Association at, 99; mentioned, 53, 64, 97, 98 

 Koutu Point, 88, 90 

 Lamb, 58, 59, 97 

 Lambert, Captain, 57, 79, 80, 82 

 Lambton, 88 

 McCrae, Alexander, 93 

 Macdonald, see McDonnell 

 McDonnell, Thomas, opposes Kohukohu purchase, 39; and 'battle of plank', 87-8; and Oakes, 88; and Moetara, 89; career of, 93; and White, 94; discovers Industry mutiny, 96; and Busby, 99; mentioned, 94, 97 

 McDonnell, Mrs, 90 

 Maclean, see McLean 

 McLean, Thomas, as pilot, 29; and N.Z. Coy, 29, 88, 97; at Pakanae, 30, 82; and Fortitude affair, 31, 61, 89-90; record of, 88 

 McNab, Robert, 101-2, 103-5 

 Mahurehure, 94 

 Mair, Gilbert, 25, 63, 97, 103 

 Maketu, 103 

 Mamont, see Marmon 

 Manawaora Bay, 76n, 82, 101, 103 

 Mangamuka River, E.M. visits, 24, 41, 45, 57; Pearson at, 60; Cochrane at, 93; Mitchell at, 96; mentioned, 49, 78 

 Mangungu, mission at, 23, 40, 89, 94, 95, 98; E.M. visits, 24, 47, 54, 57, 104; cemetery at, 92; Styles and, 96; Mitchell and, 96; mentioned, 53, 98 

 Maning, Frederick Edward, at Kohukohu, 24, 49, 58; E.M. characterises, 32,58,59; and Kohukohu purchase, 38, 46, 76, 88, 95, 97, 98; at Omanaia, 55; accompanies E.M., 60; and McLean, 90; career of, 91; mentioned, 11, 22, 48, 57, 71, 83, 100
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  Manning, see Maning 

 Man of Wars Bay, see Manawaora Bay 

 Maoris, agriculture of, 42, 56, 70; building methods, 35-6, 37; cannibalism, 29, 45, 71-2; canoes, 39, 52; clothing, 39,40, 66; cooking methods, 44-5; dances, 30,50-1, 52; depopulation and diseases, 46-7, 53-4,66, 83,94; feasts, 45, 49-53, 94; fishing methods, 46, 70; focd, 36, 37-8, 46-7; funerary customs, 42, 51, 76, 95; intelligence, 66-7; language, 62, 71; ornaments, 39, 50, 63; preserved heads, 72; religious beliefs, 38, 67, 76, 92. 101; sport, 82-3; tapu, 31, 42, 45, 51, 56; tattoo, 39,50; thieving, 32; tribal boundaries, 53, 95; utu, 30, 31, 78; whata, 43-4, 93 

 Marcham, William de, 12 

 Marchioness of Ely, 14, 17, 55 

 Mare, see Mair 

 Markham, Sir Clements R., 12, 14, 16, 28 

 Markham, David Frederick, 12, 16 

 Markham, Edward, his manuscripts, 11-12, 17, 26-8; antecedents, 12-13; birth and education, 13; career with East India Coy, 13-14; travels in Europe, 15; visits Van Diemen's Land, 15, 18-22; visits New Zealand (summary), 15, 22, 23, 25-6; later life, 15-16, 26; death, 16; will, 16, 17; reaches Hokianga, 29-31; settles at Kohukohu, 31-2, 38-41; visits Mangamuka, 41-4; visits Mangungu, 47-8, 54, 57; attends Moetara's feast, 49-53; experiences storm, 55; visits Omanaia, 55-6; joined by Arungher, 56; visits, Horeke, Otarihau, etc., 57; visits Amity, 58, 59; fights with Miti, 58-9; travels from Hokianga to Bay of Islands, 60, 61-2, 63; visits Kororareka, 63; visits Okiato, 63; visits Paihia, 63-4; settles at Okiato, 64; visits Waitangi, 64-5, 67, 74, 80; visits Waimate and Kerikeri, 67-74; expedition towards Hauraki Gulf, 74 – 6; visits Waikare, 77; describes Harriet affair, 78-80; leaves Bay of Islands, 80, 82; recounts Elizabeth affair, 83 

 Markham, George, 13, 14 

 Markham, Gervase, 12-13, 16 

 Markham, John, 17, 63, 98 

 Markham, Sarah, 15, 17, 59, 66, 97 

 Markham, William, 13, 17 

 Marmon, John, E.M. characterises, 38, 39 and n; at Pakanae, 52, 104; and 'battle of plank', 87; and Fortitude affair, 90; record of, 92; mentioned, 60 

 Marsden, Samuel, explores Hokianga, 23, 95, 97; founds mission, 24, 90, 98, 99; and Titore, 102; mentioned, 90, 100 

 Marshall, William Barrett, E.M. cites, 26, 69, 78, 79n; E.M. meets, 82 and n, 103; and Dr Ross, 98; mentions Koropi, 99; describes Kerikeri, 100; and national flag, 100; and Chapman, 101; describes Harriet affair, 101-2; and Rete, 103 

 Martanghie, see Matangi 

 Martin, John, 29, 53, 79, 88, 104 

 Matangi, 54, 95 

 Matawhera Point, 91 

 Mauparaoa, 81, 103 

 Mauritias, see Mauritius 

 Mauritius, 26, 67, 77, 78n 

 Meredith, 88 

 Miller, 101, 102 

 Mitchell, Francis, 96 

 Mitchell, Major, 33n, 48n, 91 
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 Pakanae, Brazil Packet reaches, 23, 29, 30n; feast at, 24, 49-53, 104; trading establishment at, 30; Oakes settles at, 57, 88; Amity reaches, 58; Butler at, 90; mission at, 89, 94; and Rangatira, 96; mentioned, 46, 60, 82, 89, 91 
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 Proteus, 81, 103 
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 Ramsden, Eric, 89, 101-2 

 Rangatira, 56, 60, 82, 96 

 Rangi?, see Arungher 

 Rangitara, Ranjeterra, see Rangatira 

 Raumate, 92 

 Rauparaha, Te, 92, 102, 103-4 
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 Rees, 57, 96 

 Rete, 80-2, 99, 102 

 Rivers, see Tarewarewa 

 Robson, 64, 65, 74, 80, 97 

 Rogers, R., on Brazil Packet, 25, 29, 31, 88; goes to Okiato, 60; at Okiato, 63, 74, 98; returns from Hokianga, 64; enters sacred grove, 76, 101 

 Rosa, Salvator, 55, 95 

 Rosanna, 88 

 Ross, Adolphus James, 64, 82, 98, 103 

 Ross, Ruth M., 104-5 
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 Russell, George Frederick, 39, 41, 57, 93 
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 Schue kiangar, see Hokianga 

 Shand?, see Chand 
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 Showracky, Show racky (Hokianga), see Horeke 

 Showracky (Thames), see Hauraki 

 Shungie, see Hongi 

 Sir George Murray, 93, 100 
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 Skinner, Captain, 23 

 Southee, Edward Henry Curling, 57, 96 
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 Southey, see Southee 

 Stack, James, 64-5, 64n, 70, 71, 98 

 Stack, Mary, 64 and n, 70, 98 
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 Steen, see Steine 

 Steine, Captain, 78, 101 

 Stephenson, Samuel, partner of Clendon, 25, 30 and n, 34, 61, 74, 89, 97; at Okiato, 64, 76, 80; E.M. rewards, 66 

 Stewart, John, 84, 91, 102, 103-5 

 Styles, Thomas, 57, 96 

 Taheite, see Tahiti 

 Tahiti, 66 

 Taiamai, 71 and n 

 Tamaiharanui, 103-4 

 Tapeka Point, 80n, 82 

 Tapp, E. J., 101-2 

 Taranaki, 26, 78, 79, 80, 94, 102 
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 Tareha, 81, 103 
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 Tarewarewa, 53, 95 

 Tarrihah, see Tareha 

 Tasmanian Lass, 48 

 Tauranga, 72 and n, 103 

 Terrinacky, see Taranaki 

 Tetorry, see Titore 

 Thames, 74, 78 and n 
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 Titore, 81, 94, 100, 102 
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 Torrihah, see Tareha 
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 Turtons, 30, 69, 99 

 Tyamy, see Taiamai 

 Ude, Louis Eustache, 45, 64, 93 

 Uriti, Te, 98 

 Utakura, 95 

 Vanzetti, 82, 103 

 Venus, left at Port Stephens, 26, 80; taken to Kohukohu, 31; kills rat, 41; her taste for kumara, 42; 'very much admired', 43; swims with E.M., 46; sleeps out, 46; befriended by Arungher, 56, 58; 'near her confinement', 57, 58; 'puts up' pig, 58; 'takes kindly' to Okiato, 64; at Kerikeri, 73; eats lizards, 77; 'seduced by a cur', 80; put on Isabella, 82; possible antecedents, 91; mentioned, 62 
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 Wharepapa, Te, 38, 46, 53, 76, 92, 95-6 

 Whe, Te, 1034 
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